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shares of Wynn Resorts common stock in exchange for an approximately $1.936 billion
promissory note, in accordance with Article VII of the Articles of Incorporation. |

88.  Aware of the magnitude of his improprieties and what the likely response of any

reasonable board of directors of a Nevada gaming company, Mr. Okada attempted, in advance of
the February 18, 2012 meeting of the Wynn Resorts Board, to set up a defense by disputing the
Board’s authority to act upon Mr. Freeh’s report.

89.  In light of the foregoing, Wynn Resorts seeks a judicial declaration that it acted
lawfully and in compliance with its Articles, Bylaws, and other governing documents when it
made the determination set forth herein. \

90.  NRS 30.130 states that “all persons shall be made parties who have . . . any interest
which would be affected by the declaration.” Each of Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA has
interests that will be affected by the declaration that Wynn Resorts seeks. Among other
examples, given the determination by the Wynn Resorts Board that Mr. Okada, Universal, and
Aruze USA are unsuitable persons; none may be shareholders in Wynn Resorts.

91.  Accordingly, a justiciable controversy has arisen between the parties whose
interests are adverse, and the dispute is ripe for adjudication.

92.  As a result of the acts and omissions of Defendants, Wynn Resorts has been
compelled to hire the services of an attorney for the protection of its interests.

WHEREFORE, Wynn Resorts prays for judgment as follows:

1. For compensatory and special damages, in excess of $10,000, in an amount to be
determined at trial;

2. For a declaration that Wynn Resorts acted lawfully and in full compliance with its
Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, and other governing documents as set forth herein;

3. For punitive damages;

4, For an award of reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees;
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3, Fer prejudgment and. post-judgment interest on the foregoing sums. at the highest

rate permitted by Jaw; and.

6. For any addjtional relief th:s Court deems just and proper.
DATED this ¢ } G day of _ ::}W fzozs
PISANEL B’ICEPL ';C

JamesJ P’rsamel s ,Bar No. 4027
Todd L. Bice, Esq.; Har No. 4534

Debra L. Spmelh Esq., Bar No. 9695
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 800
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169

By.

and

Paul K. Rowe, Esq. (pro-hac vice admrt:ed)
Bradley R. Wilson, Esq, {pro hac vice admitted)
Grant R, Mainland, Esq. {(pro hac vice admitted)
WACHTELL, LIPTON ROSEN & KATZ

51 West 53nd Street

New York, New York 10019

-and

Robert L. Shapiro, Esq, { ro hac vice admitted)
"GLASER ‘WEIL FINK JACOBS HOWARD
AVCHEN & SHAPIRO, LLP

10250 Constellation Bouievard 19th Floor

Leos Angeles, California 90067

Altorneys for Wynn Ré’so:rts', Limited
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

i HEREBY CERTIFY that T aim an émployee of PISANELLI BICE P1, LC, and that on this.

fi}ing system  true  and

¢orreet

copics  of  the

av of April, 2013, 1 caused to be e-mailed and electronically served through the Court's

foregoing  PLAINTIFF

WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED'S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT properly. addressed to-

the following:

Sainuet 8. Lionel, Esq.
Paul R. Hejmanowski, E
Charles H. McCrea, Iisq.

Steven €. Anderson,. Bsq.

LIONEL SAWYER & COLLINS
300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1700
Las Vegas, NV 89101

William R. Urgs
Martin A. Liti 3
IOLLF Y URGA: \UIR I'H WOODBURY
& STANDISH o
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, 16th Floor

Las Vegas, NV §9109

) »vtfzf{& i)

Rmmlcll Olsen, Esq.
B. Hdm heq

Jeffrey
MUNGE R. IOLLEH & OLSON, LLP
355 South Grand Avenue, 35th Floor
Lo Ammlo& TA 90071

Marc . Sonnenfeld, Esg.

MORGAN LEWIS & BQCKIUS LLP
1701 Market Street

Philadelphia, PA 19103

Joseph E. Floren, Esq.

Benjamin P, Smith, Esq.
Christopher J. Banks, Esq.
MORGAN LLWIS& BOCKIUS LLP
One Market, Spear Street Tower
San Francisco, CA 94105-1126

;{

Anempl oyeé di PIQA\]I LLi BICE PLLC,
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21, The term “Macau” or “Macao” refers to the Macau special administrative
region of the People’s Republic of China, including but not limited to the Macau Peninsula itself,
Cotal, and the islands of Taipa and Coloane.

22, The term*“Okada” refers to Kazuo Okada, and his avents, representaiives,
associates, attorneys, and all other persons acting or purporting to act on his behalf or under his
control.

23, The term “PAGCOR” refers to the Philippine Amusement and Gaming
Corporation

24, The term “Person(s)” shall mean any natural person or any business. legal,
or governmental entity or association. References to any person or entity shall include that
person or entity and its officers, directors, employees, partners, agents, representatives, corporate
parents, predecessors, successors, subsidiaries, and affiliates.

25.  The term “Philippines” refers to Republic of the Philippines.

26.  Theterms “Policy” or “Policies™ refers to policies, procedures, regulations,
guidelines, manuals, processes, directives, rules, regulations, and post orders.

27.  Theterm “Stockholders Agreement” refers to any and all agreements.
entered into by shareholders of Wynn Resorts stock, as amended, including but not limited to the
Stockholders Agreement, dated April 11, 2002, by and among Wynn, Aruze, and Baron Asset
Fund; the Waiver and Consent, dated July 31, 2009, by and among Wynn, Baron Investment
Funds Trust, and Aruze; the Amendment to Stockholders Agreement, dated November 8, 2008,
by and among Wynn and Aruze; the Waiver and Consent, dated August 13, 2009, by and among
Wynn and Aruze; the Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated January 6, 2010, by
and among Wynn, Elaine P. Wynn, and Aruze; the Waiver and Consent, dated November 24,
2010 by and among Wynn, Elaine P, Wynn, and Aruze; and the Waiverand Consent, dated
December 15, 2010, by and among Wynn, Elaine P, Wynn, and Aruze.

28, “United States Attorney’s Office” shall refer to the United States
Attorpey’s Office, as well as any present or former employees, agents, independent contractors,
attorneys, or other persons acting on the United States Attorney’s behalf

-5
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| respective current and former officers, directors, agents, attorneys, accountants, employees,

29, Theterm “Universal” refers to Universal Entertainment Corporation, and
its predecessors, successors, parents, subsidiaries, divisions and affiliates, and eack of thelr
respective current and former officers, directors, agents, attomeys, accountants, employees,
representatives, partners, and other persons occupying similar positions or performing similar
functions, and all other persons acting or purporting to act-on its behalf or under Its control.

30, The term “Wynn™ refers to Stephen A. Wynn, and his agents,
representatives, associates, attorneys, and all other persons acting or purporting to act on his
behalf or under his control.

31..  Theterm “"Wynn Board” refers fo the Wyan Resoris' Board of Directors
consisting of Wynn, Okada, Linda Chen, Ray R, Iranl, Russell Goldsmith, Robert J, Miller, Jolin
A. Moran, Mare D. Schorr, Alvin V. Shoemaker, Boone Wayson, Flaine P. Wynn, Allan Zeman,
individually and collectively, and each person’s agents, representatives, associates, attorneys, and
all other persons acting or purporting 1o act on each person’s behalf or uader each person’s
conteol,

32, The term “Wynn Las Vegas™ refers to Wynn Las Vegas, LLC, and its
predecessors, successors, parents, subsidiaries, divisions and affiliates, and each of their
respective current and former officers, directors, agents, atforneys, accountants, employees,
representatives, pariners, and other persons decupying similar positions or performing similae
fanctions, and all other persons acting of purporting to act on its behalf or under its control.

33. The term *“Wynn Maeau™ vefers to Wynn Maeau, Limited, and its

predecessors, Suceessors, parents, subsidiaries, divisions and affilistes, and each of their

representatives, partoers, and other persons occupying similar positions or performing similar
funetions, and all other persons acting or purporting to act on its behalf or under its control.

34, The terms “Wynn Resorts,” “You™ and *Your” vefer to Plaintiff and
Counterdefendant Wynn Resorts, Limited, and its predecessors, successors, parents, subsidiaries,
committees, subcomumittees, divisions and affiliates, and each of their respective current and
former officers, directors, agents; attorneys, accountants, employees, representatives, partners,

e
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and other persons occupying similar posttions or performing similar funetions, and all other
persans acting of purporting to act on its behalf or under its control, including but not limited 10
Wynn Macan and Wynn Las Vegas.

INSTRUCTIONS

1, Each Request calls for (1) the production of documents in Your possession,
custody, or control; or (2) in the possession, custody. or control of another, other than Defendants, |
if You have the ability or right (0 obtain originals or copies of such d{)ﬁzzzmn{s, whether or not
such right or ability has been exercised.

2. If You withhold any document, whether in whole or in part, as a result of
some claimed limitation, including but not limited to a claim of privilege, You must supply a list
of the documents being withheld, indicating as to each: (2) the author, sender, writer, addressor
or initiator; (b) all addressees, recipients and intended recipients, including but not limited 1o any
blind copies indicated; (¢) the date ereated or transmitted; (d) the subject matter and subject
matter indicated on the document, if any; and (e} the claimed grounds for nonproduction,

3. Whenevera d{;éﬁmexii is not produced in full or is produced in redacted
form, so indicate on the document and state with particularity the reason or reasons it is not being
produced in full and describe those portions of the document which are not being produced.

4. Unless otherwise indicated, the document Requests herein call for
documents that were dated or created, or came into your possession, custody or control at any
time during the period from March 1, 2000 to the present.

5. Defendants reserve their rights to serve supplemental requests for
documents as necessary. i

& The Requests below are continuing in nature. If, after making Your initial
production and inspection, You obtain or become aware of any further docaments responsive o
these Requests, You are requested to produce such additional documents to Defendants.

7. It is not necessary to provide multiple copies of completely identical

documents that are responsive to more than one Request. In the event that & document responsive

e
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to a given Request is being produced in response to another Request, You may produce only one
copy of the document.

8. In order to bring within the scope of these Requests all information that
might otherwise be construed to be oulside of their scope, the following rules of construction
apply: (a) the singunlar shall includs the plural and vice versa; (b) the connectives “and™ and “or”
shall be construed either disjunctively or conjunctively as necessary to bring within the scope of
the Request all responses that might otherwise be construed to be outside its scope; (¢) the terms
“any,” “all” and “each” shall be read to mean any, all, cach, and every; (d) the present term shall
be construed to include the past term and vice versa; (e} “on or about” when used in conjunction
with a specified date means the period beginning two weeks before and ending two weeks after
the specified date; and (f) references to employees, officers, directors or agents shall include both
current and former employees, officers, directors and agents.

9. You are to produce each document requested herein in its entirety, without
deletion or excision, and shall include all attachiments, appendices, exhibits, lists, schedules, or
other documents at any time affixed thereto, regardless of whether You consider the entire
document o be relevant or responsive o the Requests. A reqiieét for documents shall be deemed
to include a request for any or all transmittal sheets, cover letters, exhibifs, enclosures, or
attachments to the docinnents, in addition to the document itself, without abbreviation or
expurgation,

16, The documents requested herein shall be produced as they are kept in the
usual course of business, or shall be organized and labeled to correspond to each document
fequest herein, All documents that are physically attached to each other when located for
production shall be left so attached. Documents that are segregated or separated from other
documents, whether by use of binders, files, subfiles, or by dividers, tabs, or any other method,
shall be left so segregated or separated. All labels or-other forms of identification contained,
placed, attached, or appended on or to any binders, files, subfiles, dividers, or tabg shall be

produced.

8
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I, Ifany document requested herein that was formerly in your possession,
custody of control has beén destroyed, discarded, or otherwise lost, the document shall be
identified by stating: (a) the vature of the document, the number of pages, its subject matter and
it contents, inctuding but not limited to any attachments or appendices; (b) the author of the
document and all persons to whom it was sent, including but not lintited to cover copics or blind
copies; (¢} the date on which the document was prepared or transmitted: (d) the date on which the
doctment was lost, discarded, or destroyed; (¢} the person who authorized and carried ot the
destruction; and (f) the name of any custodian of any existing copies of the document, If no
documents or things exist that are responsive to a particular paragraph of these requests, so state
inwriting, )
12, Each document request shall be construed independently and without
reference to other requests.

13, All elecironically stored information (“ESI™) and any other document
produced in electronic format, including but not limited to any hard copy documents copied and
produced in electronie format; shall be produced in the “Reguested Production Formai” attached
as Appendix A,

REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION
REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 1:

All documents from April 21, 2000 to present coneeming Wynn's and Wynn

Resorts” business plans and activities in Macau, including but not limited to all documents

coneerning:
A The development of casino resorts in Macau;
B The obtaining of any governmental approvals, gaming licenses, and/or
conecession contracts, Tor the operation of any casino resort in Macau;
C. Wynn Resorts (Macau), 5.A.s business plans and activities in Macau,

from its establishment on Ootober 17, 2001, through and until Wynn
contributed hiy interests in Wynn Resorts (Macau), S.A. to the capital of
Valvino Lamore, LLC on or about April 11, 2002;
L
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REQUEST FORPRODUCTION NG, 2:

All documents from April 21, 2000 1o present concerning the “Macau Interest” and
the “Macau Reimbursement Amount,” as thoss terms ate used in the Third Amended and
Restated Operating Agreement of Valvino Lamore, LLC dated April 11, 2002, including but not

limited to all documents concerning the valuation of the “Macau Interest” and the *Macsy

The aequisition or potential acquisition of land rights in Macau, including
but not limited to the Land Concession Contract included as exhibit 10.1 to
Wynn Resorts” Form &-K filing on May 2, 2012;

The payment of $50 million fo Tien Chiao Entertainment & Investnent Co.
Lid. by Palo Real Estate Company Limited as disclosed in exhibit 99.1 ro
Wynn Resorts’ Form 8-K filing on September 11, 2009, including but not
limited to all documents conecerning: (i) all public disclosure made or
considered concerning this payment and (i) all agreements between Wynn
Resorts and Tien Chiao Entertainment & Investment Co. Lid.;

Any communications with Tien Chiao Entertainment & Investment Co.
Lid. and/or Palo Real Estate Company Limited, including but not limited to
any communications with any owners, principals, agents, or affiliates of
Tien Chiso Entertainment & Investment Co. Lid. and/or Palo Real Estate
Company Limited;

Business plans or activities in Macau concerning Tien Chiao Entertainment
& lnvestment Co, Lid. and/or Palo Real Estate Compuny Limited;

Any consultants engaged by Wynn Resorts, Wynn Resorts (Macau), or any
of their affiliates engaged or otherwise consulted in connection with
business plans and activities in Macaw;

All due diligence, assessments, investigations, and analyses coneerning
business plans and activities in Macau; and,

All donations considered and/or made in China, including but not limited

to China’s special administrative regions, Macau and Hong Kong

~16-
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provision or payment of mieals, lodging, travel, or anything else for any Govemment Official of
P £ 3

Remmbursement Amaounnt™.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTIONNO. 3:

All documents from April 21, 2000 to present concerning any Government
Official of Ching and/or Macau, including but not limited to all documents concerning any

payment, benefit, or gift provided to any such official, directly or indirectly, including any

China and/or Macau.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 4:

All documents concerning Wynn Macau’s May 2011 pledge to donate 1o the
University of Macau Development Foundation, including but not limited to all documents
concerning:
The beneficiaries, dircetly or indirectly, of the donation;
B. All due diligence, assessments, investigations, and analyses concerning the
donation conducted by Wynn Resorts or any other individual or entity;
. All notes, reports, communications, or other materials by, with, or
otherwise involving members of the Wynn Board;
8} All legal opinions and FCPA analysis relating to the donation, including
but not limited to advice provided by Gibson, Dumn & Crutcher LLP.; and
B, Okada’s objections to the donation, including but not limited to Okada’s
objection to the donation during the April 2011 Wynn Board meeting
referenced in Paragraph 76 of the Counterclaim,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 5;

All documents from April 21, 2000 to present concerning donations made by
Wyrm Resorts, Wynn Macau and/or Wynn Las Vegas to any charitable organization.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 6:

All documents from April 21, 2000 to present concerning, including but not
limited to all communications with, Chu Sai Cheong, Jose Vai Chi “CHff* Cheong, John
Crawford, Li Tai Foon, Edmund He, Ho Ho, Lawrence Ho, Stanley Ho, Wilson Kwan, Yany

-1
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Kwan, Darryl “Dax” Turok, and Chi Seng Wong, and each person’s agents, representatives,
dssociates, attorneys, and all other persons acting or purporting to act on cach person’s behalf or
under each person’s control.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 7:

REQUEST FORPRODUCTION NO, 8:

All documents from April 21, 2000 to present concerning the Cotai Land
Development Co. Lid., Companhia de Entreténimento e Investimento Chinese Limitada, Palo
Real Estate Devgiayment Co. Ltd., Wynn Cotai Hoelding Co., Ltd,, Cotai Partwer, Lid., and Tien
Chiao Entertainment & Investment Co. Ltd., and each entity’s predecessors, successors, parents,
subsidiaries, divisions or affiliates, and their vespeetive current and farmer owners, sharehiolders,
members, officers, directors, agents, attornieys, accountants, employees, partners, or other persons
oceupying similar positions or performing similar functions, and all other persons acting or

purporting to act on each entity’s behall or under each entity’s control.

All documents from April 21, 2000 to present coneerning Wynn's visits to China,

including but not limited to all documenis conceming:

A. Any visits initlally planned, but later cancelled or postponed; and/or
B. Any use of Wynn Resorts” corporate plane or Wynn's private plane,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 9:

All documents concerning the financial contributions made by Artze to Wynn
Resorts and/or Valvino Lamore, LLC, including but not limited io all documents concerming the
manner in which Wynn, Wynn Resorts, or Valvino Lamore, LLC spent the $120 million
contributed by Aruze to Valvino Lamore, LLC in April 2002.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 1

All dosuments concerning the finandial contributions of Baron Asset Fund to
Wynn Resorts and/or Valvine Lamore, LLC.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 11:

All books and records for Wynn Resorts and/or Valving Lamorg, LLC for the
years 2000 to 2002.

wide
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 12:

All decuments concerning any resolution to preclude Wynn or Wynn Resorts from
developing casino projects in the Philippines by the House of Representatives of the Phil ippines
or any other Government Official of the Philippines,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 13:

All documerits concerning Defendants’ business plans and activities in the

Philippines, including but not limited to all documents concerning:

Al
B,

D

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 14:

Communications involving Wynn Resorts regarding contractors or other

The development of casino résorts in the Philippines;

constriction workers in the Philippines;

The obtaining of any Philippines governmental approvals, ganing lcenses,
and/or coneession contracts, for the operation of any casino in the
Philippines;

The acquisition or potential acquisition of land rights in the Philippines:
and,

All cominunications involving Defendants, Wynu Resorts, or
Counterdefendants concerning Defendants’ business plans and activities in
the Philippines, including but aot limited to Wynn’s May 1, 2008
conference call to stock analysts thatis referenced in Paragraph 60 of

Defendants’ Counterclaim.

All documents concemning Wynn's visits to the Phillppines from 2000 to the
| present, including but not limited to all documents conecerning:

A

B.

Wynn’s visit to the Philippines in 2010 referenced in Paragraphs 72 to 74
of Defendants’ Counterclain;

Any visits initially planned, but later cancelled or postponed, including but
not limited to a meeting with the President of the Philippines, Benigno
quzim Il or

213~
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 15;

Any use of Wynn Resorts” corporate plane or Wynn’s private plane.

All documents concerning any payments, benefis, and gifts allegedly made by

Defendants to former or current members of PAGCOR, including but not limited fo all documents

congerning:

B

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTIONNG. 16:

All visits allegedly made to Wynn Macsu and Wynn Las Vegas by former
or current persons assoctated or affiliated with PAGCOR, including all
alleged expenses incurred by any such officials, including dny suests
accompanying the officials, during any such visits;

The authorization of alleged payments, benefits, orgifis to former or
current PAGCOR employees and officials;

Any diseiplinary action taken against any former or current emplovee of
Wynn Resorts, Wynn Macau, or Wynn Las Vegas for alleged payments,
benefits, and gifts provided to former or current PAGCOR employees and
officials; and

All receipts orrecords of expenses incurred and/er amounts paid by any
person affiliated with PAGCOR at Wynn Resorts properties, including but

not limited to Wynn Macau properties.

All documents concerning all city ledger accounts kept by Wynn Resorts, Wynn
Muacau, and Wyun Las Vegas, including but not limited to all documents concerning;

A

All statemenus for the Universal City Ledger Account, Aruze City Ledger
Account, orany other ¢ity ledgeraccount associated with Defendants;
The 36 alleged instances of payments, benefits, and gifts provided to
Philippine Government Officials alleged in Paragraph 52(b) of the
Complaint and pages 20 through 22 of the Freeh Report, including but not
limited to all receipts or records of all charges incurred by the alleged
beneficiaries listed in the Freeh Report;

«]dm
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All payments, benefits, and gifts allegedly provided to Korean Government
Officials at Wynn Macau and Wyan Las Vegas, as alleged in pages 31 and
32 in the Freeh Repori;

All deposits made by any of the Defendants to an account controlled by
Wynn Resorts for city ledger accounts associated with Defendants;

All expenses charged to the Universal City Ledger Account, Araze City
Ledger Account, or any other city ledger aceount associated with any of the
Defeadants;

All invoices sent by Wynn Resoris to any of the Defendants coffcernitg
city ledger accounts associated with Defendants;

All statements for city ledger-accounts for Wynn, Wynn Resorts, or any
Counterdefendant;

All policies at Wynn Resorts, Wynn Macau and Wynn Las Vegas
coneerning ¢ity ledger accounts, inchuding but not limited to restrietions on
payments made from such accounts, oversight over city ledger accouns,
monitoring of trregularities with réspect 1o ¢ity ledger accounts, and
invoices provided to account holders;

Wynn Resorts” Memorandurn to File referenced in the Freeh Report in
footnote 12; and,

Invoices provided o account holders,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 17:
All documents from 2005 to the present concerning charges for lodging in each of
the hotel rooms at Wynn Las Vegas and Wynn Macau allegedly oceupied by any of the PACGOR

officials named in the Freeh Report, including but net limited to:

A

B
C.

all records, financial statements, and/or logs of éhargeg mneurred by guests
in those hotel rooms;

rates of the hotel rooms ut issue af the time any charges were incwred: and
amount paid by guests for the hotel rooms.

15
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- REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 18:

- Free Bconomic Zone in Korea,

- concerning:

All documents concerning Defendants” business plans and activities in the Incheon

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 19:

All documents concerning any payments, benefits, or gifis allegedly made by

Defendants to Govermnment Officials of Korea, including but not limited to all documents

>

All visits allegedly made to Wynn Macau and Wynn Las Vegas by Korean
Jovernment Officials, including all alleged expenses incurred by any such
officials during any such visits;

B Any authorization of alleged payments, benefits, and gifis to Korean
Government Officials;

. Any disciplinary actions taken against any former or current employee of
Wynn Resorts, Wynn Macau, or Wynn Las Vegas for alleged payments,
benefits, and gifts provided 10 any Korean Gevernment Official; and

. All receipts or records of expenses incurred by any Korean Government
Official at Wynn Resort properties.
REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NG, 20;

All documents concéming any of the Korean Gwm}mmi‘ Officials named in the
Freeh Report, including but not limited to: Jong Cheol Lee; Woo Hyeung Lee; Min Yong Choi;
and Ki Dong Hur,
REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 212

All documents concerning any competition ar potential competition between
Defendants’ casino resort in the Philippines and Wynn Macau, as alleged in Paragraph 27 of the
Complaint, inchuding but not limited to all documents concerning:

A, All due diligence, assessments, investigations, and analyses of the potential

for competition; and

i
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B, Okada’s alleged plans to “lure high-Himit, VIP gamblers from Chind” to
Universal’s casino resorts in the Philippines, “the same customer base as
Wynn Macau,” as alleged in Paragraph 27 of the Complaint,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 22:

All documents concerning the statement in Wynn Macau’s IPO prospectus that
Okada does not hold, own, or cbnirol mere than 5% voling interests in an entity which is
reasonably expected to compete with Wynn Macay, including but not limited to all
communications and drafts related to this language in Wynn Macaw’s IPO prospectus.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 23:

All decuments concerning the non-compete clause set forth in in Paragraph 6 of
the Stockholder’s Agreement, including but not limited to all communications related o the
drafting of the non-compete clause.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 24:

All documents concerning Wynn’s or Wynn Resorts” exploration into developing
casino resorts in locations other than Las Vegas or Macay, including but not limited to all
documents concerning?

A, Any impact any such casino resorts woald have on Wynn Resorts’

businesses in Las Vegas or Macau;

B. Any visits by Wynn to Menaco, including any visits initially planned but

{ater cancelled; and |
. Any use of wym Resorts” corporate plane or Wynn’s private plane.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 25:

All documents identifying or otherwise concerning persons who have received
complimentary rooms, meals, gifts, gaming credits, or other things of value from Wynn Resorts
(including, but not limited to, Wynn Macau).

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 26:

All documenis concerning any trade secrets owned by Wynn Resorts that any
Defendant allegedly misappropriated, including but not Hmited to all documents conceming:
RES
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REQUEST FORPRODUCTION NO. 27:

Any damages to Wynn Resorts caused by Defendants’ ailaggéd
misappropriation of any such trade secrets,

The identity of any such trade secrets;

Wynn Resorts™ ownership of any such trade seerets:

The independent economic value of any such frade secret, actual or
potential, from not being generally known to (and not being readily
aseettaiable by proper means by) the public or any other persens who can
obtain commereial or economic value from its diselosure or use;

All efforts by Wynn Resorts to maintain the secrecy of any such irade
seerets; and

The allegedly improper means used by Defendants to obtain any such trade

secrets.

All documents concerning any confidential information, trademarks, or other
intelleetual property owned by Wynn Resorts (other than trade secrets) that Defendants allegedly
used or intended to use for their own benefit or to the detriment of Wyiin Resorts, inel uding but

not Hmited to all documents concerning:

A.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 28;

Any damages toe Wynn Resorts caused by Defendants” alleged use of any
such confidential information, trademarks, or other intellectual property.
The confidential information, trademarks, or other intellectual property
Okada allegedly used for his own benefit and to Wynn Resorts® detriment,
as alleged in Paragraph 72 of the Complaint;

Wynn Resorts” ownership of such confidential information, trademarks, or
other intellectual property; and

All efforts by Wynn Resorts to keep such/-infamna%éan or property

confidential.

All documents concerning any information Defendants allegedly acquired from

18-
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Wynn Resorts that Defendant used or intended to use for their own benefit, including but not
limited fo all documents conceming:
A. . Any damages to Wynn Resorts caused by Defendants® alleged use of any
such information;
B, The alleged public statements by Universal that it would use information .
acquired from Wynn Resorts for its own use, as alleged in Paragraphs 31 to
34 of the Complaint; and
¢ The allegation that “Okada arranged to have several key individuals serve
as interns ot the Wynn Macau property so that Wyna Macau *know how’
could be learned and siphened from Wynn Resorts” in Paragraph 35 of the

Complaint

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO, 291
- All documents concerning Defendants” alleged linking of Wynn Resotts 1o
Defendants’ separate business endeavors, including but not limited to all documents concerning:
A Linking the website of Wynn Resorts and/or Wynn Macau to the websites
controlled by Defendants;
A Any damages to Wynn Resorts caused by any such alleged linking of

Wynn Resorts to Defendants” separate business endeavors; and

The allegation that Wynn Resorts was harmed by Defendants” alieged
“linking Wynn Rés&ﬂs to business endeavors in the Philipnines that would
necessarily suggest its involvement with *deeply ingrained” official
corruption and a legal/regulatory framework ill-aligned with American
compliance and transparency standards™ in Paragraph 36 of the Complaint.

BREQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NGO, 30;

All documents concerning the possibility of Aruze pledging some of is shares in
Wynn Resorts or obfaining a loan in 2011, including but not limited to all documents concerning:
A, Wynn Resorts possibly making a loan to Aruze, Including but not limited
to any legal analysis concerning any such loan:

~§ G
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B. The draft side letter prepared by Kimmarie Sibatra concerning a possible
loan from Wynn Resorts to Aruze, as alleged in Paragraph 88 of the
Counterclaim; "

C, Deutsche Bank’s participation in any possible loan to Aruzein 2011

D. The meeting held on May 16, 2011 involving Wynn, Kimniarie Sinatra,
Matt Maddox, and Okada concerning, among other things, Aruze possibly
either pledging some of its shares in Wynn Resorts or obtaining 4 loan; and

E. Wynn Resorts’ Compliance Committee’s review and decision on any
possible loan to Aruze.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 31:

All documents concerning Elaine Wynn transferring some or all of her shares of
Wynn Resorts to a new owner in 2011, including but not limited to documents coneerning
Aruze’s consent to any such transfer.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO, 32:

. } . . B . N .
All documents concerning the Kimmarie Sinatra’s role and duties with respect to
any business of Wymn and/or Wynn Resorts,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 33:

All documents concerning Kimmarie Sinatra’s confmunications about Seetion 402
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act to any Defendant or Cowiterdefendant.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO, 34;

All documents concerning any investigation that Wynn Resorts conducted or
commissioned concerning Defendants or their businesses in the Philippines, ineiﬁéing; but not
limited to all documents coneerning;

A, The “independent investigation and risk assessment of investing in the

gaming industry in the Philippines” commissioned by the Compliance

Committee in January 2011, as alleged in Paragraph 22 of the Complaint;

~20=
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B3, The “second independent investigation in the regulatory and compliance
climate in the Philippines” commissioned by the Wynn Board in August
2011, as alleged in Paragraph 40 of the Complaint;

C. The report presented by Robert J. Miller at the November 1, 2011 Wynn
Board meeting concerning the investigations conducted 1o that daie; and

Iha Any documents concerning any investigation or assistance provided by any
person engaged by Wynn or Wynn Resorts,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 35:

All documents concerning communications by Wynn Resorts with Defendants
(including Defendants’ representatives) concerning any investigation that Wy Resorts
conducted or commissioned concerning Defendants or their businesses in the Philippines,
including but not limited to all documents concerning:
A, The meeting between Robert Faiss, Mark Clayton, Kimmarie Sinatea and
Kevin Tourek on Septembeér 30, 201 1; and
B. The meeting held on October 4, 201 1 between Wynn, Kimmarie Sinatra,
Okada, and Okada’s counsel, including but not limited to the possible
removal of Okada as Vice Chairman of Wynn Resorts and as a direetor of
both Wynn Resorts and Wynn Macau, including the purported grounds for
any such removals, discussed at that meeting,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO, 36:

All documents councerning Frank A. Schreel’s resignation as Chairman of
Universal’s Compliance Conmmittee on September 27, 2011, including but not limited to all
communications to or from Frank A. Schreck, Wynn Resorts, and any of the Counterdefendants,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 37:

All doeuments coneerning the law firms Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP
and Gordon Silver, including but not limited to any adviee provided by them concerning alleged
actions by any of the Defendants and/or their businesses in the Philippines.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 38:

D
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All docunents concerning the Arkin Group LLC, Arkin Kaplan Rice LLP, Stanley
§. Arkin, and Jack Devine, including but not limited to any due diligence, assessments,
investigations, and analyses conducted by the Arkin Group LLC and Arkin Kaplan Rice [LLP

concerning the Philippines, the gaming industry in the Philippines, and/or any of the Defendants,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 39:
All doeuments concerning any mvestigation of any of the Defendants or their
businesses in the Philippines and Korea conducted by Freeh Sporkin, including but not Hmited to -

all decuments voncerning:

A
B.

w
%.l
N

The retention of Fresh Sporkin, including the ternss of its compensation;
All informatien gathered, and analyses conducted, by Freeh Sporkin or any
consultants retained by Frech Sporkin or Wynn, Wynn Reserts orany of
the Counterdefendants, including (i) all documents included in the
appendix 1o~ and referenced in~ the Freeh Report, (1) all docurments
provided by Wynn Resorts and/or any of the Counterdefendants to Freeh
Sporkin for any investigation, and (iii) all documents provided by Freeh
Sporkin orany consultants to Wynn Resorts and/or any Counterdefendants:
All persons interviewed by Freeb Sporkin, including all documents used at, '
orcreated a8 a result of, such interviews;

The interview of Qkada condueted by Louis J. Fréeh in Tokyo on February
15, 2012, ineluding all decuments used at, or created as a result of, such
interviews;

All communications between Wynn, Wynn Resorts, and/or any
Counterdefendant concerning the Freeh Sporkin investigation;

All communications with Defendants concerning the investigation,
including opportunities for Defendants to respond to the Froch Report; and
All diaries or other billing records related to the Freeh Sporkin
investigation, including how much Freeh or Freeh Sporkin were paid and
how many hours they worked.

oy
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RECGUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 40:

Counterdefendant with any person ontside Wynn Resorts concerning the Freeh Report, including

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO, 42:

con¢erming:
1 ]

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO, 44

All documents concerning any assessment by the Wynn Board of the accuracy of

the Freeh Report.
REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 41:

All documients concerning any communications by Wynn, Wynn Resorts, or any

but not limited to the Wall Street Journal.

All documents concerning Wynn Resorts’ or Wynn’s offer to purchase sone or all
of Aruze’s stock in 2011 or 2012.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 43;

All documents concerning the resolutions adopted By the Wyan Board on February

18,2012, as alleged in Paragraph 97 of the Complaint, including but not limited to all documents

A The Wynn Board’s determination that Aruze and Universal were likely 1o

jeopardize Wynn Resorts® and its affiliated companies” gartting licenses;

B. The Wynn Board’s determination that Okada. Aruze, and Universal were
unsuitable persons under the Articles of Incorporation;

. The Wynn Board’s determination to redeem Aroze’s shares in Wynn
Resorts for approximately $1.936 billion through a promissory note; and

53 The basis for each of the Wynn Board’s determinations sct forth above,
including all information considered by the Wynn Board before making

cach of these determinations,

All documents concerning any instances where the Wynn Board considered or
made a determination whether a person was an unsuitable person under the Asticles of
Incorporation, other than the Wynn Board’s determination concerning OGkada on February 18,

2012,

2%
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 45;

All documents concerning any instances where the Wynn Beard considered
whether to redeem, or made a determination to redeem, the shares of any sharcholder pursuant to
the Articles of Incorporation, other than the Wynn Board’s redemption of Aruze’s shares on
February 18,2012,

REQUEST F ORPRODUCTION NO. 46:

All documents concerning the valuation of Aruze's shares in Wynn Resorts for the
redemption in 2012, including but not limited to all documents concerning the valuation
conducted by Moelis & Company, including all documents provided to or by Moelis & Company
concerning the valuation.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 47

All documents concerning the valuation of Aruze’s shares in Wynn Resorts for the
redemption in 2012, ingluding but not limited 1o all documents conceming the valuation
conducted by Duff & Phelps, LLC, including all documents provided to ot by Duff & Phelps,
LLE concerning the valuation,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 48:

All documents concerning Kenneth Moelis® and Moelis & Company’s work for
¢ Company

Wynn or Wynn Resorts prior to the valuation of Aruze’s sharves in 2011 and/or 2012,
3 ¥ 3 pric :

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NG, 49:

All documents concerning Duff & Phelps, LLC's work for W yun or Wynn Resorts
prior to the valuation of Aruze’s shares in 2011 and/or 2012,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 50:

All documents conceming any valuation of Aroze’s shares in Wynn Resorts,
including but not limited to vatuations included or referenced in filings with the United Stales
Securitics and Exchange Commission (“US SEC™), coutt filings, or the letter from Robert L.
Shapiro to Aruze's counsel dated December 15,2011,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO, §1:

All documents concerning the land concession contract permitiing Wynn Macau to

D
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develop a casino resort in Cotai, as referenced in Wynn Resorts” March 2, 2012 and May 2, 2012
Form 8-K filings, including but not limited to all documents concerning;

A, The date Wynn Resorts began negotiations for such eoncession contract;

B. The date such concession contract was executed;
a, The disclosure of such concession contract in Wynn Resorts’ initial Form

8-K filing on March 2, 2012;

L. Winn Resorts” March 2, 2012 reiraction of the initial March 2, 2012 Form
8-K filing as having been filed by “mistake” by the “Company’s agent,”
including all communications with the Company’s agent referenced in the
rétraction; and

E. Wynn Resorts” May 2, 201 24 Form 8K {iling, including any decuments
concerning changes in the wording of the May 2, 2012 Form 8-K filing

from the inttial March 2, 2012 Form 8-K filing.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 52:
All doeurnents concerning the removal of Okada as Viee Chairman of Wynn
Resorts and as a director of both Wynn Resorts and Wynn Macau,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTIONNO. 53

All documents concerning any investigation of Wynn Resorts or its employees,
officers, sharcholders, or directors (including but not limited to Wynn and Defendanis) by any
local, state, federal, or foreign law enforcement agency, regulatory agency. or gaming regulator,
including but not limited to all documents concerning any investigation by the Nevada Gaming

Commission, the State Gaming Control Board of Nevada, the US SEC, the United States

Department of Justice (“DOJ7), Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (“Philippine

SEC”, or the Macau Gaming Commission concerning:

A, Wynn Macau’s pledge to donate to the University of Macau Development
Foundation;
B. Wynn Resorts® purported redemption of Aruze’s shares of Wynr Resorts;
“93a
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50 Any alleged payment, benefit, or gift by Defendants to former or current
members of PAGCOR;

D, The Land Concession Contract included as exhibit 10.1 to Wynn Resorts’
Form 8-K filing on May 2, 2012;

E. The payment of $50 million to Tien Chiao Entertainment & Tnvestment Co.
Ltd. by a Palo Real Estate Company Limited as disclosed in exhibit 99.1 to
Wynn Resorts” Porm 8-K filing on September 11, 2009; and

F, The FCPA or any other corruption prevention laws.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 54

All documents sufficient to show the relationships between Wynn Resarts, Wynn
Macaw, Wynn, Universal, Aruze, and Okada, and their ownership interests in Wynn Resorts and
Wynn Macau.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 35:

All organizational charts of Wynn Resorts and Wyrnn Macau, including but not
limited to its subsidiaries, divisions, departinents, affiliates; commiitees, and any other related
entity or group.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO, 36:

All decuments concerning Wynn Resorts” budget for each fiscal year from 2012 to

2022, including but not limited to financial forecasts and projected revenue and costs.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. §7:

All documents concerning the negotiation, drafting, and exeeution of cach of the V
following documents and any and all amendments thereto:

A The Articles of Incorporation: -

B. The Bylaws;

C. The Contribution Agreement; and

. The Stockholder’s Agreement.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 58:
All documents concerning Aruze’s nomination of individuals to serve as directors

36
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of Wynn Resorts, ipeluding but not limited to Wynn’s refusal to endorse the individuals

nominated by Aruze as required by Paragraph 2(8) of the Stockholder's Apreement.
A4 3 ) g

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 59:

All documents concerning Wynn Resorts’ policies and training, including all

communications to the Wynn Board of Directors, concerning:

A

D
E.

Membership on the Board of Directors and procedure for nominating
members to the Board of Directors;

Removal of persons from the Board of Directors:

Compliance with the Nevada Revised Statutes and the Nevada Gaming
Commission Regulations;

Compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including Section 402;
Compliance with the F{Z‘?A: or any other corruption prevention law:

The adoption of resolutions by Wynn Resorts” Board of Directors;

Wynn Resorts” Gaming and Compliance Program;

Wynn Resorts” Policy Regarding Payment to Government Officials,
referenced in Paragraph 38(b) of the Complaint;

Wynn Resorts” Code of Business Conduct and Ethies (*Code of Conduct™).
referenced in Paragraph 14 of the Complaint, including any amendments
tex the Code of Conduct;

Determinations of “unsuitability” under the Articles of Incorporation;
The confidentiality and privacy of guest information, including guest
information in Macau;

Data privacy laws in Maeau;

Amendments (o the Artieles of Incorporation;

All notices sent to members of the Board of 'Ef}imc"’wrs regarding training;
Restrietions on shares of Wynn Resorts owned by officers and directors of

Wynn Resorts, including any prohibition on pledging such shares: and

i Fom
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- REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 62:

p. Any other policies relevant to Wynn Resorts” allegations against
Defendants,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 60:

All communications to and from Okada, Wynn Resorts, or any of the
Counterdefendants concerning the FCPA, including but not fimited to Okada’s requests to have
PCPA training materials provided to him in Japanese.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 61:

All documents concerning Wynn Resorts® procedure for choosing and developing
new casino gaming sites, including but not limited to the investigation or audit of proposed new

casme gaming sifes.

All documents concerning Wynn Resorts” Sarbanes Oxley Steering Committee,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 63:

All documents concerning Wynn Resorts’ Audit Commitiee, incl uding but not
limited to the Audit Committee’s Enterprise Risk Management review, any policies or procedures
designed to uncover any conduct that would be a risk to Wynn Resorts” FCPA compliance, and
Audit Committee documents coneerning the Philippines and any of the Defendants.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 64:

All documents concerning the Directors® & Officers’ Questionnaire Packet
allegedly sent to all members of Wynn Resorts” Board of Directors in January 2012, as alleged in
Paragraph 38(c) of the Complaint, including but not mited to acknowledgement forms,

e .

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 65:

All documents (including notes;, meeting minutes, handouts, or transcripts )
concerning meetings of the Board of Directors of Wynn Resorts, including meetings held on or
about February 24, 2011, April 18, 2011, November 1, 2011, and February 18, 2012.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 66:

All documents (including notes, meeting minutes, handouts, or transeripts)

concerning executive sessions held by members of the Board of Directors of Wynn Resorts,

28
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including a session held on or about July 28, 2011.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 67:

All documents (including notes, meeting minutes, handouts, or transcripts)
a meeting held on or about September 27, 2011.

REQUEST FORPRODUCTION NO. 68:

All d{)cﬁm&m& including correspondence, notes, memoranda, ot meeting minuies
conceming Okada’s alleged statements during any meeting of Wynn Board canicerning payments
to foreign Government Officialg, the FCPA, or any other corruption prevention liws, as alleged in &
Paragraph 37 of the Complaint.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 69:

All documents concerning requests by Okada for Japanese translation services for
Board materials and Board meetings and iglephone conferenses.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NQ. 70;

All doeuments concerning Wyn# Resorts” statemant on October 2, 2012
concerning the denial of Aruze and Universal’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction, including but
ot limited to all documents concerning:

A, The investigations allegedly initiated by law enforcement and regulatory

authorities in the United States and multiple jurisdictions in Asia;

B. The purported business connections and common shareholding in a Hong

Keong entity by Okada;

C. An alleged individual associated with “yakuza,” a Japanese organized

crime group; and

D, An alleged improper payment in the Philippines in connection with Aruze.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 71:

All documents concerning the name change and closure of the Okada restaurants
in Wynn Las Vegas and Wymn Macay, including but not limited to all communications to or from
Wynn Las Vegas, Wynn Resorts and Wynn concerning the name change and closure.

6.
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and/or studies of such risks:

(including, but not limited to Wynn Macau) within the past five years which 4 person earrying on

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 72:

All documents concerning the alleged risks to Wynn Resorts and/or to its Board of
Directors, such as regulatory risks, conflicts of interests, and risks to Wynn Resorts” current
and/or prospective gaming license(s), arising from the alleged acts of Defendants, including but

not limited to all Communications concerning such risks, all analyses, reports, assessments,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 73;

All documents related to any gaming licenses that Wynn Resorts (including, but
not limited 1o Wynn Macau) or any members of the Wynn Resorts® Board of Dircctors has
considered pursuing, whether or net the gaming license wus getually pursued or granted, singe
Wynn Resorts” inception in 2002,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NGO. 74:

All documents related to any insurance agreement entered into by Wynn Resarts

an insurance business may be liable to satisfy part or all of'a judgment which may be entered in
this action, including any disclaimer or limitation of coverage orreservation of tights under any
such insurance agrecment,

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 75:

All documents related to any insurance agreement entered into by Wynn Resorts
(inclading, but not Hmited to Wivnn Macan) within the past five years-which a perécm carrying on
an insurance business may be liable 1o advance, indemuify or reimburse for litigation costs and
expenses and/or payments made to satisfy the judgment in this action, including any disclaimer or

limitation of coverage or reservation of rights under any such insurance agreement.

w2
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Lag Vegas, Nevada

January 2, 2013

LIONEL ¢ '?Ym‘{&

7 g 8L
By: /{fé«é@w =

Samuel S. Lionel (SBN 1766)
Charles H. MeCrea, Jr. (SBN 104)
Steven A. Anderson (SBN 11901)
1760 Bank of America Plaza

300 South Fourth Street

Las Vegus, Nevada 89101
Telephone:  (702) 383-8888
Facsimile: (702) 383-8845

William F. Sullivan?®

Thomas A. Zaccaro™

Howard M. Privette®

John 8. Durtant (admitted pro hoc vice)
PAUL HASTINGS LLP

§15 South Flower Street, 25th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90071

Telephone:  (213) 683-6000
Facsimile:  (213)683-0705
*admitted pro hac vice

Attorneys for Defendant KAZUQ OKADA and
Defendants and Counterclaimanis ARUZE USA, INC. and
UNIVERSAL ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION
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- addressed to:
Tames J, Pisanelli, Esq,, Bar #4027 Donald J. Campbell, Fsq., Bar # 1216
Todd .. Bice, Esq.. Bar # 4534 J. Colby Williams, B sq Bar #5549
Debra L. Spinelli, Bar # 9693 CAMPRELL & WILLIAMS
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 700 South Seventh Street
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, f:sm& KO0 Las Vegas, NV 89109

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 5(b), | hereby certify that | am an smployee
of LIONEL SAWYER & COLLINS and that on this 2nd day of January, 2013, [ caused
documents  entitled DEFENDANTS’ FIRST REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF
DOCUMENTS TO WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED to be served 4s follows:

[X] by depositing same for mailing in the United States Mail, in a scaled envelope

Las Vegas, NV 89169 _
William R. Urga, Esq., Bar# 1195

Paul K. Rowe, Hsg.® Martin A, Little, Esq., Bar # 7067

Bradley R. Wilson, Esq.* JorLy URGA WIRT M OWOODBURY &
Grant R. Mainland, Esq.* STANDISH

WACHTELL LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ 3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, 16th Floor

51 West 52nd Sireet Las Vegas, Nevada 89169

New York, NY 10018
Ronald L, Olson, Esq.*

Robert L. Shapiro, Esg.* Mark B, Helm, qu #

FLASER WEIL Fink Jacoss HOwARD Jeffrey Y. Wu, Esq.
AVCHEN & SHAPIRO, LLP MUNGER, KBLLE;& & OLSONLLP
10259 ConsTELLATION Blvd., 19th Floor 355 South Grand Avenue, 35th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90067 Los Angeles, CA 900711560

* admitted pro hac vice *admitted pro hac viee

[ 1 pursuantto NEV. R, Civ, P, S(bYZX D) 1o be sent via facsimile as indicated:

[ '] tobehand delivered in:

and/or

[ 1 through the Court's Electronic Filing Program pursuant to the Electronic Filing and
N

Seérvice Order enter in Case No. 12 A656710 on October 4, 2012

/4\

Vueelo Colige..
f‘m Lm%i yee of 4
LIONEESAWYER & COLLINS
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Appendix A

Requested Production Format

Document Format

All documents should be produced as Bates-stamped 300 DPI Group IV multi-page monochrome
TIFF images with accompanying document-level extracted text for electronically stored
information ("ESI™) or OCR for scanned hard copy documents. No searchable text need he
provided for redacted documents.

All spreadsheets should be produced as native format files accompanied by a single-page TIFF
placehelder,

Image Load/Cross Reference Files »

Defendants request either an IPRO (Ifp) or Opticon (opt) multi-page image load/cross reference
file with all productions. Image filenames should contain the beginning bates number information
of the document, Note that volume label information (“@MSC001” in the sample 1PRO file and
“MSCO01” in the sample Opticon file) is optional.

Sample IPRC Ifp file )

IM,MSCO0000014,D, 1, @MSCO0 T MSCO000;,00000014.TTF:2
IM,MSC00000015,,2.@MSC001; MSCW000;00000014.T1IF2
IM,MSC00000016,D,1 @MSC001; MSC0000:00000016.TIF;2
IMMSEC00000017,,2,@MSC001; MSCW000;00000016.T1F2

Semple Opticon .opt file v

MSCO00001,MSCO01, MSC\000000000001.T1F,Y,,.3
MSCO00004,MSCO01 MSCWO000\00000004. TIF. Y,,,2
MBC000006,MSCO01,MSC\O000800000006.T1E,Y,,,7
MSC000013,MSC001,MSC\O000M\00000013.T1F, Y4

Data Load File
For Bates mformation and metadata, Defendants request a Concordance-loadable data file, also
known as a “DAT” file. Exiracted text or OCR text should not be embedded in the DAY file.
Rather, it should be provided as separate, document-level text files. document-level text filenames
should contain the beginning bates number information of the document. If a document is
provided in native format with a placeholder tiff, e.g. Excel files, the text file should contain the
extracted text of the pative file.
The requested delimiters and qualifiers to be vsed In the DAT file are:

s Record delimiter: Windows newline/Hard returnt (ASCH 10 followed by ASCIL 13)

e Field delimiter: i e s e resinen e L EARCIL 20

s Multi~value delimiter: ... fonssmnsnnese s s orseors SEIICOION ; (ASCH 59)
@ TEXE QUARIIIIETY 1ovveirrisssinsinssmso s russonsssrssmsminesanssinarast sunssenpase o Small thorn b (ASCII 254)
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The DAT file should have a header line with field names and inelude the following fields:

Tiaeld _ Comments

Bates Prefix

Beginning - Bates | Do not include prefix.

Number ) .

Ending Bates Number | Do not inelude prefix, ]

Beginning Bates Range | Kirst page of family range. e.g., first page of an email. Do not
include prefix.

Ending Bates Range Last page of family range, e.g., last page of last attachment fo
an email. Do not include prefix.

Page Count Numberof pages in document.

File Extension Loose liles, attachments and email.

File Size Loose files, attachments and email (in bvtes).

Title Loose files and attachments only.

Custodian Loose files, attachments, andemail. Custodian full name.

Author Loose files and atiachinents only.

From Email only,

To “mail only.

CC - Fmal only,

BCC Email only,

Nubject Finail only,

Date Created Loose files and atrachments only, MM/DD/YYYY

Date Modified Loose files and attachments only. MM/DD/YYYY

Date Semt Email only, MM/DD/YYYY

Time Sent Email only. HH:MM:SS AM/PM

Date Recerved Email only, MM/DD/YYYY

Time Received Email only. HH:MM:SS AM/PM

FiePalh Loose files. Original path 1o the file at collection time.

| FolderPath Email only. Path within the mail container tile (e.g., PST file)

to the message at collection time,

TextPath The path to the extracted fext or OCR for the document,
including the file name. _

NativePath The path (o the native-format file for the document, including
the file name (if a native-format file is provided).

Sermple DAT file

bBatesPrefixplpBeginning Bates NurmberpOpEnding Bates NumberpIpBeginning Baws

Hange

ﬂbﬁmé?ng Bates RangepllpPage CountplIpFile ExtensionpllpFile
SizepUpTitleppCustodianhUbAuthorblpFrom '
bUbTopUpCCRUPBCCHpSubject plipDate CreatedplpDate ModifiedplbDate
SentblbTime Sent

ppDate ReceivedplpTime »
ReceivedplpFilePathplpFolderPathblpTextPathplpNativePathp

BSAMPLEBIP00000001 bIHY0000001 0000000 1 hI00000GO2p0H 1 pIbbIR2354pTbJo

hn H. SmithplpplpplpJohn H. SmithplbJane Doeplblane W, Schmidt; Mark
DoebllbblpChecks Pavableblipplibbllp12/

25/200850p9:30:01 AMpUb12/25/2008p0p%:30:11
AMpUpbUb\Inbox\Payable\plp Text\ SAMPLEC00\0000000 L. txiblbb

PSAMPLEBIP00000002pIH000000020b00006001 bIBO0000002Ip! plpxlshlp464d4pll

bAcco
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unts ReceivableplbJohn H. Sinithplp John H.
SmithbObpObbObbUbpOpbIP12/22/2008p 12/25/2008 b 0pblpbll

bbOpplpblpplb TextSAMPLEO000W00000002.txthIpNatives\SAM PLEWI000:00000002.

xish
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SAC

James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027
JJP@pisanellibice.com

Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534
TLB@pisanellibice.com

Debra L. Spinelli, Esq., Bar No. 9695
DLS@pisanellibice.com :
PiSANELLI BICEPLLC

3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 800
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
Telephone: 702.214.2100

Paul K. Rowe, Esq. (pro hac vice admitted)
pkrowe@wlrk.com

Bradley R. Wilson, Esq. (oro hac vice admitted)
brwilson@wirk.com

Grant R, Mainland, Esq. (pro hac vice admitted)
WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ

51 West 52nd Street

New York, NY 10019

Telephone: 212.403.1000

Robert L. Shapiro, Esq. (pro hac vice admitted)
RS@glaserweil.com

|| GLASER WEIL FINK JACOBS HOWARD

AVCHEN & SHAPIRO, LLP

10250 Constellation Boulevard, 19th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90067

Telephone: 310.553.3000

Attorneys for Wynn Resorts, Limited

Electronically Filed
04/22/2013 10:51:22 AM

%;.M

CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED, a Nevada
Corporation,

Plaintiff,
Vs,

KAZUO OKADA, an individual, ARUZE
USA, INC., a Nevada corporation, and
UNIVERSAL ENTERTAINMENT CORP,,

a Japanese corporation,

Defendants.

AND ALL RELATED CLAIMS

Case No.: A-12-656710-B
Dept. No.: XI
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

(Request for Business Court Assignment
Pursuant to EDCR 1.61(a))

(Exempt from Arbitration — Declaratory
Relief Requested)
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Plaintiff Wynn Resorts, Limited (“Wynn Resorts” or “the Company™), b& and through its
undersigned counsel, hereby files the above-captioned Second Amended Complaint:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is an action for breach of fiduciary duty and related offenses committed against
Wynn Resorts by one of its former directors, Kazuo Okada, and his affiliates. Beginning in 2010,
Wynn Resorts began to uncover evidence that Mr. Okada, his companies, and their associates
were engaged in unethical, unlawful, and potentially criminal activities in the Philippines in
connection with the development of a casino resort in that country. The evidence raised
substantial questions as to Mr. Okada’s probity and his suitability to be associated with a
corporation in the casino gaming industry, Because of this, Mr. Okada’s business activities in the
Philippines posed an ongoing and potentially significant risk for Wynn Resorts’ existing and
potential future gaming licenses.

When confronted with the mounting evidence of his wrongdoing, however, Mr. Okada
was evasive, and tried to conceal his misconduct from Wynn Resorts and its Board — a clear
breach of Mr. Okada’s duty to make a full and fair disclosure to the Company of all facts that
materially affect its rights and interests. Mr. Okada also consistently refused to take steps to
address Wynn Resorts’ concerns, either by shutting down his Philippine project or by severing his
ties with Wynn Resorts. By engaging in the wrongful conduct alleged herein while associated
with Wynn Resorts, failing to make full and fair disclosure to the Company and his fellow
directors about the factual circumstances surrounding his business activities in the Philippines,
and refusing to act to protect the Company’s rights and interests when called upon to do so,
Mr. Okada bréached his fiduciary duties to Wynn Resorts. /

In view of Mr. Okada’s inaction and his and his counsel’s refusal to cooperate with the
Company’s investigations or provide any explanation for the troubling evidence that had been
presented to them by the Company and its attorneys, in the fall of 2011, the Compliance
Committee of Wynn Resorts retained former Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation,
Louis J. Freeh, to conduct a comprehensive investigation of Mr. Okada’s business activities in the

Philippines and their potential impact on Wynn Resorts’ interests. As discussed in his written
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report to the Board (attached as Exhibit 1), Mr. Freeh uncovered substantial evidence of gross
improprieties by Mr. Okada and his agents, including evidence that Mr. Okada had made a series ,
of payments to the Philippine gaming regulators with direct responsibility for overseeing
Mr. Okada’s development project. Based on these findings, and upon the advice of two
independent gaming experts, the Board exercised its authority under the Wynn Resorts Articles of
Incorporation to declare Mr. Okada and his affiliates unsuitable and to redeem the Wynn Resorts
stock held by a company that Mr. Okada controlled. In addition to seeking damages for
Mr. Okada’s breaches of fiduciary duty, Wynn Resorts seeks a declaration from this Court that
the Board’s actions in this regard were lawful in all respects.
PARTIES AND RELEVANT PERSONS/ENTITIES

1. Plaintiff Wynn Resorts is and was at all times relevant hereto a corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada, with its principal place of busineés
in the State of Nevada. Wynn Resorts is publicly traded on NASDAQ.

2. Wynn Resorts is a world class developer of destination resort casinos.
Wynn Resorts owns resort casinos through its wholly owned subsidiary Wynn Las Vegas, LLC
(“Wynn Las Vegas”) and through its majority owned subsidiary Wynn Macau, Limited
(“Wynn Macau”).

3. Wynn Las Vegas operates the Wynn Las Vegas and Encore resort casinos in
Las Vegas, Nevada.

4, Wynn Macau is a Cayman Islands company that is publicly traded on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Wynn Macau operates the Wynn Macau and Encore at
Wynn Macau resort casinos in Macau through its wholly owned subsidiary, Wynn Resorts
(Macau), S.A., a company organized and existing under the laws of Macau Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.

5. Defendant Mr. Okada is and was at all times relevant hereto a citizen of Japan and
a member of the Board of Directors of Wynn Resorts. During the relevant period, Mr. Okada
served multiple roles with Wynn Resorts and its affiliated companies. In addition to serving as a

Wynn Resorts director, until February 24, 2012, Mr. Okada was a member of the Board of
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Directors of Wynn Macau, and, until February 18, 2012, he controlled a shareholder that owned
approximately 19.66% of Wynn Resorts. Moreover, between October 2002 and November 201 1,
Mr. Okada served as Vice Chairman of Wynn Resorts. On February 21, 2013, Mr. Okada
resigned as a director of Wynn Resorts, one day before a scheduled special meeting of
Wynn Resorts’ stockholders that had been called to consider and vote on a proposal to remove
Mr. Okada from the Board. The special meeting was held as scheduled, and the removal proposal
was approved by 99.6% of the shares voted at the special meeting.

6. Defendant Aruze USA, Inc. (“Aruze USA”) is and was at all times relevant hereto
a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and a wholly owned
subsidiary of defendant Universal Entertainment Corporation (“Universal”). Until February 18,
2012, Aruze USA was a 19.66% shareholder in Wynn Resorts. Mr. Okada serves as Director,
President, Secretary, and Treasurer of Aruze USA.

7. Defendant Universal (formerly Aruze Corporation) is a public corporation
organized under the laws of Japan. Universal manufactures and sells pachislot and pachinko
machines and other similar gaming equipment. Universal does business in the State of Nevada,
has been issued a manufacturer’s license by the Nevada Gaming Commission, and was deemed
suitable by the Nevada Gaming Commission as a 100% shareholder of Aruze USA. Mr. Okada
serves as Director and Chairman of the Board of Universal, and, together with his family
members, is a 67.9% shareholder of Universal.

8. In February 2012, the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors consisted of twelve
members: Chairman Stephen A. Wynn, Linda Chen, Russell Goldsmith, Dr. Ray R. Irani, former
Nevada Governor Robert J. Miller, John A. Moran, Marc D. Schorr, Alvin V. Shoemaker,
D. Boone Wayson, Elaine P, Wynn, Allan Zeman, and Mr. Okada.

9. Wynn Resorts’ Gaming Compliance Committee (the “Compliance Committee™) is
an internal committee chaired by Governor Miller and consisting of two additional members:
Mr. Schorr (director and Chief Operating Officer of Wynn Resorts) and John Strzemp (Executive

Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of Wynn Resorts). The Compliance Committee
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is charged with assuring Wynn Resorts’ compliance with all laws and regulations, including, in
particular, applicable gaming laws, regulations, and policies.

10.  The Honorable Louis J. Freeh, Esq. is a former director of the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, having led that agency with distinction from 1993 to 2001. Prior to serving as FBI
Director, Mr. Freeh was a United States District Court Judge. In February 2012, Mr, Freeh was a
partner in Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan, LLP — a law firm he founded with two other former federal
judges — which specialized in domestic and foreign corporate investigations and compliance.
Today, Mr. Freeh is a partner and the chairman of the Executive Committee of Pepper
Hamilton LLP.

JURISDICTION

11. Defendants Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA have each individually and in
concert with one another caused the acts and events herein within the State of Nevada, and all are
subject to the jurisdiction of this Court. Venue is also proper in this Court.

12.  This matter is prdperly designated as a business court matter and assigned to the
Business Docket under EDCR 1.61(a), as the claims alleged herein arise from business torts.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

13. A Nevada gaming license is a privilege. Nevada law imposes comprehensive
regulatory requirements upon gaming licensees, including the requirement that persons and
entities associated with the licensee possess the necessary character, qualifications, and integrity
to be suitable to hold that privilege so as not to threaten the public interest or the integxity of the
regulation and control of gaming.

14.  Under the applicable gaming laws and regulations, Wynn Resorts has an obligation
to police itself and to take independent and proactive measures with respect to compliance issues
before it becomes necessary for gaming regulators to take action. Consistent with this regulatory
framework, Wynn Resorts has adopted a compliance program that requires the Compliance
Committee to, among other things, investigate senior officers, directors, and key employees to

protect Wynn Resorts from becoming associated from any unsuitable persons. The compliance

RAPP 203



PISANELLI BICE PLLC

3883 HOWARD HUGHES PARKWAY,

SUITE 800

?

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89169

D - T . T 7 T~ P N Y -

[\ ] [\ (=) N [\ N N N [\ h—i — — — — — oy — — —
O 1 N L W N = O W o Nt s W N - O

program further requires Wynn Resorts to self-report to Nevada gaming regulators with respect to
any significant compliance-related issues that may arise.

15.  As a director of Wynn Resorts (and formerly, through Aruze USA, one of its
largest shareholders), Mr. Okada’s conduct and reputation for probity had a direct impact on the
ability of Wynn Resorts to maintain its Nevada gaming license and to seek additional licenses in
the future. Accordingly, pursuant to Nevada law and its own compliance program, Wynn Resorts
was obliged to monitor Mr. Okada’s business activities to ensure that his association with
Wynn Resorts did not create any regulatory concern.

Okada Announces Plan to Enter Philippine Market

16.  In or about 2008, Wynn Resorts learned that Mr. Okada, through one or more
companies he controlled, had publicly stated his intention to develop a casino resort in the
Philippines. Wynn Resorts was not and has never been an investor or participant in Mr, Okada’s
development project in the Philippines.

17. For a number of reasons, it was highly uncertain whether Mr. Okada’s planned
casino resort in the Philippines would ever come to fruition. The scale of the proposed
development was larger than any comparable project in existence in the Philippines at the time,
and Mr. Okada and the companies he controlled had never developed anything on such a scale
previously. Numerous approvals and licenses from the Philippine government would also be
needed before any project could get off the ground, let alone become operational.

18. In 2008, the Philippines Amusement and Gaming Corporation (“PAGCOR”)
awarded four provisional gaming licenses, without public bidding, in connection with a
development project in the Manila Bay area referred to as Entertainment City. PAGCOR is a
100% government-owned and -controlled corporation that operates under the direct supervision of
the Office of the President of the Philippines and is charged with licensing and regulating casino
gaming in the Philippines. One of the provisional licenses that PAGCOR awarded went to a
newly-formed entity that is 99% owned by Aruze USA, known as Tiger Resort, Leisure and

Entertainment Inc.
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19.  Apart from obtaining a provisional license, however, between 2008 and early
2010, Mr. Okada and his companies made very little apparent progress with respect to the
proposed development in the Philippines. Indeed, on various occasions during that period,
Mr. Okada made statements to Mr. Wynn and others at Wynn Resorts expressing doubt that he
would ever actually develop a casino resort in the Philippines, stating that he had reconsidered.

20.  In this period of time, Wynn Resotts did not know what activities Mr. Okada was
engaged in to promote his Philipping project. As of early 2010, Wynn Resorts had no reason to
suspect that Mr. Okada and his associates would engage in unethical or unlawful conduct, or that
Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines would damage Wynn Resorts or pose a threat to
Wynn Resorts’ gaming licenses. Indeed, Mr. Okada had every reason to conceal his activities,
both because he could be harmed by its exposure, and because Mr. Okada made periodic attempts
in that time period to persuade Wynn Resorts and/or Mr. Wynn to have some degree of
involvement with his Philippine project.

Wynn Resorts Begins to Have Concerns

21.  Beginning in 2010, a number of events occurred to change Wynn Resorts’
perception of Mr. Okada and his Philippine project. In June 2010, as Mr. Wynn was planning to
return from a visit to Macau, Mr. Okada prevailed on Mr. Wynn to make an unscheduled stopover
in Manila in the course of his trip ‘back to the United States. Mr. Wynn had no interest in
involving Wynn Resorts in Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines and agreed to the visit as a
courtesy to Mr. Okada. Mr. Okada abused Mr. Wynn’s courtesy, however, and went to great
lengths to try to associate Wynn Resorts and Mr. Wynn with his Philippine project.

22. Unbeknownst to Mr. Wynn, Mr. Okada had arranged for a public event at his
Manila Bay development site that was to be attended by varioﬁs Philippine government officials.
Mr. Okada conspicuously publicized Mr. Wynn’s attendance at the event by erecting a large sign
that read, “Welcome to the Philippines Chairman Steve Wynn,” and bore the trademarked
corporate logo of Wynn Resorts. Mr. Wynn immediately recognized that Mr. Okada had brought

him to the Philippines under misleading pretenses, and that he had orchestrated the event to send
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the false message to the Philippine government that Wynn Resorts’ good repufation and standing
in the casino resort industry backed Mr. Okada’s development project.

23.  Following Mr. Wynn’s stopover in Manila, and in light of concems that Mr. Okada
was trading on Wynn Resorts’ reputation and creating the false impression that Wynn Resorts had
arole in his Philippine project, management determined to conduct an investigation regarding the
general business environment in the Philippines as part of the Company’s general compliance
program. Management produced a written report and presented it to the Board (including
Mr. Okada) in July 2010.

24.  Based on reports from sources in the U.S. government and local authorities in the
Philippines, as well as intemnational organizations and media, the report concluded that corruption
posed a major problem in the Philippines and that Philippine anti-corruption efforts were
ineffective. Management’s report cited a “Global Corruption Barometer” study that listed the
Philippines in the top quintile of “Countries most affected by bribery.”

25. At this same July 2010 meeting of the Wynn Resorts Board, the other directors
asked Mr. Okada to state his intentions with respect to his casino resort development in the
Philippines. Mr. Okada was evasive, however, and failed to alleviate the Board’s concerns. By
refusing to make full disclosure to the Board about his business activities in the Philippines and
the factual circumstances surrounding those activities, Mr. Okada was able to conceal his
wrongful conduct from the Company and his fellow directors.

26.  Although Wynn Resorts did not appreciate the situation at the time — due to
Mr. Okada’s lack of candor — 2010 was a critical period for Mr, Okada’s project in the
Philippines. Effective June 30, 2010, Benigno S. Aquino III assumed office as President of the
Republic of the Philippines, succeeding Gloria M. Arroyo. Soon thereafter, President Aquino
appointed Cristino L. Naguiat, Jr. to replace Efraim C. Genuino as the Chairman of PAGCOR.

27.  In July 2010, reports surfaced in the Philippine press that at the behest of the new
President, Mr. Naguiat was investigating certain “midnight deals” that had been approved by his
predecessor. Specifically, in his final weeks as Chairman, Mr. Genuino, with the support of

then-President Arroyo, had caused PAGCOR to award several gaming licenses and related
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concessions on an abnormally expedited basis. Among the Beneﬁciaries of these deals was
Mr. Okada, who received a special exemption allowing an Okada-controlled company to take title
to the land on which his casino resort was to be built. Without the exemption, Mr. Okada’s
company would have been subject to Philippine law prohibiting foreign investors from owning
land. A decision by Mr. Naguiat to revoke the exemption, therefore, would have significantly
impaired Mr, Okada’s project in the Philippines.

28.  Despite direct inquiry by Wynn Resorts management, the Company was not made
aware of these events until 2011, when it began to receive certain third-party investigative reports
discussed below. Mr. Okada still has never made a full or fair disclosure to the Company deépite
the material effects his activities in the Philippines have had on Wynn Resorts’ rights and
interests.

Wynn Resorts Receives Further Evidence of Mr. Okada’s Misconduct

29. By mid-2010, Wynn Resorts had no definitive proof of wrongdoing by Mr. Okada
or his associates. Mr. Okada’s continued evasiveness, however, coupled with substantial
concems about widespread corruption in the Philippines, caused Wynn Resorts to determine that
further inquiry was warranted.

30.  Accordingly, in early 2011, Wynn Resorts retained a well-known investigative
organization, The Arkin Group LLC (“Arkin Group”), to further examine the risks associated
with doing business in the Philippines and to investigate Mr. Okada’s activities in that country.
Arkin Group summarized its findings in a series of written reports that were provided to
Wynn Resorts in February 2011.

31.  Based on its investigation, which included interviews of Philippine officials and
other industry and government contacts, Arkin Group concluded that official corruption in the
Philippines — particularly in the gaming industry — was “deeply ingrained” and that “official
corruption at some level accompanies most if not all major business deals and transactions in the
Philippines.” In support of these conclusions, Arkin Group cited, among other sources, the 2010
Transparency International Corruption Percentage Index, which rated the Philippines at the lower

end of the index, 134th out of 178 countries surve\yed. The Arkin Group observed that this rating
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placed the Philippines “on par “ﬁth Nigeria, Honduras, Azerbaijan and Bangladesh” in terms of
the pervasiveness of government corruption.

' 32, As for Mr. Okada’s activities, Arkin Group found that Mr. Okada was “perceived
as touting his relationship with Wynn Resorts as a means to generate a positive reputation and
high profile” and “proving his and Aruze’s credibility.” The Arkin Group’s reports also discussed
the land title exemption that Mr. Okada had obtained in the final days of the administrations of
PAGCOR Chairman Genuino and Philippine President Arroyo, and explained that such “midnight
deals” were at that time “receiving significant media attention and scrutiny” in the Philippines.

33. The Wynn Resorts Board discussed the results of the Arkin Group’s investigation
at a Board meeting held on February 24, 2011. Mr. Wynn advised the Board that Mr, Okada
(whb was present for the meeting) had arranged for him to meet with Philippine President
Aquino. Based on the information the Board had received about endemic corruption in the
Philippines, the independent directors unanimously advised Wynn Resorts management that any
involvement in the Philippines was inadvisable and strongly recommended that the meetit}g with
President Aquino be cancelled. Management agreed with the Board’s recommendation.
Mr. Okada, however, was embarrassed and angry about having to cancel the arrangements he had
made with President Aquino.

34. At the same Board meeting, in the course of an update from Wynn Resorts’
general counsel on the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), Mr. Okada stated that he
personally rejected Wynn Resorts’ anti-bribery rules and regulations, as well as legal prohibitions
against making such payments to government officials. Mr. Okada also stated that paying bribes
to government officials was a common business practice in certain Asian countries, and that the
important thing was to channel such illegal payments through third parties. Given that such
conduct is prohibited by law in virtually every Asian country, as well as the United States, this
was a shocking statement for Mr. Okada to make.

35.  Mr. Okada responded to the rift he had opened with the other Board members
through such comments by counter-attacking. At a Board meeting held on April 18, 2011,

Mr, Okada was the lone director to vote against a proposed charitable gift to the University of

10
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Macau Developmént Foundation. At the time, Mr. Okada’s stated concern related solely to the
length of the commitment, not its propriety. Mr. Okada has subsequently asserted, however, that
the charitable gift violated the FCPA, and he has sued Wynn Resorts in this Court seeking
documents and records related to the Board’s decision to authorize the charitable gift. These
claims are baseless, and they are designed to divert attention from Mr. Okada’s own misconduct
and breaches of fiduciary duty.

36.  Mr. Okada’s business activities in the Philippines were again discussed at a
Wynn Resorts Board meeting held on July 28, 2011. At that time, Mr. Okada confirmed to the
Board that notwithstanding his fellow directors’ stated concems, he was proceeding with his
Philippine project. Wynn Resorts’ independent directors expressed great concern regarding
probity issues attendant to Mr. Okada’s decision to do business in the Philippines and the possible
adverse effect that Mr. Okada’s involvement in the Philippines would have on Wynn Resorts.
The Board was advised that the Compliance Committee had engaged a second independent
firm — Archfield Limited (“Archfield”) — to further investigate these issues.

37.  The Compliance Committee reviewed the results of Archfield’s investigation at a
meeting held on September 27, 2011. The reports from Archfield deepened the Compliance
Committee’s concerns about Mr. Okada’s involvement in the Philippines.

38.  Asdescribed therein, Archfield’s investigation identified additional anomalies and
apparent improprieties related to Mr. Okada’s business activities in the Philippines. Among other
things, Archfield reported that a gaming license had been granted to Mr. Okada’s company
notwithstanding that Mr. Okada did not appear to have a Philippine business partner, as required
by Philippine law. In addition, Archfield cited reports that former Chairman Genuino, with the
support of former President Arroyo, had paved the way for Mr. Okada to obtain title to the land
on which his casino resort was to be located in a clear reversal of Philippine policy on foreign
investment.

39.  Archfield also reported that former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino, the government
official who had authorized Mr. Okada’s gaming license and who had direct regulatory authority

over Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines, had been removed from office and was under
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investigation for potential misconduct. This was particularly troubling for the Compliance
Committee given the report from Archfield that former Chairman Genuino and former
President Arroyo were “strongly rumored to have profited from their relationship with Okada.”

40. A few days later, at the direction of the Compliance Committee, Wynn Resorts
management met with Mr. Okada’s attomeys, including Robert Faiss of the Lionel Sawyer firm,
to discuss Wynn Resorts’ concerns relative to Mr, Okada’s business activities in the Philippines
and the potential adverse effect of those activities on Wynn Resorts’ privileged status as a gaming
licensee. At this meeting, the Wynn Resorts representatives made clear that Mr. Okada’s alleged
activities in the Philippines posed substantial risks for Wynn Resorts and needed to be explained
post haste. Wynn Resorts’ concems were ill-received, and the meeting was not productive.
Mr. Okada’s representatives refused to disclose the full factual circumstances surrounding his
business activities in the Philippines, much less provide an explanation for those activities that
might somehow address the Company’s concerns.

41.  Around this same time, Wynn Resorts was preparing to hold a training session for
its directors regarding the FCPA. The training session was scheduled for Oc'tober 31, 2011, the
day before a scheduled in-person Board meeting, and Mr. Okada (through his assistant) had
previously sent an RSVP indicating that he would attend. Six days before the session, however,
Mr. Okada requested that the training materials be translated into Japanese (despite his previous,
long-term practice of translating all materials on his own) and that the date of the session be
moved (despite that it had been planned around his previous confirmation). Wynn Resorts
accommodated Mr. Okada’s first request by obtaining a Japanese translation of the training
materials and arranging for professional translators to be available to assist Mr. Okada at the
session. Ultimately, however, although he was present at the Board meeting held the very next
day, Mr. Okada was the sole Board member who failed to attend the FCPA training session in
October 2011, with all other directors appearing in person or telephonically. Mr. Okada likewise
was the sole Board member to not attend a similar FCPA training session held in 2012.
Mr. Okada’s refusal to attend these training sessions further demonstrates his disregard for his

obligations as a director of a company in a highly regulated gaming industry.
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42. At this point, even if there was insufficient evidence in hand at that time to prove
misconduct by Mr. Okada in the Philippines, it was clear that Mr. Okada had set himself on a
course against the rest of the Board and was acting without regard for the best interests of
Wynn Resorts.  Accordingly, in October 2011, management was authorized by the Board to
request Mr. Okada’s resignation as a director. Mr. Okada refused.

43. On November 1, 2011, in light of Mr. Okada’s failure to attend mandatory FCPA
compliance training, acknowledge the Company’s internal compliance policies, or to address the
Company’s serious concerns and inquiries about potentially dangerous and illegal activities in the
Philippines, the Board (apart from M. Okada) voted unanimously to remove Mr. Okada from his
Vice Chairmanship and to leave the office vacant.

44.  The Board and management have reiterated their request that Mr. Okada resign his
directorship on various occasions between October 2011 and the present date. Mr. Okada has
consistently refused to do so. At a special meeting of the Wym Resorts stockholders held on
February 22, 2013, 99.6% of the shares voted at the meeting were cast in favor of a proposal to
remove Mr. Okada from the Wynn Resorts Board.

Former FBI Director Freeh Investigates

45. By late 2011, the Compliance Committee was sufficiently concerned to seek

further assistance in determining the propriety of Mr. Okada’s activities in the Philippines.

Accordingly, on October 29, 2011, the Compliance Committee determined to retain Mr. Freeh
and his colleagues at Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan LLP to conduct a rigorous investigation.

46.  Over a three-month period, Mr. Freeh and/or his colleagues made several trips to
the Philippines and Macau, reviewed thousands of pages of documents, emails, and public
records, and conducted dozens of interviews, including of every independent director on the
Wynn Resorts Board. By early 2012, Mr. Freeh and his team had uncovered detailed prima facie
evidence of serious wrongdoing by Mr. Okada and his associates.

47.  On February 15, 2012, Mr. Freeh conducted a full-day, in-person interview of
Mr. Okada in Tokyo. Mr. Okada was accompanied by counsel, the former United States Attorney

for the Central District of California. Following the interview, Mr. Freeh advised Mr. Okada and
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his counsel that he would be reporting his findings to the Wynn Resorts Board on February 18,

2012, and invited Mr. Okada to present Mr. Freeh with any exculpatory evidence that might be

available.

At the Board meeting, Mr. Frech made a detailed presentation and provided the

directors with copies of his 47-page written report, outlining the following improprieties, among

others:

Since 2008, Okada and his associates have made multiple payments to and on
behalf of the Philippines’ chief gaming regulators at PAGCOR, the government
officials who directly oversee and regulate Mr. Okada’s licensing agreement to
operate in the Philippines.

For example, records reviewed by Mr. Frech revealed 36 separate instances, from
May 2008 to through June 2011, where Mr. Okada or his associates/affiliates made
payments exceeding $110,000 that directly benefitted senior PAGCOR officials.
This included payments to former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino, current
PAGCOR Naguiat, and their family, friends, and associates.

On one particular occasion in September 2010, Mr. Okada arranged for newly

appointed PAGCOR Chairman Naguiat, his wife, his three children, their nanny,

and other senior PAGCOR officials (one of whom also brought his family) to stay
at Wynn Macau. Mr. Okada and his associates refused to provide Wynn Macau
management with the name of Chairman Naguiat and tried to conceal his identity.
At Mr. Okada’s associates’ request and Mr, Okada’s direction, Chairman Naguiat
and his entourage were provided with the most expensive accommodation, food,
and star treatment. In addition, Mr. Okada’s associates asked that each guest be
provided a $5,000 advance, in cash, during their stay. Following the stay,
Mr. Okada’s associates requested that Wynn Macau reduce the excessive charges
because they feared an investigation and did not want Mr. Okada or his companies

to get in trouble. Wynn Macau refused.
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49,

There is substantial evidence that Mr. Okada, his asséciatcs, and companies may
have arranged and manipulated ownership and management of legal entities in the
Philippines under his control, in a manner that may have enabled the evasion of
Philippine constitutional and statutory requirements.

Moreover, close associates and consultants of the former PAGCOR administration
attained positions as corporate officers, directors, and/or nominal shareholders of
entities controlled by Mr. Okada and, in some cases, served as links between
Mr. Okada and the former PAGCOR Chairman.

Mr. Okada has stated his personal rejection of Wynn Resorts’ anti-bribery policies
and applicable anti-bribery laws to his fellow Wynn Resorts directors. Despite
being advised by members of the Wynn Resorts Board and the Company’s counsel
that making payments and providing gifts to foreign government officials is strictly:
prohibited, Mr. Okada has expressed a willingness to engage in such conduct when
doing business in Asia.

The nature of Mr. Okada’s gaming license in the Philippines requires continued
oversight by PAGCOR officials. Mr. Okada thus has a strong and continuing
motive to maintain favorable relations with the Chairman and other senior officials
of PAGCOR. ‘ .

Despite being invited to present exonerating evidence regarding these matters, |

Mr. Okada provided no such evidence at his interview with Mr. Freeh in Tokyo or subsequently.

Moreover, Mr. Freeh concluded and advised the Board that Mr. Okada lacked credibility in the

statements he did make concerning his conduct.

N

50.

The Wynn Resorts Board Redeems Aruze USA’s Shares

The conduct detailed in Mr., Freeh’s report is conduct of a type that, when engaged

in by a person affiliated with a licensed entity, puts the entity’s existing and prospective gaming

licenses at risk. The Board was so advised by two independent experts on Nevada gaming law.
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51.  Thus, following Mr. Freeh’s presentation,.the Wynn Resorts Board deliberated at
length and unanimously (except for Mr. Okada) adopted resolutions finding Mr. Okada,
Universal, and Aruze USA to each be an “Unsuitable Person” under Wynn Resorts’ Second
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (the “Articles of Incorporation™ or “Articles”). ‘

52. An “Unsuitable Person” is defined in Article VII of the Articles as any “Person
who . . . in the sole discretion of the board of directors of the Corporation, is deemed likely to
jeopardize the Corporation’s or any Affiliated Company’s application for, receipt of approval for,
right to the use of, or entitlement to, any Gaming License.”

53. Having found Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA unsuitable under the
Articles, the Board had an affirmative obligation under the applicable gaming laws and
regulations to take action to protect the gaming licenses and approvals of Wynn Resorts and its
affiliates. The specific course of action that was available to the Board is set forth in Article VII
of the Artiéles, which provides that following a determination of unsuitability, “[t]he Securities
Owned or Controlled by an Unsuitable Person or an Affiliate of an Unsuitable Person shall be
subject to redemption by the Corporation, out of funds legally available therefor, by action of the
board of directors, to the extent . . . deemed necessary or advisable by the board of directors. . . .”

54.  On the basis of these express provisions in the Articles, on February 18, 2012,
following Mr. Freeh’s presentation and the Board’s finding of unsuitability with respect to
Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA, the Board voted to redeem and cahcel all of Aruze USA’s
shares of Wynn Resorts stock. In exchange, as expressly permitted by the Articles, the Board
unanimously (except for Mr. Okada) determined to issue to Aruze USA a promissory note with a
face value of approximately $1.936 billion and paying interest at 2% per year as provided for in
the Articles. |

Further Evidence of Mr. Ohada’s Wrongdoing Comes to Light Post-Redemption

55.  Following the Board’s unsuitability finding and redemption of Aruze USA’s
shares, further evidence has reportedly come to light revealing the true extent of Mr. Okada’s
breach of fiduciary duty and lack of disclosure regarding his activities in the Philippines. It has

been widely reported in the press that Mr. Okada and his companies are the subject of multiple
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pending investigations rélating to the development of Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines. The
FBI, the Nevada Gaming Control Board, and the Philippine Department of Justice, among many
other organizations, are reportedly gathering additional evidence that Mr. Okada’s companies
paid bribes to Philippine gaming regulators at PAGCOR and their associates to facilitate the
development of Mr. Okada’s casino resort in Manila Bay.

56. At the center of the new evidence that has reportedly come to light is Rodolfo
Soriano, a former consultant to‘PAGCOR and a close business associate of former PAGCOR
Chairman Genuino. Mr. Freeh’s report to the Wynn Resorts Board in February 2012 described
Mr. Soriano as a “bag man” for Mr. Genuino. Mr. Soriano is often referred to by his nickname,
“Boysie.”

57.  The evidence reportedly uncovered in the ongoing investigations shows that, in or
about 2009, Mr. Okada and his companies made a strategic “shift to Boysie” to jumpstart the
lagging progress at their Philippine development site. This shift in strategy, it has been reported,
involved Okada-controlled companies paying up to $40 million in bribes to companies controlled
by Mr. Soriano in order to secure benefits from PAGCOR and the Arroyo 'administration that -
were essential to the viability and profitability of Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines. Of
course, the factual circumstances of these transactions were never disclosed to the Wynn Resorts
Board despite their unquestionable material effect on the Company’s righté and interests.

58.  News reports indicate that on January 14, 2010, Mr. Okada’s company transferred
$10 million to Subic Leisure and Management (“Subic Leisure™), a Soriano-controlled company
registered in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Okada’s company transferred an additional
$15 million to Subic Leisure on March 3, 2010, and a further $10 million to Subic Leisure in or
about early May 2010. And, it has been reported that Mr. Okada’s company transferred
$5 million to a Hong Kong shell company named People’s Technology Holding Ltd., of which
Mr. Soriano was the sole shareholder. '

59.  The Asahi Shimbun, one of the largest national newspapers in Japan, has reported
that these money transfers were reported to senior management at Universal and were approved

by its board of directors. According to these Asahi Shimbun reports, the money transfers were
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discussed at a Universal board meeting and expressly approved in a board resolution that
Mr. Okada himself signed as the Chairman of Universal. Again, the factual circumstances of
these transactions were never disclosed to the Wynn Resorts Board despite their unquestionable
material effect on the Company’s rights and interests.

60.  Other news reports indicate that in exchange for these illicit payments, between
late 2009 and early 2010, Mr. Okada’s companies won concessions on three critical issues related
to the Philippine project. In No.vember 2009, PAGCOR, through its then-Chairman Genuino,
brokered a land swap that Mr. Okada’s company needed to move ahead with construction of its
casino resort. Then, in or about February 2010, then-Philippine President Arroyo signed a
presidential order that permitted foreign investors such as Mr. Okada to have 100-percent
ownership of casinos. Finally, around the same time, the Philippine government approved an
application for corporate tax relief by Mr. Okada’s company. _

61.  This additional evidence that has reportedly come to light in the ongoing
government investigations is entirely consistent with and supplements the findings contained in
Mr. Freeh’s report to the Wynn Resorts Board, as detailed above. This additional evidence is
consistent with Mr. Okada’s statements to the Wynn Resorts Board in February 2011, discussed
above, regarding Mr. Okada’s perspective on anti-corruption laws and regulations and his
willingness to pay bribes through intermediaries while doipg businesé in certain Asian countries,
Because Mr. Okada engaged in this reported misconduct while he was associated with
Wynn Resorts, this additional information further demonstrates Mr. Okada’s failure to provide
full and fair disclosure to the Board of the factual circumstances surrounding his and his affiliates’
business dealings in the Philippines, and further supports Wynn Resorts’ claim for breach of
fiduciary duty.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
{Breach of Fiduciary Duty)
(Wynn Resorts against Mr. Okada)
62. Wynn Resorts repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1

through 61 above as though fully set forth herein.
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63.  As a director of Wynn Resorts, at all relevant times Mr. Okada owed fiduciary
duties to Wynn Resorts under NRS 78.138 and the common law. Those duties included, without
limitation: (a) the duty not to engage in conduct that was likely to damage the corporate interests
of Wynn Resorts; (b) the duty to act in the best interests of Wynn Resorts, as opposed to
advancing his own personal interests; and (c) the duty to make full disclosure to Wynn Resorts
and his fellow directors about his business activities in the Philippines and to avoid concealment
of his wrongful conduct where the interests of Wynn Resorts were concerned.

64.  As set forth herein, Mr. Okada violated his fiduciary duties in several material
ways during the period of 2008 to the date hereof. These violations of Mr, Okada’s duties were
intentionally concealed by him, however, and were not discovered by Wynn Resorts until various
times after 2010, as set forth in more detail herein. Indeed, the details of Mr. Okada’s wrongful
conduct are still coming to light today through the ongoing investigative efforts of government
and regulatory authorities worldwide.

65. Mr. Okada’s breaches of fiduciary duty arise from his plan to have entities he
personally controls develop and operate a resort casino in the Philippines. Specifically, the
breaches occurred when, in furtherance of these plans, Mr. Okada engaged in conduct that was
unethical, unlawful, and apparently criminal. '

66. By engaging in such conduct while he was a director of Wynn Resorts, and indeed
while he held the title of Vice Chairman of Wynn Resorts, Mr. Okada directly, knowingly, and
intentionally damaged the interests of Wynn Resorts. This is because Wynn Resorts must be
licensed as an entity in order to operate in the casino industry in Nevada, Macau, and in other
jurisdictions in which Wynn Resorts may seek to operate casino resorts in the future. Such
licensure, both existirig and prospective, is put at grave risk by unethical, unlawful, and/or
criminal conduct by any persons who serve as directors of the regulated entity. By engaging in
conduct that could have resulted in risk to Wynn Resorts’ existing and prospective licenses,
Mr. Okada struck at the heart of Wynn Resorts’ corporate interests in clear violation of his duty to

protect and advance the interests of Wynn Resorts.
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67.  Mr. Okada further demonstrated his willingness to damage Wynn Resorts, and his
contempt for his fiduciary duties, by concealing his wrongful conduct from Wynn Resorts and by
refusing voluntarily to resign and sever his links with Wynn Resorts when requested to do so.
This conduci compounded Mr. Okada’s other breaches of duty. In particular, despite requests to
do so at Board meetings and in conversations with senior executives of Wynn Resorts, Mr. Okada
refused to supply information about his activities in the Philippines and indeed refused to confirm
even that he had determined to proceed with his Philippine project. In addition, through his
counsel, Mr. Okada refused to cooperate with the Company’s investigations regarding his
activities in the Philippines or to provide any explanation for the troubling evidence that was
brought to Mr. Okada and his counsel’s attention by Wynn Resorts and its attorneys.

68.  Rather than providing full and fair disclosure, Mr. Okada purposefully covered his
tracks to prevent Wynn Resorts from discovering the extent of his questionable conduct.
Mr. Okada knew that if he was forthcoming with the Company and his fellow directors, and did
not evade their questions about his business activities in the Philippines, Wynn Resorts would
undoubtedly take action to protect itself. Specifically, Mr. Okada did not wish for the
Wynn Resorts Board to use its power under Article VII of the Articles of Incorporation to’redeem
the shares he owned through Aruze USA, nor did Mr. Okada wish for Wynn Resorts to
commence the process of removing him as a director by a two-thirds shareholder vote (the only
way in whiéh Mr. Okada could be removed against his will under Nevada law). Mr. Okada’s lack
of candor — when he owed the Company a duty of full and fair disclosure of the factual
circumstances surrounding his business dealings in the Philippines — amounted to an
independent breach of Mr. Okada’s fiduciary duties.

69, In addition, Mr. Okada breached his fiduciary duties by refusing, in 2011 and
2012, to attend the training sessions that Wynn Resorts arranged for its directors to ensure that
they are familiar with Wynn Resorts’ duties to be compliant with all applicable laws and
regulations, and to avoid corrupt conduct. By repeatedly evading such compliance education

without valid excuse, Mr. Okada not only made it more difficult for Wynn Resorts to demonstrate
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the commitment of its Board to compliance, but he also further manifested his positibn that
anti-cdrruption laws are irrelevant and of no importance to Mr. Okada.

70.  Mr. Okada’s breaches of duty involved intentional misconduct and knowing
violations of law.

71.  As a result of Mr. Okada’s violations of his fiduciary duties, Wynn Resorts has
suffered harm. In particular, Mr. Okada’s violations of duty, once suspected and/or discovered,
required Wynn Resorts: (a) to investigate his conduct, including to retain the services of three
investigative firms; and (b) to take action pursuant to Nevadé law and to Wynn Resorts’ Articles
to protect the corporation from Mr. Okada’s breaches of duty. Wynn Resorts has been damaged
by having to incur and pay the costs associated with these efforts to limit and repair the threatened
damage to Wynn Resorts caused by Mr. Okada’s course of conduet.

72.  As direct and proximate result of Mr. Okada’s acts and omissions, Wynn Resorts
has suffered and will continue to suffer direct, incidental, and consequential damages, in an
amount to be proven at trial, but in any event, in excess of $10,000, plus prejudgment interest.

73.  In committing the acts herein above alleged, Mr. Okada is guilty of oppression,
fraud, and malice toward Wynn Resorts. As such, Wynn Resorts is entitled to recover punitive
damages from Mr. Okada for, inter alia, the purpose of deterring him and others similarly situated
from engaging in like conduct.

74, As a result of the acts and omissions of Mr. Okada, Wynn Resorts has been
compelled to hire the services of an attorney for the protection of its interests.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Aiding and Abetting Brea'ch of Fiduciary Duty)
(Wynn Resorts against Universal and Aruze USA)

75. Wynn Resorts repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in Paragraph 1
through 74 ébove as though fully set forth herein,

76.  As a director, Mr. Okada owed Wynn Resorts a fiduciary duty of loyalty which, as

alleged herein, he breached.
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77.  Universal and Aruze USA knowingly paﬁicipated in Mr. Okada’s breaches of
fiduciary duty by facilitating and/or actively participating in the unethical, unlawful, and/or
criminal conduct described herein, which conduct has threatened to undermine Wynn Resorts’
reputation as well as its existing and prospective gaming licenses.

78.  As a direct and proximate result of Universal’s and Aruze USA’s acts and
omissions in aiding and abetting Mr. Okada’s breaches of duty, Wynn Resorts has suffered and
will continue to suffer direct, incidental, and consequential damages in an amount to be proven at
trial, but in any event, in excess of $10,000, plﬁs prejudgment interest.‘

79.  In committing the acts herein above alleged, Universal and Aruze USA are guilty
of oppression, fraud, and malice toward Wynn Resorts. As such, Wynn Resorts is entitled to
recover punitive damages from Universal and Aruze USA for, inter alia, the purpose of deterring
them and others similarly situated from engaging in like conduct.

80.  Asa result of the acts and omissions of Universal and Aruze USA, Wynn Resorts
has been compelled to hire the services of an attorney for the protection of its interests.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Declaratory Relief - NRS Chapter 30)
(Wynn Resorts against Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA)

81.  Wynn Resorts repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1
through 80 above as though fully set forth herein.

82.  To be deemed “suitable” under Nevada gaming law, the applicant must be: (a) a
person of good character, honesfy and integrity; (b) a person whose prior activities, criminal
record, if any, reputation, habits and associations do not pose a threat to the public interest of the
State of Nevada or to the effective regulation and control of gaming; and (c) must have adequate
business probity, competence, and experience, in gaming or generally.

83. Section 3.090 of the Nevada Gaming Regulations provides that a license,
registration, and suitability finding requires, among other things, a person of “good character,
honesty, and integrity” and one “whose background, reputation and associations will not result in

adverse publicity for the State of Nevada and its gaming industry ... .”
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84.  Even after a suitability finding, Regulation 3.080 provides that “[t]he commission
may deny, revoke, suspend, limit condition or restrict any registration or finding of suitability oi-
application therefor upon the same grounds as it may take such action with respect to licenses,
licensees and licensing; without exclusion of any other grounds.”

85.  In recognition of the central importance of its gaming license to the affairs of the
corporation, the Articles of Incorporation affofd the Wynn Resorts Board the “sole discretion” to
take certain action to protect the gaming licenses and approvals of Wynn Resorts and its affiliates.
Under the Articles, an ““Unsuitable Person’ shall mean a Person who . . . in the sole discretion of
the board of directors of the Corporation, is deemed likely to jeopardize the Corporation’s or any
Affiliated Company’s application for, receipt of approval for, right to the use of, or entitlement to,
any Gaming License.”

86.  Following a determination of unsuitability, the Articles of Incorporation provide
that “[tlhe Securities Owned or Controlled by an Unsuitable Person or an Affiliate of an
Unsuitable Person shall be subject to redemption by the Corporation, out of funds legally
available therefor, by action of the board of directors, to the extent . . . deemed necessary or
advisable by the board of directors. If. .. the board of directors deems it necessary or advisable,
to redeem any such Securities, the Corporation shall give a redcmptioh Notice to the Unsuitable
Person or its Affiliate and shall purchase on the Redemption Date the number of shares of the
Securities specified in the Redemption Notice for the price set forth in the Redemption
Notice ....”

L 87.  On February 18, 2012, after receiving Mr. Freeh’s written report and considering
his presentation and the advice of expert gaming counsel, the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors
deliberated at length and thereafter adopted resolutions that: (a) determined that Mr. Okada,
Universal, and Aruze USA were likely to jeopardize Wynn Resorts’ and its affiliated companies’
existing and prospective gaming licenses; (b) deemed Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA to

be “Unsuitable Persons” under the Articles of Incorporation; and (c) redeemed Aruze USA’s
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REPORT
Attorney — Client / Work Product / Privileged and Confidential

I. Introduction

Wynn Resorts, Limited ("Wynn Resorts"), a publicly traded company incorporated in the State of Nevada, on behalf of its
Compliance Committee, retained Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan, LLP ("FSS") on November 2, 2011 to conduct an independent
investigation. That independent investigation has been conducted under the sole direction of the Compliance Committee. The purpose
of the investigation was to determine whether there is evidence that Mr. Kazno Okada, a member of the Wynn Resorts Board of
Directors, may have: (i) breached his fiduciary duties to Wynn Resorts; (ii) engaged in conduct that potentially could jeopardize the
gaming licenses of Wynn Resorts; and/or, (iii) violated the Wynn Resorts compliance policy. Specifically, FSS has been asked to
examine Mr. Okada's efforts in connection with the creation of a gaming establishment in the Republic of the Philippines.

This is the Report (o the Compliance Committee Chairman on the results of FSS' investigation. As set forth with greater detail
in the attached appendix, FSS has performed its investigation by interviewing dozens of individuals and by reviewing thousands of
documents, electronic emails, corporate and public records.

II. Summary

The investigation has produced substantial evidence that:

1. Despite being advised by the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors and Wynn Resorts attorneys on the strict US anti-
bribery laws which govern Wynn Resorts and its board, Mr. Okada strongly believes and asserts that when doing
business in Asia, he should be able to provide gifts and things of value to foreign government officials, whether
directly or by the use of third party intermediaries or consultants.

2. Mr. Okada, his associates and companies have arranged and designed his corporate gaming business and operations in
the Philippines in a manner which appears to contravene Philippine Constitutional provisions and statutes that require
60% ownership by Philippine nationals, as well as a Philippine criminal statute.

3. Mr. Okada, his associatcs and companics appear to have cngaged in a longstanding practice of making payments and
gifts to his two (2) chief gaming regulators at the Philippines Amusement and Gaming Corporation ("PAGCOR"),
who directly oversee and regulate Mr. Okada's Provisional Licensing Agreement to operate in that country. Since
2008, Mr. Okada and his associates have made multiple payments to and on behalf of these chief regulators, former
PAGCOR Chairman Efraim Genuino and Chairman Cristino Naguiat (his current chiefl regulator), their families and
PAGCOR associates, in an amount exceeding US 110,000. At times, Mr. Okada, his
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associates and companies have consciously taken active measures to conceal both the nature and amount of these
payments, which appear to be prima facie violations of the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA"). In
one such instance in September 2010, Mr. Okada, his associates and companies, paid the expenses for a luxury stay at
Wynn Macau by Chairman Naguiat, Chairman Naguiat's wife, their three children and nanny, along with other senior
PAGCOR officials, one of whom also brought his [amily. Mr. Okada and his staff intentionally attempted to disguise
this particular visit by Chairman Naguiat by keeping his identity "Incognito” and attempting to get Wynn Resorts to
pay for the excessive cosis of the chief regulator's stay, fearing an investigation. Wynn Resorts rejected the request by
Mr. Okada and his associates to disguise and to conceal the actual expenditures made on behalf of Chairman Naguiat.

Additionally, Mr. Okada, his associates and companics appear to have engaged in a pattern of such prima facie
violations of the FCPA. For example, in 2010 it also is possible that Mr. Okada, his associates and companies made
similar payments to a Korean government official who oversees Mr. Okada's initial gaming investment in that
country. Additional investigation is needed to develop and confirm these possible FCPA violations.

The prima facie FCPA violations by Mr. Okada, his associates and companies constitute a substantial, ongoing risk to
Wynn Resorts and to its Board of Directors, creating regulatory risk, conflicts of interest and potential violations of
his fiduciary duty to Wynn Resorts. Finally, Mr. Okada's documented refusal to receive Wynn Resorts requisite FCPA
training provided {o other Directors, as well as his failure to sign an acknowledgment of understanding of Wynn
Resorts Code of Conduct, increase this risk going forward.

Mr. Okada insisted in his interview that all of his gaming efforts in the Philippines prior to the change of the
presidential administration in the summer of 2010 were undertaken on behalf of and for the benefit of Steve Wynn and
Wynn Resorts. This assertion is contradicted by press releases dating back to 2007 on his website, which announce an
independent effort by Universal; his real estate investments; and the ownership of his corporations in the Philippines.

(7) Mr. Okada has stated that Universal paid expenses related to then-PAGCOR Chairman Genuino's trip to Beijing
during the 2008 Olympics.
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III. Kazuo Okada's Relevant Corporate Affiliations

A. Wynn Resorts

After an initial public offering which closed in October 2002, Aruze USA, Inc., controlled by Mr. Okada, became a 24.5%
shareholder of Wynn Resorts. Mr. Okada's current ownership of Wynn Resorts through his control of Aruze USA, Inc. is 19.66%.

Mr. Okada became a member of the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors on Qctober 21, 2002, and remains on the Board of
Directors as of the date of this Report. In the past, Mr. Okada has used the title of Vice Chairman of Wynn Resorts. In Qctober 2011,
the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors eliminated the position of Vice Chairman.

As a Director of Wynn Resorts, Mr. Okada is entitled to receive the courtesy of what is called a "City Ledger Account.”
Such accounts were originally instituted as a result of Sarbanes Oxley's prohibition of extensions of credit, in the form of a personal
loan from an issuer to an officer or director. The accounts were funded by deposits from the director or his company. Such an account
exists for billing conveniences related to charges incurred at various Wynn Resorts locales. Mr. Okada has availed himself of this
courtesy and established such a City Ledger Account.! Within Wynn Resorts, this Okada City Ledger Account is referred to either as
the "Universal City Ledger Account” or as the "Aruze City Ledger Account.” Accordingly, the phrases Universal City Ledger
Account and Aruze City T.edger Account will be referred to interchangeably within this report despite the fact that Aruze Corp.’s name
was changed to Universal Entertainment Corporation in November of 2009.

Mr. Okada has been found to be suitable by the Nevada Gaming Commission.?

B. Universal Entertainment Corporation of Japan

Mr. Okada currently serves as Director and Chairman of the Board of Universal Entertainment Corporation ("Universal
Entertainment"), registered in Tokyo, Japan. Universal Entertainment Corporation is the current trade name of a company which was
incorporated in 1969 as Universal Lease Co. Ltd. and which became Aruze Corp. in 1998. Aruze changed its

71 The initial wire 1o establish the Aruze Corp. City Ledger Account was dated February 15, 2008,

“Mr. Okada was originally found to be suitable as a sharcholder of Aruze Corp. as part of An Order of Registration issued jointly by the State Gaming Control
Board and the Nevada Gaming Commission on Juné 4, 2004. On June 5, 2005, in a similar order, the Nevada Commission and the State Gaming Control
Board found Aruze Corp. to be (1) suitable as a controlling shareholder of Wynn Resorts, Limited, (2) suitable as the sole shareholder of Aruze USA, Inc.,

(3) that Aruze USA, Inc. is registered as an intermediary company and is found suitable as a shareholder of Wynn Resorts, Limited, and (4) that Mr. Okada is
suitable as a shareholder and controlling shareholder of Aruze Corp. [See Appendix]
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name to Universal Entertainment Corporation in November 2009. Universal is listed on the JASDAQ stock exchange and is engaged

in the manufacture and sale of pachinko and gaming machines and related business activities. As of September 2011, Okada Holdings
Godokaisha was Universal Entertainment's major shareholder, with 67.90% of the issued shares.

The Nevada Gaming Commission has approved Universal Entertainment's suitability as the 100% shareholder for a
subsidiary, Aruze USA, Inc.

C. Aruze USA, Inc.

Aruze USA, Inc. ("Aruze USA") is a wholly owned subsidiary of Universal Entertainment. Aruze USA is a US company and
was incorporated in the State of Nevada on June 9, 1999. Mr. Okada is a Director of Aruze USA and serves as its President, Secretary,
and Ireasurer.

Aruze USA has been found suitable by the Nevada Gaming Commission as a major shareholder of Wynn Resorts.

D. Aruze Gaming America, Inc.

Aruze Gaming America, Inc. is a private company that is 100% personally owned by Mr. Okada. He currently serves as a
Director, Secretary, and Treasurer of the company. Aruze Gaming America, Inc. is a US company and was incorporated on
February 7, 1983. The company changed its name from Universal Distributing of Nevada, Inc. to Aruze Gaming America, Inc. on
January 6, 2006. Aruze Gaming America, Inc. shares a common business address with Aruze USA, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada.

E. Business Interests in the Republic of the Philippines

Since 2008, Mr. Okada has been involved with a variety of corporate entities and with various business associates in the
creation of a gaming establishment in an area of the Philippines known as Entertainment City Manila.? In furtherance of this endeavor,
Mr. Okada and his associates have procured land and a provisional gaming license in the Philippines. A more detailed review of
Mr. Okada's corporate entities and business associates in the Philippines is set forth in Section V(2)(A) below.

F. Business Interests in the Republic of Korea

Mr. Okada has recently pursued development of a casino resort complex in the Incheon Free Economic Zone in the Republic
of Korea. A more detailed review of Mr. Okada's activities in Korea is set forth in Section V(4) below.

® On the Universal Entertainment website (viewed January 30, 2012)‘this project is referenced as "Manila Bay Resorts.” [See Appendix]
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IV. Relevant Legal and Policy Standards

A. ECPA

‘The United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA”) contains two primary categories of violations: (i) a books and
records prov151on and (ii) a bribery prov151on Based upon available information, it seems clear that Aruze USA fits the definition of
domestic concern® and United States person® provided in the FCPA, and that the FCPA applies both to Aruze USA and to Mr. Okada
personally, in his capacity as an officer and director of Aruze USA.

Under the definitions of domestic concern and United States person, the statute applies to a corporation, partnership,
unincorporated organization and other enumerated entities that have their principal place of business in the United States or which are
organized under the laws of a State of the United States. It also applies to officers and directors of such concerns.

In 1998, the FCPA was amended and added an altemativc basis to interstate commerce for jurisdiction. As the United States
District Court for the Southem District of New York wrote: . The amendments expanded FCPA coverage to any person’ — not just
issuers' or domestic concerns'. [A]ny United States person or entity violating the Act outside of the United States 1s subject to

prosecution, regardless of whether any means of interstate commerce were used. Citing 15 USC 78dd-1, 78dd-2. (Emphasis added.)’
Under this definition, Aruze USA is a covered party under the FCPA.

The FCPA provides that "[i]t shall be unlawtul for any domestic concern, other than an issuer which is subject to section
78dd-1 of this title, or for any officer, director, employee, or agent of such domestic concern or any stockholder thereof acting on
behalf of such domestic concern, to make use of the mails or any meaus or instrumentality of interstate commerce corruptly in
furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment of any money, or offer, gift, promise to give, or
authorization of the giving of anything of value to—

(1)  any foreign official for purposes of—

A)

41U.8.C. 78 dd — 2(a),(h).

5
31U.S.C. 78 dd —2(i).

n

61U.5.C.78 dd - 2(g).

5
7 [ re Grand Jury Subpoens, 218 F. Supp. 2d 544, 550 (S.D.N.Y 2002).

n
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(i) influencing any act or decision of such foreign official in his official capacity,
(ii) inducing such foreign official to do or omit to do any act in violation of the lawful duty of such official, or
(iii) securing any improper advantage; or

(B) inducing such foreign official (o use his influence with a foreign government or instrumentality thereof to affect or influence any
act or decision of such government or instrumentality, in order to assist such domestic concem in obtaining or retaining business for or
with, or directing business to, any person;”

The head of PAGCOR fits within the definition of foreign official as used in the FCPA.

According to PAGCOR's websitc, it "is a 100 percent government-owned and controlled corporation that runs under the
direct supervision of the Office of the President of the Republic of the Philippines.” In addition to prescribing mandates to generate
revenue for certain government programs and promote tourism in the Philippines, PAGCOR's charter states that the entity will *
[rlegulate, authorize and license games of chance, games of cards and games of numbers, particularly casino gaming, in the
Philippines."'® (Emphasis added.)

As set forth above, there is siill the interstate commerce basis for jurisdiction, but there is also an alternative. The alternative
would require the same elements for an offense, but a showing of interstate commerce would not be required. If the interstate
commerce basis for jurisdiction were used, the analysis set forth below would be of significance.

With regard to means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, some of the facts referred to in this report pertain to
Mr. Okada utilizing the Universal City Ledger Account to confer financial benefits upon Philippine gambling regulators who could
affect the business interests of Aruze USA, Inc. in the Philippines. Some of those benefits were conferred at Wynn Macau. The
following facts concerning the Universal City Ledger Account, which bear upon use of means or instrumentalitics of interstate
commerce, were established during the investigation:

L The account is maintained at the corporate offices of Wynn Resorts, Limited in Las Vegas, Nevada where periodic deposits
arc made from Universal into the Wynn Resorts, Limited operating account at Bank of America in Las Vegas, Nevada to
ensure that the amount on deposit remains at or about US 100,000. Bank documents reflect that the deposits are received
from a Universal Entertainment account located in Japan."

8 15U.S.C. Section 78dd — 2(a).

¢ http://www.pagcor.ph/pageor-faqs-profile. php, viewed January 18, 2012. [See Appendix]}
' Ihid., viewed January 18, 2012. [See Appendix]
! See, e.g. wire transfer documents from Sumitomo Mitsurni Bank to Bank of America. [See Appendix]
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L When charges are incurred at Wynn Macau, Wynn Macau tracks all charges for the Universal City Ledger Account on its
books, and then the accounting department transfers the charges to accounting at Wynn Resorts, Limited in Las Vegas via a
journal entry. Wynn Macau sends a pdf file to a staff accountant at Wynn Resorts, Limited in Las Vegas with all the backup
documentation. Invoices issued by Wynn Resorts, Limited are periodically sent to a Universal Entertainment email address. ™

B. Nevada Gaming Regulations and Wynn Resorts Policies

The question of whether or not a gaming licensee or licensee applicant is deemed "suitable” in Nevada is answered by
reviewing the Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS") in conjunction with the regulations promulgated by the Nevada Gaming Commission
("NGC"), which is empowered by the NRS." :

1. Legislative Authority

) The standard for determining suitability is found in Section 463.170 of the NRS. Paragraph (2) of the NRS 463.170, entitled
Qualifications for license, finding of suitability or approval, regulations, provides that the person secking a license or a suitability
determination is subject to the following considerations: "[a]n application (o receive a license or be found suitable must not be granted
unless the Commission is satisfied that the applicant is: (a) A person of good character, honesty and integrity; (b) A person whose
prior activitics, criminal record, if any, reputation, habits and associations do not pose a threat to the public interest of this State or to
the effective regulation and control of gaming." In addition, paragraph (3) provides in pertinent part "[a] license to operate a gaming
establishment or an inter-casino linked system must not be granted unless the applicant has satisfied the Commission that: (a) [tThe
applicant has adequate business probity, competence and experience, in gaming or generally.”

The Nevada Gaming Commission Regulations ("Nevada Gaming Regulations") are also relevant to the conditions placed
upon suitability. According to Section 3.080 of the Nevada Gaming Regulations, entitled Unsuitable affiliates, "[t]he commission may
deny, revoke, suspend, limit, condition or restrict any registration or finding of suitability or application therefor upon the same
grounds as it may take such action with respect to licenses, licensees and licensing; without exclusion of any other grounds."
Paragraph (1) of Section 3.090, entitled

“Ina ‘Wynn Resorts Memorandum to File from the Corporate Accounting department, dated January 10, 2012, the “invoice{s] and all support documentation
. are emailed to kimiko.okamura@hq.universal-777.com, takashi usami @hq.universal-777.com and iwayama.hidetsugu@hg.universal-777.com on the 5% of

each month for the prior month [sic] activity." [See Appendix]

" For frther advice regarding suitability, please consult directly with David Amrajj, Esq. and/or see Memo dated December 9, 2011 from Kate Lowenhar-

Fisher, Esq. and Jamie L. Thalgott, Esq. to David Arrajj, Esq. re Associations and the Suitability Analysis. [See Appendix]

7

WYNNO00013927

RAPP 121



REPORT
Attorney — Client / Work Product / Privileged and Confidential

Standards for commission action, provides in pertinent part that "[n]o license, registration, finding of suitability, or approval shall be
granted unless and until the applicant has satisfied the commission that the applicant: (a) Is a person of good character, honesty, and
integrity; (b) Is a person whose background, reputation and associations will not result in adverse publicity for the State of Nevada and
its gaming industry; and (c) Has adequate business competence and experience for the role or position for which application is made."

2. Underlying Corporate Documents of Wyrin Resorts

The Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Wynn Resorts, Limited (filed September 16, 2002) also
provide for standards that seek to define an "Unsuitable Person.” As set forth on page 8 of the Articles of Incorporation, the phrase
Unsuitable Person "shall mean a Person who . . . in the sole discretion of the board of directors of the Corporation, is deemed likely to
jeopardize the Corporation’s or any Affiliated Company's application for, receipt of approval for, right to the use of, or entitlement to,
any Gaming License.” (Emphasis added.)

Finally, the Amended and Restated Ganing and Compliance Program of Wynn Resorts, Limited (adopted as of July 29,
2010) defines an Unsuilable person as a "[plerson (i) who has been denied licensing or other related approvals by a Gaming Authority
on the grounds of unsuitability or who has been determined to be unsuitable to be associated with a gaming enterprise by a Gaming
Authority; or (ii) that the Company determines is unqualified as a business associate of the Company or its Affiliates based on,
without limitation, that Person’s antecedents, associations, financial practices, financial condition or business probity."

In the event of a finding of unsuitability, there are provisions within the aforementioned corporate documents that provide
for a resolution post determination. Specifically, on page 6 of the Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Wynn
Resorts, Limited, the Articles state in pertinent part, "[t]he Securities Owned or Controlled by an Unsuitable Person or an Affiliate of
an Unsuitable Person shall be subject to redemption by the Corporation, out of funds legally available therefor, by action of the board
of directors, to the extent required by the Gaming Authority making the determination of unsuitability or to the extent deemed -
necessary or advisable by the board of directors. If a Gaming Authority requires the Corporation, or the board of directors deems it
necessary or advisable, to redeem any such Securities, the Corporation shall give a Redemption Notice to the Unsuitable Person or its
Affiliate and shall purchase on the Redemption Date the number of shares of the Securities specified in the Redemption Notice for the
Price set forth in the Redemption Notice." The Articles provide further guidance as (o the terms of the redemption.

In addition, according to Section 3.6 of the Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws, effective as of November 13, 2006, the
removal of a director is premised upon . . . the )
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affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the voting power of the issued and outstanding stock of the
Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (voting as a single class)." Resignation is also listed as an option
"upon giving written notice, unless the notice specifies a later time for effectiveness of such resignation, to the chairman of the board,
if any, the president or secretary, or in the absence of all of them, any other officer."

C. Wynn Resorts Code of Business Ethics

Wynn Resorts first adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on May 4, 2004. The document defines itself as "a
statement of policies for the individual and business conduct of the Company's employees and Dircctors.""* There are two sections of
the Code that are relevant to this investigation: (i) conflict of interest and (i1) interaction with government officials. The sections are
included below for reference purposes.

1. Conflict of Interest:

"A Contflict of interest occurs when your private interests interfere, or even appear to interfere, with the interests of the Company. A
conflict situation can arise when you take actions or have interests that make it difficult for you to perform your Company work
objectively and effectively. Your obligation to conduct the Company's business in an honest and ethical manner includes the ethical
handling of actual, apparent and potential conflicts of interest between personal and business relationships. This includes full
disclosure of any actual, apparent or potential conflicts of interest as set forth below.

Special rules apply to executive officers and Directors who engage in conduct that creates an actual, apparent or potential conflict of
interest. Before engaging in any such conduct, executive officers and Directors must make full disclosure of all facts and
circumstances to the Corporate Secretary, who shall inform and seck the prior approval of the Audit Committee of the Board of .
Directors.” ’

2. Interacting with Government:

Prohibition on Gifts to Government Officials and Employecs

"Different governments have different laws restricting gifts, including meals, entertainment, transportation and lodging, that may be
provided to government officials and government employees. You are prohibited from providing gifts, meals or anything of value to
government officials or employees or members of their families in connection with Company business without prior written approval
from the Compliance Officer."

14 ‘Wynn Resorts Code of Business Conduct and Ethics dated May 4, 2004, page 7. [See Appendix]
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Bribery of Government Officials

"The Company's Policy Regarding Payments to Foreign Officials, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the "FCPA™), and the laws
of many other countries prohibit the Company and its officers, employees and agents from giving or offering to give money or
anything of value to a foreign official, a foreign political party, a party official or a candidate for political office in order to influence
official acts or decisions of that person or entity, to obtain or retain business, or to secure any improper advantage. Please refer to the
Company's Policy Regarding Payments to Foreign Officials for more details regarding prohibited payments to foreign government
officials.”

Discipline for Violations:

"The Company intends to use every reasonable effort to prevent the occurrence of conduct not in compliance with its Code and to halt
any such conduct that may occur as soon as reasonably possible after its discovery. Subject to applicable laws and agreements,
Company personnel who violate this Code and other Company policies and procedures may be subject to disciplinary action, up to
and including discharge.” (Emphasis added.)

The Code has since been revised twice, once in 2009 and then again on November 1, 2011. Although the above sections have
been expanded in these later editions, for the purpose of this investigation and the dates in question the substance has remained
basically the same and the FCPA has continued to be a point of emphasis.

V. Report of Investigation
1. Mr. Okada's Attitude Toward Wynn Resorts Compliance Requirements

Mr. Okada's prima facie violalions of FCPA, involving both his government regulators in the Philippines and possibly in
Korea, do not appear to be accidental or based upon a misunderstanding of anti-bribery laws. Conversely, despite being advised by
fellow Wynn Resorts Board members and Wynn Resorts counsel that payments and gifts to foreign government officials are strictly
prohibited, Mr. Okada has insisted that there is nothing wrong with this practice in Asian countries. Mr. Okada has stated his personal
rejection of Wynn Resorts anti-bribery rules and regulations, as well as legal prohibitions against making such payments to
government officials, to fellow Wynn Resorts Board members.

In a February 24, 2011 Wynn Resorts Board of Directors ("Board") meeting at which Mr. Okada was present, after a lengthy
discussion by the Board of the FCPA," including specifically the Universal project in the Philippines and potential Wynn Resorts'
involvement, "[tThe

15 14 an email from Kim Sinatra to Michiaki Tanaka, dated February 26, 2011, Ms. Sinatra referenced a meeting with Mr. Okada in which she furnished
FCPA policy and training materials and reiterated the importance of strict compliance with the FCPA. [See Appendix]
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independent members of the board unanimously advised management that any involvement {by Wynn Resorts] in the Philippines
under the current circumstances was inadvisable."'® During this discussion, Mr. Okada challenged the other board members over
statements regarding the impermissibility under the FCPA of giving gifts abroad in return for favorable treatment, and made
statements about hiring "third party consultants" to give gifts to officials."”

One board member recalled Mr. Okada stating that, in Asia, one must follow the local culture, and that is why one should
hire "consultants” to give the gifts.'® This board member understood Mr. Okada to mean that such use of consultants would help avoid
prosecution under the FCPA. Another board member who was present recalled Mr. Okada stating that conducting business in the
Philippines was all a matter of "hiring the right people” to pay other people.*Yet another board member recalled Mr. Okada being
"adamant” during the FCPA discussion that it is not corrupt to give "gifts.”* A board member who participated in the meeting by
phone recalled Mr. Okada claiming that, in the Philippines, "business is done in a different manner, and sometimes you have an
intermediary’ that will do whatever he has to do," or words to that effect.” A different board member recatled being “"shocked" by the
contradiction between two of Mr. Okada's statements during this discussion.”” Early in the discussion, Mr. Okada explained that there
were no longer corruption issues in the Philippines with the new administration. However, Mr. Okada subsequently stated, in effect,
that while he himself would not pay bribes, he would "hire someone else” to bribe the necessary person.

Pursuant to a chain of emails reviewed by FSS, commencing with an email on August 4, 2011 from Roxane Peper, Director
of Intellectual Property and Corporate Records, to each of the board members (or their representatives), and ending with an email from
Ms. Peper to Kevin Tourek, Senior Vice President and Corporate Counsel, on October 26, 2011, the following is clear:*®

u All board members were notificd of upcoming FCPA training/board meeting set for October 31 — November 1, 2011 and
asked to confirm attendance by August 31, 2011.

n Mr. Okada, through two of his representatives, was emailed at least three (3) scparate times before Shinobu Noda, his
assistant, sent an email on September 15, 2011 confirming that Mr. Okada would attend.

If Minutes of Wynn Resorts Board of Directors meeting, February 24, 2011, p.3. [Sce Appendix]
7 Interview of Steve ‘Wynn, November 7, 2011,

** Interview of Robert J. Miller, December 16, 2011.

'19 Interview of Alvin V. Shoemaker, December 20, 2011.

fu Interview of Marc D. Schorr, December 20, 2011.

2 Interview of Allan Zeman, December 21, 2011,

2.2 Interview of D. Boone Wayson, December 20, 2011.

? See emails from Roxane Peper to Kevin Tourek on October 26, 2011. [See Appendix]
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Subsequent to the confirmation, Ms. Peper received an email from Ms. Noda on October 25, 2011. Ms. Noda stated that the
email contained a message to Kim Sinatra, Senior Vice President and General Counsel of Wynn Resorts, from Mr. Okada.? This part
of the message was entirely in Japanese and had to be translated. Mr. Okada asked for the FCPA training materials to be provided in
Japanese. He also stated that he would be arriving on "Monday [October 317", which was the day the FCPA training was to
commence. He asked if the training could be held after the board meeting or rescheduled. Kim Sinatra sent a response to Ms. Noda via
email on October 25, 2011 thanking Mr. Okada for the note and stating further that the FCPA iraining materials had been translated
and would be provided to him via email and that Wgnn Resorts had made further arrangements to have the FCPA live training
translated to Japanese via simultaneous translation.™ She also stated that the date of the training could not be rescheduled because it
had been planned around his previous confirmation and that outside counsel was coming to Las Vegas to provide the raining.

Mr. Okada failed to attend the training on October 31, 2011. He was the only member of the board not in attendance (all
others attended in person or via telephone dial-in as evidenced via a sign-in sheet).”

2. Gaming Establishment in the Philippines

Evidence obtained in the course of the investigation establishes that Mr. Okada, his associales and companies, may have
arranged and manipulated the ownership and management of legal entitics in the Philippines under his control, in a manner that may
have enabled the evasion of Philippine constitutional and statutory requirements. It is also noted that Mr. Okada’s two principal
Philippine corporations, Eagle 1 Landholdings, Inc. and Eagle 11 Holdco, Inc., which may have been purposefully created to
circumvent Philippine constitutional restrictions on foreign ownership of land, appear to be closely intertwined with Rodolfo Soriano,
Paolo Bombase and Manuel M. Camacho, who have numerous common ties to former PAGCOR Chairman Efraim Genuino. For
example, with regard to Eagle II Holdco, Inc., as late as 2010, Platinum Gaming and Entertainment ("Platinum") had acquired 60% of
its shares. According to a dated filing by Platinum on file with the Philippine SEC, Rodolfo Soriano controlled 20% of Platinum at the
time of its incorporation. Mr. Soriano, referred to by attorney Camacho as a "bag man" for then-Chairman Genuino, is a former
PAGCOR consultant and respondent in PAGCOR corruption referrals (see page 15 infra). Similarly, Paolo Bombase, an officer,
director and nominal shareholder of Eagle I Landholding, Inc. and Eagle II Holdco., Inc. has a 1.25% share of Ophiuchus Real
Properties Corp. This Ophiuchus entity is 15% owned by a Philippine company named SEAA Corp. In turn, SEAA is the family-
controlled company of former PAGCOR Chairman Efraim Genuino. At this time, the significance of this inierlocking shareholder link

** See email from Shinobu Noda to Roxane Peper dated October 25, 2011. [See Appendix]
2’? See email from Kim Sinatra to Shinobu Neda dated October 25, 2011. [See Appendix]
% See T'CPA Training Sign-In sheet dated October 31, 2011. [See Appendix]
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between Mr. Okada, his former Philippine gaming regulator, and the regulator's associates is not known.

A. Corporate Links between Mr. Okada's Business Interests and Those of Philippine Government Officials

Close associates and consultants of the former Genuino PAGCOR administration eventually attained positions as corporate
officers, directors and/or nominal shareholders in legal entities controlled by Mr. Okada, and, in some cases, served as links between
the business interests of Mr. Okada and those of former PAGCOR chairman Efraim Genuino and members of Genuino's immediate
family.

In order to better understand the interrelationships among corporate entities in the Philippines controlled by Mr. Okada and
those controlled by PAGCOR officials and their associates, FSS requested the Philippines law firm of M. M. Lazaro & Associates
("Lazaro") to produce a study of this issve.” Drawing upon official records obtained from the Philippines Securities and Exchange
Commission, Lazaro produced an analysis of the relationships created by the ownership and control structures of these entities.” The
chart below, extracted from that analysis, illustrates these relationships in schematic form.

= Manuel Lazaro was formerly a government corporate counsel with the rank and privileges of a Philippine presiding justice, court of appeals, who FSS
retained to assist in the investigation and to advise on certain aspects of Philippine law. [Sce Appendix]
The complete Lazaro PPT is attached to this report. [See Appendix]
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.

ML ENEAGOINTN

Tiger Resorts, Leisure and Entertainment, Inc. ("Tiger") was incorporated in the Philippines on June 13, 2008.” Its primary
purpose was stated as:

"To acquire, own, maintain, operate and/or manage hotels (city and resort), inns, apartments, private clubs, pension
houses, convention halls, lodging houses, restaurants, cocktail bars, and any and all services and facilities related
or incident thereto.

Tiger is predominantly owned by Aruze USA, Inc.” In August 2008, PAGCOR granted Tiger a Provisional Licensing Agreement to
operate a gaming establishment in the Entertainment City Manila Zone. An official of the current PAGCOR administration told FSS in
December 2011 that PAGCOR was currently reexamining this license.™

?9 Articles of Incorporation of Tiger. [See Appendix]

* Ibid. [See Appendix]

3! GIS of Tiger, 2010. [See Appendix]

3 Combined interview of J ay Daniel R. Santiago and Thadeo Francis P. Hernando, on December 12, 2011. It should be noted that after the interview with
Santiago and Hernando, FSS along with its Philippine counsel, for purposes of this investigation, formally requested a copy of the Provisional Licensing
Agreement from PAGCOR, as well as other related documents. On the same date that the formal request was made. PAGCOR refused to supply a
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Eagle I Landholdings, Inc. ("Eagle I") was mcorporated in the Philippines on May 16, 2008 with § partners of the
Philippines law firm Sycip Salazar Gatmaitan ("Sycip”) as the shareholders, directors and officers. By certification on September 5,
2008, the original shareholders were all replaced by, among others, Eagle 11 Holdco, Inc. ("Eagle I1"), with approximately 60%
ownership. Eagle II maintained this E‘e':rcenta ge of ownership of Eagle I through the f111ng of the latest available General Information
Statement ("GIS") for the year 2010.™ Eagle I's 2009 GIS, filed September 17, 2009, indicates that Paolo Bombase, Manuel N,
Camacho and Rodolfo V. Soriano (whose associations with PAGCOR and Mr. Genuino are explained below) all had hccomc officers/
directors and nominal stockholders of Eagle I they retained this status through the filing of the latest GIS for Eagle L» Aruze USA,
Inc. first appears as the owner of apprm(]matcly 40% of Eagle I as of the 2010 GIS, owning the share prewou%ly owned by Molly
Investments Cooperative UA ("Molly").*

Eagle IT's (ilings with the Philippines Securities and Exchange Commission indicale a history similar to that of Eagle I.
Incorporated on May 19, 2008 by the same 5 Sycip partncrs, %" Eagle 1 reflected the acquisition of approximately 60% of its shares by
Platinum Gaming & Entertamment Corp. ("Platinum") on its GIS tiled September 17, 2009, with Platinum owning the same
percentage as of the 2010 GIS.” The same filings reflect the appearance--in 2009 and continuing through the 2010 filing--of Messrs.
Camacho, Soriano and Bombase as officers/directors and nominal shareholders. In 2010 Aruze USA, Inc. appears with the 40%
shareholding that was attributed to Molly in 2009.%

Platinum was incorporated in the Philippines on November 21, 2001, with a Certificate of Filin% of Amended Articles of
Incorporation ("AOI") issued by the Philippines Securities and Lxchange Commission on June 10, 2002.™ Platinum has no GIS on file
with the Philippines Securities and Exchange Commission, and the only corporate document filed besides the Articles of Incorporation
is the 2004 Financial Statement. The latest information on file lists Mr.

copy of Tiger's Provisional 1.icensing Agreement, saying that they were bound by a non-disclosure clause. That refusal was signed by Francis P. Hernando,
who is identified below as a PAGCOR employee, who stayed in Wynn Macau in June 2011 and had US 709.72 of expenses paid for by the Aruze City Ledger
account. See Letter of Request and Tetter of Refusal. [See Appendix]
8 Amclcs of Incorporation of Eagle I. [Sce Appendix]
* GIS of Eagle I for years 2009 and 2010. [See Appendix] A GIS is required to be filed on an annual basis according to Section 141 of the Corporation Code
of the Philippines. [See Appendix]
3 Ibid. [See Appendix]
* Ibid. [See Appendix]; FSS has determined Molly to be a wholly owned subsidiary of Aruze Corp. See http://www.universal-777 com/enir/ir_lib/material/
annual 20081119.pdf, page 32.
~" Articles of Incorporation of Eagle II. [See Appendix]
e GIS of Eagle IT, years 2009-2010. [See Appendix]
* GIS of Eagle I1, 2010. [See Appendix]
Axticles of Incorporation of Platinum, as amended June 10, 2002. [See Appendix]
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Soriano, a former PAGCOR consultant, as a director/officer and a 20% sharcholder in Platinum.*!

Messrs. Camacho, Bombase and Soriano are all directly associated with former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino in significant
ways. Mr. Camacho is an aitorney and a principal of the Manila law firm Camacho & Associates. He was for a time in a law
partnership with Mz. Genuino's son, Erwin Genuino.” Mr. Camacho traveled to Japan with Mr. Soriano at then PAGCOR Chairman
Genuino's behest, to meet with Mr. Okada and other representatives of Aruze. This meeting resulted in Mr. Camacho's firm replacing
Sycip in representing Aruze with respect to the development of the project in Entertainment City Manila.”

Sometime subsequent to this meeting, Aruze wired retainer funds to the bank account of Mr. Camacho's firm, an account
controlled jointly by Mr. Camacho and Erwin Genuino. Later, Mr. Camacho discovered that all or most of these funds had been
withdrawn by Erwin Genuino. When he questioned this withdrawal, he was eventually told by Mr. Soriano and/or then PAGCOR
Chairman Genuino that the funds had been withdrawn to be used as a "cash payoff" to the mayor of the municipality in which the
Entertainment City Manila project is located, in order to facilitate approval of the use of some plots of land to build roads needed for
Mr. Okada's casino project. Mr. Camacho claims to have had a falling out with Erwin Genuino and Mr. Soriano, and to be involved
currently in a lawsuit against Erwin Genuino over the dissolution of their law partnership.* Erwin Genuino is named as a respondent,
along with former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino, in two sworn corruption referrals ("PAGCOR Referrals") filed with the Republic of
the Philippines Department of Justice ("IOJ”) in the summer of 2011 by the current PAGCOR Administration.*

Mr. Bombase, also an attorney, is an officer/director and shareholder of Ophiuchus Real Properties Corporation
("Ophiuchus"), incorporated in April 2011.*According to its 2011 GIS, Ophiuchus was 15% owned by SEAA Corporation ("SEAA™.
“ SEAA, which was registered with the Philippine SEC on December 3, 1997, is, according to its 2011 GIS, 100% owned by
members of former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino's immediate family.*” The Articles of

4l M. M. Lazaro & Associatos, "Aruze Corporations in the Philippines and Related' Corporations”, p. 18. [Sec Appendix]

4, Interview of M. Camacho, December 13, 2011.

“ In his discussion with ESS, Mr. Camacho referred to the firm only as "Aruze," not further defined.

“ Although Mr. Camacho, who is in his seventies, failed to recall some details of his dealings with Mr. Genuino and Mr. Soriano, FSS credits the general
account given by him during the December 13, 2011 interview.

%5 See PAGCOR Referrals. [See Appendix]

% Articles of Incorporation of Ophiuchus. [See Appendix]

7 GIS of Ophiuchus, 2011. [See Appendix]

“* GIS of SEAA, 2011, [Sée Appendix]
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Incorporation of Ophiuchus also list Emilio Marcelo as an officer/director and shareholder.”” Mr. Marcelo is named as a respondent in
the PAGCOR Referrals.™

Mr. Soriano is a former PAGCOR consultant, named by Mr. Camacho as a close business associate and "bag man" for
Mr. Genuino.™ Mr. Soriano is also named as a respondent in the PAGCOR Referrals. > As of the latest information filed with the
Philippines Securities and Exchange Commission in 2002, Mr. Soriano was a 20% shareholder and an officer/director of Platinum,™
identified above as a 60% shareholder in Eagle II. If Mr. Soriano stiil held the same stake in Platinum when it acquired its share of
Eagle I in 2009, then he became an effective owner of 12% of Eagle II and approximately 7% in Eagle L.

B. Apparent Evasion of Republic of Philippines I.egal Requirements

As described in the preceding section, Mr. Okada caused various legal entities to be incorporated in the Philippines, in order
to develop his casino resort project there, over time replacing the original incorporating Filipino shareholders with combinations of
foreign shareholders affiliated with or controlled by him and associates of then-PAGCOR Chairman Genuino. As discussed below,
there are constitutional and statutory requirements in the Republic of the Philippines requiring that purchasers of land be Philippines
citizens or Filipino-owned legal entities, and that legal entities conducting business in the Philippines, with certain exceptions, be at
least 60% Filipino owned.

In 2008, Eagle 1 purchased various tracts of land near Manila Bay totaling approximately 30 hectares at a total price of PHP
13,527,637,941.00 (approximately US 314,953,000.00) for the development of the project in Entertainment City Manila.>

At FSS' request, Lazaro prepared an analysis and opinion on the validity of Eagle I's ownership of these properties, in light of
the aforementioned provisions of the Philippines Constitution and applicable statutes.” The analysis included a detailed review of the
ownership and capitalization of Eagle 1 and associated entities described in the preceding section. The following is a summary of
pertinent findings of the Lazaro analysis.

4 Articles of Incorporation of Ophiuchus. {See Appendix]
*® See PAGCOR Referrals. [See Appendix]
! Interview of M. Camacho, Dec 13, 2011.
%2 Sec PAGCOR Referrals. [Sec Appendix]
% Articles of Incorporation of Platinum, as amended June 10, 2002. The 2001 Articles of Incorporation list four (4) additional 20% shareholders, identified as
Filipino nationals. Because Platinum has not filed a GIS since 2002, the current ownership and control of Platinum is unknown. [Sce Appendix |
3 Numbered Transfer Certificates of Title ("TCT") for Eagle I purchase of land tracts in Parafiaque City, Philippines, dated August 19, 2008. [See Appendix]
5 M. M. Lazaro & Associates. Memo re "Validity of Eagle I's Ownership of Real Estate Properties” ("Ownership Memo"), Jan 2012. [See Appendix]
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A review of the 2009 Financial Statement of Eagle I disclosed that the funds used to purchase the land tracts appear to have
been advanced by Molly.*

Platinum, the 59.99% owner of Eagle II, has filed no records with the Philippines Securities and Exchange Commission
indicating that its paid-in capital ever increased beyond the original PHP 62,500, despite its amended Articles of Incorporation
indicating that its authorized capital stock was increased from the initial PHP 1,000,000.00 to PHP 24,000,000.00.”” Nor is it known
today what person(s) or entities have controlled Platinum since incorporation in 2001. .

The 1987 Constitution of the Philippines requires that only Philippines citizens or corporations with at least 60% of their
capital stock owned by Filipinos are qualified to acquire land in the Philippines.* The Philippines Foreign Investment Act further
requires that for a corporation to be considered a Philip£in€5 national, at least 60% of its capital stock outstanding and entitled to vote
must be owned and held by citizens of the Philippines.”

Whenever facts or circumstances create doubt as to whether the ownership of 60% of a corporation is truly Filipino,
Philippines Securities and Exchange Commission case law has held that a stringent examination of the true ownership of the voting
stock of the subject corporation and of the true ownership of the voting stock of all successive layers of corporate ownership should be
conducted. The application of this stringent standard is known as the "Grandfather Rule."®

Serious doubts are therefore raised about the actual Filipino equity of Eagle I, because of the appearance that Eagle I and
Eagle II were created purposely to "...circumvent the constitutional restriction on foreign ownership of land."®! Lazaro bases this
assertion on its conclusion that "Platinum appears to be merely a shell corporation used to satisfy the Filipino equity requirement.
Application of the Grandfather Rule would therefore be appropriate.

n62

Applying the Grandfather Rule, Lazaro calculates the true percentage of Filipino versus foreign equity in Eagle I as
illustrated in the following table:*

Si' Ibid, p. 2. [See Appendix]

*7 1bid, pp. 5-6. [Sce Appendix]
% Ibid, p. 8. [See Appendix]

* Ibid, pp. 9-10. [See Appendix]
“ 1bid, pp. 11-14. [See Appendix]
¢! Ibid, p. 14. [See Appendix]
 Ibid, pp. 14-15. [See Appendix]
5 Ihid, p. 15. [See Appendix]
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Total Total
Filipino investment Foreign investment

Shareholder Direct Indirect in Eagle [ in Eagle I

24%

(40% of 60% total
holdings of Fagle [ 64%
in Eagle I) :

40% of

Aruze USA Eagle I

36%

(60% of 60% total
Platinum* holdings of Eagle II 36%
in Eagle I)

*As noted above, Platinum has failed to file its annually required GIS with the Philippine SEC since its inception in 2001. The
calculations in the above table prepared by Lazaro assume the "best case” scenario (for Platinum), i.e., that it is a truly 100% Filipino-
owned corporation. If Platinum's actual Filipino ownership is less than 100%, then the percentage of Filipino investment in Eagle 1
would be correspondingly even less than calculated in the table.

Lazaro concludes (hat "...the foregoing shareholder structure appears to have been formulated by the parties as a legal
scheme to justify the qualification of Eagle I to own real estate propertics. The scheme employed...gives Aruze USA, Inc....a
convenient vehicle to justify its ownership...in circumvention of the constitutional restriction on the foreign ownership of land."*
Lazaro goes on to conclude that the apparent shareholder structuring scheme outlined above may also constitute a violation of
Commonwealth Act No. 108, commonly known in the Philippines as the "Anti-Dununy Law."® If convicted of a violation of this law,
stockholders of Platinum and of Aruze USAG. Inc. who profited from the scheme would face a sentence of imprisonment of not less
than tive years nor more than fifteen years.*

From the foregoing discussion, there is substantial evidence and credible legal opinion indicating that the ownership
structure of Eagle I and Eagle II may subject Mr. Okada, along with his associates and companies, to civil as-well as criminal
sanctions under Philippine law.

 Ibid, p. 16. [See Appendix]
% Thid, pp. 16-17. [See Appendix]
% Ibid, p. 17. [See Appendix]
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3. Apparent FCPA Violations Regarding Philippine PAGCOR Officials at Wynn
Resort Properties

FSS has reviewed records of the Aruze City Ledger Account, through which Mr. Okada and Universal charge expenses for
lodging, entertainment and other incidentals incurred at Wynn Resorts facilities against funds deposited into the account by Universal,
and available underlying documentation furnished by Wynn Resorts management. The table below highlights thirty-six (36) separate
instances, from May, 2008, through June 2011 (more than a three (3) year period), when Mr. Okada, his associates and companies
made payments exceeding US 110,000, which directly benefitted senior PAGCOR officials, including two chairmen and their family
members.

Name Relationship to Location(s) and Total Charged to
PAGCOR/Phil. Date(s) of Stay(s) | Aruze City Ledger

Gov't. Account (in US)
Ifraim C. Genuino | Former PAGCOR Chairman (February 2001 to June 30, 2010)) WM June 6-9 2010 1,870.64
Cristino L. Naguiat Jr. PAGCOR Chairman WM Sep 22-26 2010 See Suzzanme
(July 2, 2010 to Bangsil®

Present)

WLV Nov 15-20 2010 5,380.86
WM June 6-10 2011 3,909.80
Dinner (Naguiat Party)| Chairman (PAGCOR) WM Sep 24 2010 1,673.07

(IHosted by and
charged to Kazuo

Okada)
Maria Teresa Wife of PAGCOR WM June 6-10 2011 1,039.31
Socorro Naguiat Chairman Cristino
1. Naguiat Jr.
guzzaplrég: Wife of Rogelio Bangsil, PAGCOR WM Sep 22-26 2010 50,523.22
angsi
Jose Miguel Husband of former WI.V Nov 12-17 4.642.40

7 Chairman Naguiat did not identify himself and Mr. Okada's representatives insisted that his stay there be "Incognito." Accordingly, the bulk of the charges
for the trip are reflected on the City Ledger Account as attributable to "Suzzanne Bangsil," the wife of Rogelio Bangsil, a senior PAGCOR official and
Chairman Naguiat's employee. However, interviews, photo identifications and documentary evidence clearly establish that Chairman Naguiat was the
"Incognito" guest and the direct beneficiary of these payments.

 Investi gation has in fact determined that Chairman Naguiat was registered as an "Incognito” VIP guest under Suzzanne Bangsil's reservation. Therefore,
this US 50,523.22 was paid for Chairman Naguiat's benefit.
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"Mike" Arroyo Philippines 2009
President Gloria M.
Arroyo (Jan 20 2001
— June 20 2010)
Imelda Dimaporo PAGCOR Board Member WM June 8-10 2010 891.44
Philip Lo PAGCOR Board Member WLV April 29 1,755.25
2009 - May 3
2009
Manuel Roxas PAGCOR Board Member WLV April 2000”7 253.75
WLV April 29 1,686.95
2009 ~ May 3
2009
Susan Vargas PAGCOR Board Member ‘WM June 8-10 2010 480.17
Jose Tanjuatco PAGCOR Board Member (July 19 2010 to Present) WLV Nov 15-18 2010 2,148.57
Rogelio J. B. Bangsil Officer in Charge of WM Sep 24-26 2010 1,149.04
PAGCOR Gaming
Department
WM June 6-12 2011 2,955.23
Rodolfo Soriano PAGCOR Consultant WM June 3-7 2008 1,186.08
WLV Nov 12-17 2009 4,228.00
WM June 7-10 2010 1,104.06
WM Aug 18 2010 368.06
Olivia Soriano Relative of Rodolfo Soriano WLV May 2008 9735.55
Anthony F. Son of Efraim C. WLV Sep. 2008 2,386.26
"Ton" Genuino Genuino; Mayor of
Los Baiios (2010 to
Present)
WLV Oct 2008 2,326.49
Rafael Francisco PAGCOR COQ and President WI.V Nov 12-17 2009 4.360.16
: WM June 7-11 2010 935.21

@ When the "Dates of Stay" in this table were not readily available, the month and year that the charges were entered in the City Ledger Account are used
" See PAGCOR Referrals (Anthony Genuino is named as a respondent). [See Appendix]
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Emelio Marcello PAGCOR Consultant WLV Nov 12-17 2009 1,181.60
WM June 7-9 2010 471.51
Carlos Bautista PAGCOR VP Legal WM June 6-10 2010 1,049.69
Mario Cornista PAGCOR Consultant WM June 7-9 2010 600.02
Rene Figueroa PAGCOR Executive VP WM June 7-10 2010 646.76
Ernesto Francisco PAGCOR Executive WM June 7-10 2010 797.17

Committee and

Casino General

Manager
Edward King PAGCOR VP WM June 7-10 2010 767.71
Corporate
Communications .
Transportation PAGCOR Delegation WM Aug 2010 462.42
Jeffrey Opinion Member of Naguiat Party WM Sep 24-26 2010 906.61
Ed de Guzman PAGCOR Executive WM Jun 6-12 2011 3,421.79
Committee, AVP
Slots
Gabriel Guzman Probable relative of WM Jun 6-12 2011 1,391.71
Ed de Guzman (had

adjoining room)

(Thadeo) Francis P. PAGCOR VP, WM Jun 8-10 2011 709.72
Hernando™ Licensed Casino '
Development Dept. '

TOTAL 110,636.36

The total in the above table represents charges from the Aruze City Ledger Account that are readily identifiable as incurred
directly by officials and consultants of PAGCOR,™ their family members and close associates, including Jose Miguel Arroyo, the
then-First Gentleman of the Republic of the Philippines, husband of Philippine President Gloria Arroyo. Through a review of the
Aruze City Ledger Account for statement periods March 2008 through November 2011, FSS has calculated that total charges to the
account for that period, attributable to

" This is the same PAGCOR official who denied the FSS request for documents in December 2011, including a copy of the Provisional License Agreement.

See footnote 31.
" In order to establish the PAGCOR affiliation of some of the individuals listed in this chart, various sources were consulted, including the PAGCOR

website, internet news articles and the PAGCOR Referrals.
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PAGCOR officials, employees, consultants, their associates and family members, exceed USD 110,000.™

FSS investigators interviewed members of the Wynn Macau management team, who furnished the following relevant
information regarding a visit to that property in September 2010 by then and current PAGCOR Chairman and CEO Cristino L.
Naguiat, Jr., his wife, three children, nanny and other PAGCOR officials, whose four-day stay at Wynn Macau was paid for via the
Aruze City Ledger Account:

| September 20, 2010:  Yoshiyuki Shoji of Universal, in an e-mail to Angela Lai of Wynn Macau, requests
reservations for "Rogelio Bangsil (Guest Representative) & Others.” Mr. Shoji requests Encore Suite or "more
gorgeous room, such as Vilia,” and "the best butler" for unnamed person in group, who is "VIP for Universal.”
Mr. Shoji states that guests other than Bangsil should not be registered, that all charges should be posted to
Universal's City Ledger,” and that "Mr. Okada would like them to experience the best accommodations and
services at Wynn Macau."” The communication makes no reference to PAGCOR or the government affiliation of

the guests.

= September 20, 2010: In an e-mail to Wynn Macau President Tan Coughlan and others, Ms. Lai informs
Mr. Coughlan of the reservation and that checks of websites indicate that Mr. Bangsil is in charge of PAGCOR's
gaming department.™

L September 20, 2010: In an e-mail to Mr. Shoji, Ms. Lai advises that Wynn Macau is checking on availability of

the requested upgrade and that Macau law requires that all room occupants be registered, and requests that all
guest names be furnished in advance of or at the time of registration.

L September 22, 2010: In an e-mail to Wynn Macau President Ian Coughlan, Wynn Macau Senior Vice-President
—Legal Jay M. Schall advises Mr. Coughlan of

? See City Ledger Account. [See Appendix]

™ When M. Shoji set up the City Ledger Account for Mr. Okada in 2008, he asked whether the customer name and amount paid would be made public. He
was advised that such information would not become public. Email response from Xim Sinatra to Shoji, dated February 8, 2008. [See Appendix]

h mail from Y. Shoji to A. Lai, September 20, 2010 [See Appendix]; interview of A. Lai, January 4, 2012.

¢ E-mail from A. Lai to L. Coughlan, September 20, 2011 [See Appendix]; interview of A. Lai, January 4, 2012; interview of I. Coughlan, December 29,
2011. It should be noted that according to an article in Manilatimes.net, published February 2, 2012, Rogclio Bangsil has recently been transferred to the
PAGCOR international marketing department after a probe that found the government losing PHP 160 million in government run casinos to a Mr. Liu. {See
Appcndl‘(]

7 E-mail from A. Laito Y. Shoji, September 20, 2010 [Sce Appcndlx], interview of A. Lai, January 4, 2012,
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PAGCOR's 100% government ownership and of Mr. Bangsil's position there. He writes "Bangsil, the guest of
Mr. Okada, is a top five (if not 3) officer."™

u September 22, 2010 (14:00): Wynn Macau sends 1 Rolls Royce and 1 Elgrand to the airport, along with Masato
Araki, Special Assistant to Mr. Okada; and Kenichiro Watanabe, another Universal associate, to meet arriving party,
who arrived on Philippine Airline thht 352 from Manila. They return with Chairman Cristino L. Naguiat, Rogelio
Bangsil and Jeffrey Opinion at 14:45.” Only M. Bangsil furnishes his name upon registration. Ms. Lai and Wynn
Macau VIP Services Manager Beatrice Yeung thereafter checks PAGCOR website and identifies Chairman
Naguiat' sI name from his picture there.¥ Ms. Yeung's log and ongoing entries refer to "[I]ncognito (Mr. Naguiat,
Cristino 1..).™

n Chairman Naguiat occupies Villa 81, the most expensive accommodation at Wynn Resorts Macau (about 7,000
square fect in size, which then cost about US 6,000 per day and is mostly reserved for "high rollers”).

u September 22 2010: the Wynn Encore log book reflects "Incognito (Mr. Naguiat) stayed in Villa 81 Master
Bedroom 1."%

u September 23, 2010 (10 00) Mr. Araki advises Ms. Yeung that Chairman Naguiat plans to have lunch with
Miss Pansy Ho at MGM.*

a2 September 23, 2010 (14:04): Jay Schall sends an email to Wynn Macau corporate secunty to check Worldcheck, as
arush job, for Cristino L. Naguiat Jr., Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of PAGCOR.*

™ E-mail from J. Schall to L. Coughlan, September 22, 2010 [See Appendix]; interview of J. Schall, Janvary 3, 2012; interview of . Coughlan, December 29,
’01 1.

Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 22, 2010. [Sce Appendix|

Interviews of Beatrice Yeung, January 4, 2012 and Februzu'v 1, 2012; interviews of Angela Lai January 4, 2012 and February 2, 2012.
81 ‘Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Loghook, September 22, 2010. [See Appendix]
5 Ibid. [See Appendix] During subsequent visits, Chairman Naguiat was identified as "Naguiat," though he was identified during his initial visit as
"incognito." The negative inference to be drawn is an attempt to hide the payment of extremely costly expenses by a corporation connected with a regulated
entity. The fact that he had only recently become chairman may have been a factor in his desire to keep his identity secret.
$Miss Ho is the daughter of Hong-Kong and Macau-based businessman Stanley Ho. Though Nevada gaming regulators found Miss Ho to be a suitable
business partner for MGM Mirage, see
httpe//www.lvrj.com/business/45462797 html, New Jersey regulators recommended that she be found unsuitable as MGM Mirage's joint venture partner in
Macau See htp://www.newjerseynewsroom.comy/state/mgm-mirase-chooses-pansy-ho-over-atlantic-city. [See Appendix]

& Email from Jay Schall to Peter Barnes of Wynn Macau Corporate Security, dated September 23, 2010. [See Appendix]
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L] September 23, 2010: In an e-mail to Ms. Lai; with a copy to Mr. Okada, Mr. Shoji requests that a credit of US 5,000
be extended to each person now staying at the Villa for shopping and gaming, up to a total of US 50,000. According
to Mr. S?oji’s email, the funds are to be advanced by Wynn Macau and charged to the Universal City Ledger
account.

L] September 24, 2010 (13:45): MOP 80,000* (approximately US 10,000) is advanced from the Wynn Macau main
cage to a Wynn Macau VIP Services employee (no longer employed at Wynn Macau), who in turn hands the money
to Masato Araki, special assistant to president of Aruze USA, based upon instructions in the above referenced e-mail
to Ms. Lai. The handover of funds is witnessed by Wynn Encore manager Alex Kong. The funds are charged to the
Universal City Ledger Account. ¥ MOP 15,000 of this sum is used to pay for a Chanel bag that Chairman Naguiat
requested be purchased for his wife.® s

u September 24, 2010 (Approximately 14:00): Mrs. Naguiat, her three children, Mrs. Bangsil and her daughter arrive
at Wynn Macau.

n September 24, 2010 (15:45): Wynn Macau employees meet Mr. Okada and his assistant, Jun Yoshie, at the airport,
transport them to Wynn Macau and escort Mr. Okada to room 5688.%

n September 24, 2010 (late afternoon): Mr. Coughlan receives a phone message from Mr. Yoshie that Mr. Okada
would like to speak to him. Mr. Coughlan proceeds to an area near the Wynn Encore reception desk, where he meets
Mr. Yoshie and Mr. Okada. They step into the Cristal Bar to talk, whereupon Mr. Okada, with Mr. Yoshie
interpreting into English, tells Mr. Coughlan that the guests [referring to

% E-mail from Y. Shoji to A. Lai, September 23, 2010 [See Appendix]; e-mail from B. Yeung to I. Coughlan, September 27, 2010 [See Appendix]; interview
of B. Yeung, January 4, 2012; Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 24, 2010.

8 MOP 80,000 was worth approximately US 9,816 at that time.

8 Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 24, 2010 [See Appendix]: Wynn Macau "Miscellaneous Disbursement” record #013014, dated
September 24, 2010 [See Appendix]; ¢-mail from B. Yeung to L. Coughlan, September 27, 2010 [See Appendix]; interview of B. Yeung, January 4, 2012;
interview of Alex Kong, February 1, 2012. :

5 ‘Wynn Macau Manager - Encore Logbook, September 24, 2010. [See Appendix]. The Chanel bag was purchased by a Wynn Macau employee as per
instructions by Mr. Araki, who works for Mr. Okada. The Wynn Macau employee gave the bag, store receipt and change to Mr. Araki to deliver to

Mrs. Naguiat. Later, Mr. Araki stated that Mrs. Naguiat did not like the bag so he would give it to his own wife.

8 Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 24, 2010 {See Appendix]; interview of B. Yeung, January 4, 2012.
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Chairman Naguiat's party] are very 1mponant to Universal, and that Mr. Okada wants Mr. Couglan to insure that
they are well cared for during their stay.”

u September 24, 2010 (17:00): Mr. Okada meets Chairman Naguiat (and approximately thirteen (13)) others in his
party) for dinner at Okada Restaurant.” Mr. Okada hosts the dinner and the bill for $1,673.07 is charged to his room.

L September 25, 2010 (05:45): Wynn Macau employees meet Mr. Okada outside his room and escort him to a
limousine, which transpouts him to the Macau Ferry Terminal for 07:00 scheduled ferry departure to Hong Kong
International Airport.™

| September 25, 2010: Beatrice Yeung describes in her log book * Movements Incogmto (Mr. Naguiat, Cristino L} /
Mr. Bangsil, Rogelio / Mr. Opinion, Jeffrey (Mr. Okada's guests, Villa 81)."

= September 25, 2010: Mr. Araki requests a second advance of MOP 80,000 for guests in Villa 81. Ms. Yeung
accompanies Mr. Araki to the Main Cage and obtains the advance for him.** [ This makes a total of MOP 160,000
advanced for the use of Chairman Naguiat and his party and charged to the Universal City Ledger Account per
Mr. Okada's orders, as relayed in Mr. Shoji's e-mail.]

] September 26, 2010 (11:10): Mr. Araki departs the Wynn Macau Encore main entrance. He hands Ms Yenng MOP
4100, returning what he says is the remainder of the two cash advances for Chairman Naguiat's party.”

n September 26, 2010 (13:15): Chairman Na ézuut s party departs via Wynn Macau limousine to pick up Mrs. Naguiat
from shopping and proceeds to the airport.

Interv1cw< of Tan Coughlan, January 5, 2012 and February 2, 2012.

Interuew of B. Yeung, January 4, 2012; Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 24, 2010. [See Appendix]
Imemew of B. Yeung, January 4, 2012; Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 235, 2010. [See Appendix]
Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 25, 2010. [See Appendix]

* Interview of B. Yeung, January 4, 2012; Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 25, 2010 [See Appendix]; Wynn Macau "Miscellaneous
Disbursement" record #013066, dated September 25, 2010. [See Appendix]

% E-mail from B. Yeung to L. Coughlan, September 27, 2010 [See Appendix]; Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 26, 2010 [See
Appendix]; handwritten and signed note dated "9/26/10" with notation "MOP 4.100". [See Appendix]. The returned funds were equal to approximately US
503.07 returned out of a total of approximately US 19,632 provided.

% Interview of B. Yeung, January 4, 2012; Wynn Macau Manager - Encore Logbook, September 26, 2010. [See Appendix]
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November 10, 2010: Mr. Shoji advises Mr. Coughlan in an e-mail of receipt of Wynn Macau's invoice for the late
September 2010 visit, in which the Villa [for Chairman Naguiat] was charged at the amount of MOP 48,000.

Mr. Shoji states that "[ understand that Mr. Okada explained to you in Macau that they were our business guests and
we made reservations for them and all charges are billed to our company. While some of charges [sic] will be
reimbursed by them, room charges were planned to be borne by us as ordinary business expenses. Since the amount
charged is too much and beyond the ordinary room charge, our company will be put in a very difficult position to
give reasonable explanations if we are inquired by someone. I would appreciate if you would reconsider this matter
and charge us the original rate (free upgrade to Villa) since the party directly dealing with [sic] on this matter is our
company rather than the each [sic] individual guest.”(Emphasis added.)”

On or about December 10, 2010: After e-mails and phone messages following Mr. Shoji's September 20, 2010 e-
mail, Mr. Coughlan has a phone conversation with Mr. Shoji, in which he advises Mr. Shoji that, after internal Wynn
Macau discusstons, the final decision was that Wsyml Macau would not provide the requested free upgrade for the
Villa occupied during the September 2010 visit.”

The foregoing recitation of facts surrounding the September 2010 visit of Chairman Naguiat and his party to Wynn Macau
demonstrates several significant elements of that visit:

Mr. Okada considered these guests (o be very important to his company.

An effort was made from the outset to conceal Chairman Naguiat's identity and official status, to the point of not
even wanting to advise Wynn Macau management and staff.

With Mr. Okada's knowledge, Chairman Naguiat and his family were provided with approximately US 20,000 cash
to use for gaming and also shopping

Mr. Okada's representative sought to have Wynn Resorts fund a portion of the expenses incurred by Chairman
Naguiat and his party, i.e., the free upgrade to a Villa.

*7 E-mail from Y. Shoji to 1. Coughlan, November 10, 2010 [See Appendix]; interviews of I. Coughlan, December 29, 2011 and January 5, 2012.
Interviews of [ Coughlan, December 29, 2011 and January 5, 2012; e-mail string between L Coughlan and Y. Shoji and others, September 20 to
December 9, 2010, subject: "Invoice and Statement for September Stay." [See Appendix]
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n Mr. Okada’s representative expressed apprehension about Universal being able to justify the level of expenditures in
the event of future inquiries.

There is evidence that Mr. Okada personally directed the payments and gifts provided to Chairman Naguiat and his family
during their luxury stay at Wynn Macau's most expensive accommodation in September 2010. On October 5, 2010, Mr. Araki sent an
email to Wynn Macau in order to arrange for a "second group of PAGCOR" checking into Wynn Macau on October 8, 2010. Clearly
referring back to Chairman Naguiat's stay less than two weeks earlier, Mr. Araki writes: "Our Chairman Okada once again instructed
us to take care of the group, but not like last time meaning that we will not take care of their room charges and others." (Emphasis
added). M. Araki, who worked for Mr. Okada and personally supervised Chairman Naguiat's luxury stay at Wynn Macau, appears to
confirm Mr. Okada's personal knowledge and control of the payments for Chairman Naguiat.” ’

It is significant to note that the leadership of PAGCOR, which is appointed by the President of the Republic of the
Philippines, changed effective June 30, 2010, when Benigno S. Aquino ITT assumed office as President of the Republic of the
Philippines, succeeding Gloria M. Arroyo. Former PAGCOR Chairman Efraim C. Genuino, an Arroyo appointee, left office effective
June 30, 2010, and Cristino I.. Naguiat, Jr., President Aquino's appointee, assumed the position of Chairman and CEQO of PAGCOR on
July 2, 2010.

A review of the Aruze City Iedger Account records reveals that, after June 30, 2010, there are no charges attributed to
Mr. Genuino or any of his family members who collectively had three (3) separate stays at Wynn resorts (Macau or Las Vegas) while
Mr. Genuino was PAGCOR Chairman.' Conversely, the Aruze City Ledger Account reflects charges for Chairman Naguiat, his
family, and key PAGCOR staff from Chairman Naguiat's "new" administration only after Nagniat became PAGCOR Chairman. This
sequence is evidence that the hosting of these persons at Wynn Resorts, and payments made for them (hrough the Aruze City Ledger
Account, are solely related to PAGCOR, the Philippines government agency in charge of licensing and regulating Mr. Okada's
business interests.

1t is also clear that, having already received approval from PAGCOR in 2008 for a Provisional Licensing Agreement to
develop a gaming business in the Philippines, Mr. Okada had a strong and continuing motive through 2010 and beyond to maintain
favorable relations with the Chairmen and senior officials of PAGCOR. As previously noted, PAGCOR's primary governmental
mission is regulating gaming businesses in the Philippines. Mr. Okada's project in Entertainment City Manila was prominently
featured in PAGCOR's annual reports for

% Email from Matt Araki to Beatrice Yeung dated October 5, 2010. [See Appendix]
1% e sole exception identified, Rodolto Soriano, Jr., is listed on the Aruze City Ledger Account as having a single room charge on August 18, 2010. [See
Appendix]
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2008," 2009'* and 2010.'* The 2010 Annual report features photos and messages from Chairman Naguiat, and several other
members of the new PAGCOR leadership. The 2010 Annual report makes it clear that two of the proponents, Bloomsbury and the SM
Consortium, are constructing their resorts and are expected to complete their first phase within 2014. The other two proponents (one of
which is Tiger, the provisional licensee for Mr. Okada's casino project) are in the 1nitial design stages and are expected to break
ground in 2012.

The continuing coverage of Mr. Okada's Manila Bay Resorts project in PAGCOR's annual reports indicates that PAGCOR's
interest in and oversight of this project did not stop with the granting of the Provisional Licensing Agreement in 2008. Indeed, the very
nature of the Provisional Licensing Agreement requires continued oversight by PAGCOR officials. As Lazaro advised, the Provisional
Iicensing Agreement was issued in relation to the "Bagong Nayong Philipino Manila Bay Tourism City" project, which is also
referred (o as "PAGCOR City." PAGCOR City is envisioned to be a Las Vegas-style gaming and entertainment complex. The project
was designed to attract proponents with established experience in the hotel and gaming business. PAGCOR relcased the "Terms of
Reference," which detailed a list of requirements to which project proponents must conform in order to qualify for a PAGCOR license
to operate within PAGCOR City.

The "Terms of Reference” section provides, in pertinent part, a mandatory Minimum Investment of US 1 Billion, consisting
of both equity and debt, and the submission of an associated Project Tmplementation Plan within 120 days from signing of the
Provisional License and approval by PAGCOR (Paragraph 4, Section II, Terms of Reference). Furthermore, within 30 days of signing
of the Provisional License, proponents are required to submit a Performance Assurance Bond in the amount of PIIP 100 Million to
guarantee the completion of the project (Paragraph §, Section II, Terms of Reference). Within 15 days of signing of the Provisional
License, proponents are also required to open an Escrow Account (with an initial deposit of at least US 100 Million) through which
funds for the project will pass. This Escrow Account must maintain a balance of at least US 50 Million. (Paragraph 9, Section II,
Terms of Reference).

Specifically, paragraph 13 of the Terms of Reference states the following in relation to achieving a regular, non-provisional,
Casino Gaming license:

1% PAGCOR 2008 Annual Report, pp. 12-18, viewed January 25, 2012 at http://www.pagcor.ph/annual- reports/annual-2008/pagcor-annual-

report-2008.huml, [See Appendix]
% PAGCOR 2009 Annual Report, pp. 16-19, viewed January 25, 2012 at http://www.pagcor.ph/annual- reports/annual-2009/pagcor-annual-

rcggrt-20091)lml. [See Appendix]
' PAGCOR 2010 Annual Report, pp. 24-26, viewed January 25, 2012 at http://www.pagcor.ph/annual- reports/annual-2010/pagcor-annual-

report-2010.htmi. [See Appendix]
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"13. Issuance of License

A Provisional License will be issued to the winning proponent effective for the duration of the project development
period and shall not exceed the approved completion date of the whole project. .

The Regular Casino Gaming License will be issued upon completion of the Project and upon approval by PAGCOR of
the report detailing the actual total cost of the Projectto ensure the proponent's compliance with the approved project
cost based on the Project Implementation Plan. The term of the License shall not exceed the term of PAGCOR as
specified in RA 9487.

No sub-license will be issued nor allowed." (Emphasis added.)

Thus, a Regular Casino Gaming License will be issued by PAGCOR upon (1) completion of the Project and (2) compliance with the
approved project cost as approved by PAGCOR, based on the previous}z submitted Project Implementation Plan, including all other
conditions as may be stipulated in the Provisional License Agreement.'® Clearly, PAGCOR maintains an active regulatory role over
gaming businesses after the issuance of a provisional gaming license. An operator who has already been granted a provisional license,
gxqcrefore, would have a powerful business incentive to maintain favorable relations with PAGCOR's Chairman and senior leadership.

Finally, the PAGCOR officials with whom FSS spoke in December 2011 indicated that, upon "taking over" from the
Genuino Administration in 2010, they conducted a review of previously granted gaming licenses to ensure that all issuance decisions
had been done properly, indicating that the Naguiat Administration was exercising close review in monitoring of all licensees,
including Mr. Okada.

104 See research of Michelle Lazaro as expressed in her email dated January 30, 2012 to Mike McCall; See also "Terms of Reference" that were attached to
the email. [Sec Appendix|

> A recent example of the extent of PAGCOR's continuing oversight of gaming operators can be found in the August 2011 issue of Inside Asian Gaming
magazine. An atticle therein reported on claims by gaming operator Thunderbird Resorts, Inc. ("Thunderbird") that PAGCOR had unlawfully attempted to
force Thunderbird, through various allegedly selective enforcement actions, to renegotiate the revenue sharing agreement it had signed with the previous
PAGCOR leadership under Mr. Genuino. See "Ball of Confusion," dated August 10, 2011, Inside Asian Gaming, online edition, viewed January 26, 2011 at
http://www.asgam.com/features/item/1238-ball-of-confusion html. In the September 2011 issue, PAGCOR responded by making reference to various
regulatory or enforcement functions it had been carrying out with regard to Thunderbird's casinos, up through the time that the dispute became heated. Among
the functions mentioned were "resident monitoring teams" in Thunderbird casinos to "...guarantee the fair conduct of games..." as well as PAGCOR's serving
of a notice of closure to Thunderbird in response to the disputed issues. See "Philippines Gaming Regulation—The Untold Story”, dated 23 September 2011,
Inside Asian Gaming, online edition, viewed January 26, 2011. [See Appendix]. These statements by PAGCOR clearly indicate that PAGCOR maintains
active regulatory monitoring of licensed gaming businesses in the Philippines and claims the authority to close down licensed operators.
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Mr. Okada'’s hosting and payments on behalf of PAGCOR Chairman Nagniat and his family at Wynn Macau, was most

likely related to Mr. Okada’s business interests in the Phlhppmes and would therefore constitute a prima facie violation of the FCPA
both by Mr. Okada as well as by Aruze USA, Inc.

4.  Possible Pattern of FCPA Violations Regarding Korean Government Officials

As stated previously, in recent years, Mr. Okada has been pursuing development of a resort complex in the Incheon Free
Economic Zone in the Republic of Korea. Jong Cheol Lee, the Commissioner of the Incheon Free Economic Zone Authority, and
apparently an Incheon government official, announced the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding on approximately October 27,
2011, between the Tncheon Free Economic Zone (* 'IFEZ") and Okada Holdings Korea to develop a casino resort near the Incheon
International Airport.’*

A review of the Aruze City Ledger Account disclosed chargcs paid for Jong Cheol Lee and other guests of his party at Wynn
Las Vegas and Wynn Macau for the period November 2010 to June 2011 Registration documents provided by Wynn Resorts
disclosed annotations for Mr. Lee and three other guests, indicating: "Share with Tncheon Free Economic Zone." According to the
Aruze City Ledger Account, the following amounts were paid for government Lee and his party:

Name Relationship to Total Charged to
Incheon Free Location and Date of Aruze City Ledger
Economic Zone Stay Account

Jong Cheol Lee Commissioner WLV Nov 16-18 1,597.16
2010

WM June 2011 1,134.55

Woo Hyeung Lec Unknown WLV Nov 16-18 843.89
2010

WM June 1,083.22
2011

Min Yong Choi Unknown WLV Nov 16-18 507.50
2010

Ki Dong Hur Unknown WLV Nov 16-18 779.20
2010

TOTAL PAID 5,945.52

These payments made for and on behalf of possible Korean government officials may be part of a continuing pattern by
Mr. Okada and his associates to commit prima facie violations of the

< ) i =, viewed January 14,
2012 Lbl,c Appcndlxj ttg //blog daum.net/ikoreatimes/60, viewed January 14, 2012. |See Appcndlx]
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FCPA. However, further investigation is required in order to determine (i) the nature of Mr. Okada’s relationship with these guests;
(11) whether these guests actually had a government affiliation at the time of their 2010 visits to Wynn Las Vegas and Wynn Macau;
and, (iii) the status of Mr. Okada's gaming initiative in Korea.

5. Mr. Okada's Continuing Refusal to Receive Wynn Resorts mandated FCPA Orientation Training and to
Acknowledge Wynn Resorts Code of Conduct

Mr. Okada’s apparent practice and pattern of committing prima facie violations of the FCPA must also be reviewed in the
context of his ongoing and likely future conduct as a majority shareholder and director of Wynn Resorts. Since August, 2011,
Mr. Okada has failed to make himself available for requisite Wynn Resorts Board of Directors training regarding the FCPA and
compliance. Not only has every other board member accepted and received such training, but attempts to accommodate Mr. Okada
(including Japanese translation of the FCPA training materials and telephonic availability for the training) have failed.

Moreover, since August 2011, Mr. Okada has also failed even to acknowledge in writing Wynn Resorts Code of Business
Ethics and Wynn Resorts Policy regarding Payments to Government Officials. Mr. Okada's continuing failure to perform this requisite
review and agreement to comply with Wynn Resorts Ethics and anti-bribery rules and regulations create risk to Wynn Resorts and its
board. Such non-compliance by Mr. Okada also suggests that he intends to continue his apparent practice and pattern of making FCPA
prohibited payments on a going-forward basis. Any such future conduct would substantially enhance the risks to Wynn Resorts and
compromise Mr. Okada's fiduciary duties to Wynn Resorts.

On August 5, 2011, Cheryl Palmer, the executive assistant to Kevin Tourek, sent out an email memorandum on Mr. Tourek's
behalf to all board members stating that per compliance policy requirements, all members must acknowledge in writing on an annual
basis having reviewed (and agreeing to comply with) two separate documents: (1) the Company's Code of Business Ethics and
(2) Policy Regarding Payments to Government Officials.'” A copy of the form was attached to the email, as was a copy of hoth the
Code and the Policy. The email asked for the executed form to be returned prior to August 26, 2011. All of the members of the board,
cxcept for Mr. Okada, returned a signed copy of the acknowledgement. Mr. Okada was reminded, via cmails to his representatives on

a number of occasions,'® as well as via a letier from Kevin Tourek, dated November 2, 2011, to provide an executed copy of the

107

Sce email from Cheryl Palmer dated August 5, 2011. [See Appendix]
108

See emails contained in email from Kevin Tourek to Robert Shapiro, Esq., dated October 24, 2011. [See Appendix]
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acknowledgement form no later than November 15, 2011.' Mr. Okada failed to meet this deadline and, as of the date of this report,
has yet to provide a signed copy of the form."°

In addition to his failure to return the fully executed Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the Policy Regarding

Payments to Government Officials Acknowledgment I'orm, which, as previously indicated, was sent out in August of 2011,
Mr. Okada has yet to return a secondary acknowledgement form that was attached to the annual Directors' & Officers’ Questionnaire
("D&O Questionnaire”). This form was sent out to each member of the board of directors on January 9, 2012, as part of the overall
D&O Questionnaire packet.''! The packet contained instructions to "sign where indicated by the sign here rabs” and asked that the
2012 D&O Questionnaire be returned in its entirety on or before January 27, 2012. The two places that required Mr. Okada's signature
were (1) on page 26 of the D/O Questionnaire itself, and (2) on page 50 on the separate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
Acknowledgement Form that was part of the overall D&O Questionnaire packet. Though Mr. Okada returned the signature page (page
26) of the D&O Questionnaire itself on January 27, 2012,"* (which was confirmed to FSS on February 7, 2012), the fact that he has
yet to return the separate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Acknowledgement Form (which he has unequivocally pledged to do
by virtue of signing on the signature page of the D&Q Questionnaire) is telling and is consistent with his refusal to provide an
executed copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the Policy Regarding Payments to Government Officials

" Acknowledgment Form that was sent to him in August of 2011. Though Wynn Resorts did not send to Mr. Okada the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics and the Policy Regarding Payments to Government Officials attached to the D & O Questionnaire in
Japanese language versions, which they did previously with respect to the code and policy sent out in August of 2011 after a request
by Mr. Okada's attomey, Mr. Okada has never previously requested that the D & O Questionnaire itsell be translated into Japanese.
Mr. Okada was again reminded of his obligation to return the separate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Acknowledgment Form
(page 50 of the D&O Questionnaire packet) in an email from Roxane Peper to Mr. Okada’s assistant, Takashi Matsui, on January 31,
2012.'" A copy of the form was attached to the email for Mr. Okada's convenience. This form remains outstanding.

109

Lo See letter from Kevin Tourek to Mr. Okada, dated November 2, 2011. [See Appendix]

In a letter dated December 1, 2011 to Robert Shapiro, Tisq., outside counsel for Wynn Resorts, Gidon Caine, Esq., counsel for Mr. Okada, explained that
the reason Mr. Okada did not sign the acknowledgment form was due to the fact that the materials had not been translated into Japanese. As of the date of
submission of this Report, Mr. Okada has not yet submitted a signed copy of the acknowledgment form despite being provided with the requested translations,
which were attached to a letter sent via cmail dated December 27, 2011 from Jeffrey Soza to Gidon Cainc. [Sce Appendix]
1! §ee Memorandum from Kim Sinatra to Board of Directors and Officers of ‘Wynn Resorts, Limited, dated January 9, 2012, and 2012 Director's & Officers
gyestionnaire attached thereto. [See Appendix]

“ See email from Takashi Matsui to Roxane Peper, dated January 27, 2012. [See Appendix]
!'* See email from Roxane Peper to Takashi Matsui, dated January 31, 2012. [See Appendix]
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On February 1, 2012, Barry Brooks, one of Mr. Okada's attorneys, contacted Kevin Tourek, senior vice president and general
counsel with Wynn Resorts, via email regarding "address[ing] the request, forwarded to Mr. Okada under cover of a memorandum
from Mr. Wynn, that Mr. Okada execute and return to Wynn Resorts, Ltd. ("Wynn Resorts") a form of acknowledgment
("Acknowledgment”) in regard to the Wynn Resorts Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the "Code"). Most importantly, I wanted to
emphasize that Mr. Okada agrees, with a deep sense of commitment, with the principles set out in the Code and agrees that it is in the
best interest of Wynn Resorts and its sharcholders that he, as a dircctor, be a leader in observing and advocating for those principles.
Also, and in any case, Mr. Okada believes that the requirements of the Code, and the spirit of those requirements, are keys to the
future success of Wynn Resorts.""™ In a follow-up phone call to that email, Mr. Brooks and Mr. Tourck discussed the ramifications of
Mr. Okada not signing the policy, the possibility of interpretation issues, and concerns over whether Mr. Okada may have any conflict
of interest issues. Mr. Brooks also asked for a copy of the D & O Questionnaire.'*

6. Mr. Okada, his associates and companies. Universal have pursued independently a casino gamblin:

development in the Philippines since 2008.

FSS interviewed Mr. Okada on February 15, 2012 and the results of that interview are set forth more fully in Section VI
In this interview, Mr. Okada asserted that all his efforts in the Philippines prior to the change of presidential adininistration in the
summer of 2010 were undertaken on behalf of and for the benefit of Steve Wynn and Wynn Resorts, and that he only undertook to
develop a gaming business in the Philippines independently subsequent to the change of presidential administrations.

116

On December 20, 2007, Aruze Corp. issued a press release entitled "Business Realignment and Future Business
Development.” The press release stated the following:

"The Company looks to acquire the licenses necessary to operate a casino resort in the Asian region, including Macau, and to
commence operation of a casino resort on its own over the next business year. . . . For this know-how, which is vital from a
managerent perspective, the Company intends to enlist the full cooperation of Wynn Resorts, Limited's Steve Wynn in its future
pursuits regarding this project. For the purpose of successfully operating a casino resort in the Asian Region on an independent basis,
the Company has received agreement from Steve Wynn that he will supply all necessary support, including active personal exchange
with Wynn Resorts, Limited."""” (Emphasis added.)

!4 See email from Barry Brooks to Kevin Tourek, dated February 1, 2012. [See Appendix]

+ 115 Gee email from Kevin Tourek to Kim Sinatra, dated February 2, 2012. [See Appendix]
”f Statements attributed to Okada during the February 15, 2012 interview are based on FSS' contemporaneous notes.
7 Gee JASDAQ press release for Aruze Corp., dated December 20, 2007, entitled "Business Realignment and Future Business," available at: http://

www.universal-777.com/en/ir/releases/2007/2007 1220 ¢.pdf. [See Appendix]
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On April 25, 2008, Aruze Corp. issued another press release entitled "Casino Project in the Philippines.” This press release stated the
following:

" As announced in its Business Realignment and Future Business Development’ press release issued December 20, 2007, ARUZE
GROUP seeks to commence the operation of a casino resort in the Asian region, which shall be conducted independently by ARUZE
CORP. . . . Out of the above mentioned elements, where essential management-based know-how is concerned, the Company intends
to proceed with the project under the full guidance of Wynn Resorts, Limited's Steve Wynn."'® (Emphasis added.)

The press release identifies the location of the planned casino as a plot of land adjacent to "Bagong Nayong Pilipine Manila Bay
Tourism City."

The language in the press releases suggest that Universal's intentions from the inception of the project were to develop a gaming
business independently, and not for the benefit of Steve Wynn or Wynn Resorts.

7. Mr. Okada has stated that Universal paid expenses related to then-PA GCOR Chairman Genuino's trip to
Beijing during the 2008 Olympics. ’ .

Mr. Okada was asked during his interview whether he met then-PAGCOR Chairman Genuino in Beijing during the 2008
Olympics. Mr. Okada stated that Universal's President Tokuda made the arrangements for Chairman Genuvino to travel to the
Olympics. Mr. Okada explained that Mr. Tokuda was involved with the setting of the travel itinerary. When Mr. Okada was asked if
the travel arrangements were "paid by Universal,” Mr. Okada responded "not 100% perhaps there were people certainly not all but I'm
not familiar with the details.” Mr. Okada was then asked "To your knowledge, did Universal pay any of the associated costs of any of
the travel of Mr. Genuino?" Mr. Okada answered "I don't know whether or not the travel expense was paid by them. My
understanding is that there was a certain amount of personal monies being spent from the attendees and participants including
Chairman Genuino but I do not know details regarding this." Mr. Okada was then asked "But is it your knowledge that some of those
expenses were paid by Universal?” Mr. Okada answered: "Regarding the individual payment of personal monies, whether before or
after, it was Umversal that put together all of the expenses.”

Mr. Okada then explained that since Mr. Okada was previously invited to "one of the islands in the Philippines so in return
well we decided that we would decide to do this in turn so I too would invite them as well. There was a time from where we had that
understanding now that I recall. So I may have asked Mr. Tokuda to include this person [Genuino] as well." The

"8 See JASDAQ press release for Aruze Corp., dated April 25, 2008, entitled "Casino Project in the Philippines," available at: http://www.universal-777.com/

en/ir/releases/2008/20080425 e pr2.pdf. {See Appendix]
9 Attributions from Mr. Okada's interview are based on FSS contemporaneous notes.
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following question was then asked: "If there was a time that Genuino has invited you to the Philippines and in return for that you may
have invited him or had some knowledge that Universal paid some of his expenses when he came to Beijing?" Mr. Okada responded:
"I don't like to be invited more than what is necessary because that would mean that I am vulnerable and I don't like that. I was told
that it was paid for and he insisted so I remember he had to be paid for in this way. So I remember that Mr. Tokuda said he should be
included as well. I remember thinking that I had to return this in some way so I may have made that decision based on that memory."
(Emphasis Added).

Later in the interview, Mr. Okada stated that Chairman Genuino appeared to have a "few people” with him at the Olympics
and, "I asked my staff why wasn't he around and then my people said Mr. Genuino had a few people accompany him and he met with
them to go shopping and once I heard that I do not recall now but again I don't have a clear recollection of his whereabouts.”

VI. Summary of Mr. Okada's February 15, 2012 Interview'”

Mr. Okada had four lawyers present over the course of the interview, including a Japanese interpreter/associate. Mr. Okada
was given a full opportunity to answer all questions. He attended the interview voluntarily and at the end he was asked whether he
wanted to explain anything else.

1. Mr. Okada admitted going to Macau on or about September 24 2010 to meet with PAGCOR chairman
Naguiat at Wynn Macau. Mr. Araki called Mr. Okada on either September 24 or 23 to advise that
Chairman Naguiat was at Wynn Macau.

Mr. Okada stated he flew to Macau from Japan for the sole reason of meeting Chairman Naguiat.

Mr. Okada stated the purpose of Chairman Naguiat's visit to Wynn Macau was for business — as a new
PAGCOR Chairman, Naguiat wanted to better understand the casino business. Mr. Okada stated that a
number of his Universal employees, including Araki, were at Wynn Macau in order to assist Chairman
Naguiat in (his regard.

Mr. Okada stated that when he got to Wynn Macau he asked to see Ian Coughlan, Wynn Macau CEQ.
Mr. Okada asked to see and met with Ian Coughlan at Wynn Macau but denied telling Coughlan that the
guests were Universal VIPs and that they should be treated well.

N

UPS

' Certain sections of the report below are presented in an abbreviated form. See the attached notes of Mr. Okada's interview for a more expansive
description. [See Appendix]
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M. Okada emphatically denied saying this and related that there is no way he would have said something
to that extent regarding special care: "I would have said this is a person with a position with PAGCOR, I
would have said be normal and don't do anything out of the ordinary."

Mr. Okada stated he attended a dinner for approximately ten (10) people at Wynn Macau and that
Chairman Naguiat also attended.

Mr. Okada stated that cither Araki, Shoji or Universal paid for the dinner

Mr. Okada said that he did not know whether any other PAGCOR officials attended the dinner.

Mr. Okada stated that he and Naguiat did not discuss any business at the dinner which would have been
rude.

Mr. Okada stated that he believed Naguiat's wife was present at the dinner but that he was not introduced
to her.

Mr. Okada stated he left early the next morning.

Mr. Okada's Knowledge of and Response to Chairman Naguiat's September 2010 stay

Mr. Okada stated that sometime after September 2010 he learned from Universal President Tokuda that
the cost of Chairman Naguiat's stay at Wynn Macau exceeded reasonable entertainment expenses.

Mr. Okada learned about the excessive September 2010 expenses from Takuda about three or four months
after the events when the bills would come up.

Mr. Okada stated that he was never told the cost of Chairman Naguiat's Wynn Macau stay nor did he ask
anybody that question.

Mr. Okada stated that he understood that Chairman Naguiat had stayed in the most expensive
accommodation at Wynn Macau. But he said "I heard later on that he was in one of the more expensive
rooms. I heard this in the context of it would be a problem regarding our corporate policy."

Mr. Okada stated that Chairman Naguiat's wife was present at Wynn Macau. Mr. Okada did not know if
his children were present.

Mr. Okada stated that he did not know that any cash had been provided to Chairman Naguiat.

Mr. Okada stated that he did not know that Universal employees had tried to hide the identity of Chairman
Naguiat as a guest.

Mr. Okada stated that he did not know how long Chairman Naguiat had stayed at Wynn Macau.

Mr. Okada denied seeing (wo (2) emails from Shoji to Angela Lai at Wynn Macau, dated September 20
and 23rd 2010 respectively, which requested
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reservations for a Universal VIP guest, "who would not be registered," and arrangements to provide up to
5,000 US credit for each person staying at Naguiat's Villa. Mr. Okada explained that although he saw his
name in the email cc's, he would not have seen either email because for the most part he does not use his
PC.
Mr. Okada stated that internal Universal rules do not permit the payment of cash (o government officials.
Mr. Okada stated that no stay in the Villa in Wynn Macau could cost US 50,000
Mr. Okada stated that internal Universal rules permitted the payment of reasonable entertainment expense
for government officials but did not know what amount was permitted.
Mr. Okada stated that the cost of Chairman Naguial's stay at Wynn Macau caused a "problem" for
Universal and that as a result Araki was fired, and Shoji resigned after having been scolded by Mr. Okada.
Mr. Okada stated that he did not make any changes at his company or give anyone new instructions as a
result of finding out about Naguiat's stay in September 2010.
Mr. Okada said that it was possible that Chairman Naguiat would be billed for the cost of the stay.
Mr. Okada said, when he was asked about a reference m a Shoji email to posting all expenses to the
Universal City Ledger Account, that he lacked any knowledge of such an account and said "I wonder if
the City Ledger is in reference to our internal policy, as long as it is under that ceiling.”

Mr. Okada stated that he was aware of only one other guest stay at Wynn Macau that he believed
was improperly paid by Universal,

M. Okada stated only a few weeks ago he learned from President Tokuda that Anthony Genuino, son of
former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino, had stayed at Wynn Las Vegas in September of 2008 and that
Universal had paid US 2300 for his stay.

Mr. Okada stated that Genuino would be sent the bill for this cost

Mr. Okada denied any knowledge of other PAGCOR officials staying at Wynn Resorts from 2008
through June 2011 with Universal paying for their expenses.

Mr. Okada stated that he had just instructed President Tokuda of Universal to conduct an investigation
into Universal's payment of entertainment expenses.

Mr. Okada blamed Shoji as the responsible party for these payments.

Mr. Okada stated that he yelled at Shoji for not reporting these matters to him and would have fired Shoji
except that Shoji resigned. Mr. Okada stated that Tokuda
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did report these matters and Mr. Okada believed that Shoji was also in a position to know all about what
had happened but had failed to report it to him.

Mr. Okada stated that Shoji was a trusted employee who had worked closely with him since 2002 and
should have reported these matters to him.

Mr. Okada stated that they were just starting this investigation and that bills may be sent to certain of
these guests for the expenscs which Universal paid.

Mr. Okada especially blamed Mr. Shoji since he was the head of the company's compliance commiitee
from 2002-2010.

Mr. Okada stated that he last met with Chairman Naguiat in the Philippines during January 2012 in order
to seek land leasing approval from PAGCOR.

Mr. Okada stated that Universal had an expense policy but he didn't know what the amounts were.

Mr. Okada stated that he was unfamiliar with the specific details of his compliance policy because he was
too high within the company. He left it to others to handle the details of the policies.

Mr. Okada was asked a series of questions regarding about a dozen other PAGCOR officials who stayed
at Wynn Macau or Wynn Las Vegas during 2010 and 2011 for whom Universal paid their expenses.

Mr. Okada denied having authorized any of these payments and said that he would not have authorized
such payments if the guests were PAGCOR officials.

Mr. Okada stated that on one occasion he met Jose Miguel Arroyo, husband of Former Philippine
President Gloria Arroyo, but did not know that Jose Arroyo had stayed at Wynn Las Vegas in November
2009, with Universal paying for his expenses totaling US 4,642.

Mr. Okada stated that he met Chairman Naguiat approximately 4 or 5 times since Naguiat's Chairmanship
in June 2010 and that these meetings always involved official matters.

Mr. Okada stated that he told Tokuda in Deceraber of 2011 to investigate these matters.

Mr. Okada stated that December was the {irst time he asked Mr. Tokuda investigate these charges for
Universal.

Mr. Okada stated further that Shoji was a trusted employee whom he had met with "very frequently."
During the time period in September 2010 when Shoji was setting up the Naguiat visit, Shoji told

Mr. Okada nothing about Naguiat.

Okada statements to the Board of Directors Regarding doing business in Asia

Mr. Okada stated that he could not specifically remember attending a Wynn Resorts Board of Directors
meeling in February 2011,
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Mr. Okada stated that he did not remember attending a Wynn Resorts Board of Directors meeting where
bribery was discussed.

Mr. Okada denied ever stating to Wynn Resort Directors words to the effect that "it was a matter of hiring
the right people and that you must pay other people.” He responded "absolutely not, that's a lLie."

Mr. Okada denied telling fellow board members words to the effect that "you have to follow local
customs and that's why you have consultants.”

Mr. Okada also denied ever stating to fellow board members words to the effect "I wouldn't bribe
someone but would have someone else bribe that person.”

As (o bribing someone in the Philippines, Mr. Okada stated that "there is no need (o do that in the
Philippines even because we are in the position to invest."

Mr. Okada also denied ever stating words to the effect that "in Asia, it is okay to give gifts to government
officials." His response was "absolutely not."

Mr. Okada stated that he had been a member of the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors since 2005 or 2006.
When asked about his duties or responsibilities as a director of Wynn Resorts, Okada stated that he had to
"ensure socially just company, there should be no illegal activities, and that I have to help them be
successful and grow as a company.”

Mr. Okada was asked if he had ever read the Wynn Resorts Code of Conduct to which he responded, "No
because it is in English, no I cannot.”

Mr. Okada was asked if he had accepted Wynn Resorts Board of Director FCPA training in 2011, to
which he replied that he had received some documents but sent them to his lawyers.

Doing Business in the Philippines

Mr. Okada stated that prior to the new Philippine administration taking over in 2010, his efforts to
conduct a gambling business in the Philippines were being done for Wynn Resorts and that he was
reporting to Steve Wynn about these activities.

Mr. Okada said before the new Philippine administration in 2010 "All of the conversation between myself
and Gennino was for the sake of explaining to Mr. Wynn."
Mr. Okada stated that a press release from Aruze Corp. dated April 25, 2008, that announced Aruze would
independently operate a casino project in the Philippines, had not been presented to him for approval.

Mr. Okada stated that neither Steve Wynn nor Wynn Resorts had invested any money in the Philippine
business initiative which he had been conducting since 2008.

40

WYNNO00013960

RAPP 154



REPORT
Attorney — Client / Work Product / Privileged and Confidential

Okada stated that Universal had invested between US 300-400 million in 2008 to acquire the land for the

Manila Bay project.

When asked whether Mr. Wynn or Wynn Resorts invested any money in the US 300-400 million

purchase, Mr. Okada stated that "Wynn Resorts had no involvement whatsoever."

Mr. Okada stated that it was only after the new Aquino presidency in June of 2010 that he decided to

pursue a Philippine gaming project independently.

Mr. Okada stated that this land had been acquired by a company called Eagle 1 Land Holdings in which

Aruze USA had an ownership interest.

Mr. Okada stated that at the tune of the land acquisition in 2008, Eagle 1 Land Holdings was 60% owned

by Filipino nationals. However, when asked to identify the 60% ownership today, he responded "I know

of them I know who they are but I don't remember their names."

10.  Mr. Okada stated that he was aware of the Philippine legal requirement that land be 60% owned by
Filipinos.

11.  Mr. Okada stated that neither Tiger or Aruze had a provisional gaming license for the Philippines.

12. Mr. Okada does not know whether a deposit was made by Universal in order to pursue the Filipino
gaming initiative.

13. It was his understanding that to get a gaming license in the Philippines you needed to do certain things
beforehand and that he asked questions on Wynn's behalf as to what had to be done.

14.  Mr. Okada stated that Platinum Gaming and Entertainment was a Philippine company run by Soriano.

15. Mr. Okada stated that he did not know Paolo Bombase or Manuel Camacho as shareholders of Eagle I and
Eagle II.

16.  Mr. Okada stated that Masato Araki may have lent his name as a stockholder to Eagle I and Eagle II but

that Mr. Okada did not know the details. Mr. Okada stated that he did not know whether Manabu

Kawasaki, who was another Universal employee, was a stockholder of Eagle I or Eagle 11

oo N W

F. Possible Payments by Universal to Korean Government Officials.

Mr. Okada stated that he is interested in the IFEZ for possible investment. Mr. Okada stated that he personally set up
arrangements in 2009 or 2010 for a Korean delegation from the IFEZ to visit Las Vegas. According to Mr. Okada, this delegation was
led by a Mr. Lee, who was "seconded” to IFEZ by the Korean government. Mr. Okada invited this delegation to see the Venetian.
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Mr. Okada stated that "at the very beginning" he discussed the "issue of expense” and the Korean side said they had to pay
for their own expenses as government officials. Mr. Okada stated that the Korean delegation stayed at Wynn Las Vegas and paid for
their rooms. When told that Universal in fact paid for the Koreans' rooms, Mr. Okada stated "It's possible we paid in advance the first
time but then they paid later. I am personally in charge of the Koreans.” When Mr. Okada was then asked if he knew that was done he
responded "I am certain it was done."

Mr. Okada later repeated that the Koreans paid for their own travel. When advised that Universal paid for Commissioner Lee
and others to stay at Wynn Macau in 2011, and Wynn Las Vegas in 2010, Mr. Okada stated that "It may have been that we made a
temporary payment to be reimbursed later but in any case for Korea all trips must be applied for with the City Hall and they need to
get prior approval.”

Mr. Okada later repeated that he did not authorize Universal to pay approximately US 6,000 worth of room charges for
Commissioner Iee and other TFEZ, officials for stays at Wynn Resorts. When asked if it would he against "Universal's policy” to pay
such travel expenses, Mr. Okada repeated that the Koreans would pay for their own expenses. He added that "Maybe it was the case
where Universal made a temporary payment to he reimbursed later and all this would be paid by admin official."”

G. Mr. Okada Instructs Mr. Tokuda to Conduct an Investigation

Mr. Okada stated that since about 2008-2009, Universal has had both "ordinary" and "extraordinary” rules about paying
entertainment expenses regarding government officials. However, he stated that he did not know the "specific details." Mr. Okada
stated that "cash" could not be given but that he did not know the dollar amount limit for providing government officials with meals.

Mr. Okada stated that after learning from Mr. Tokuda about the excessive expenses paid by Universal for Chairman
Naguiat's September 2010 stay at Wynn Macau, Mr. Okada did not take any steps or give instructions to prevent a recurrence. Indeed,
Mr. Okada stated his belief that Universal's corporate policy as it exists today is "plenty on its own."

Mr. Okada stated that "within the last week or so" he learned from Mr. Tokuda that the son of then-PAGCOR Chairman
Genuino stayed at Wynn Las Vegas in 2008 and that Universal had paid US 2,800 for his expenses. Mr. Okada said this was
"inexcusable” and that he had given instructions to have him [Genuino] billed directly. Mr. Okada further stated that Mr. Tokuda had
found "several more" of these instances but that Mr. Okada did not "know the details." Mr. Okada stated that in regard to Chairman
Naguiat's stay at Wynn Macau, perhaps an invoice should also be sent to him as the customer. ‘

M. Okada stated that "it was just yesterday” that he heard from Tokuda about "these issues being raised.” After being asked
what he knew about a list of PAGCOR officials whose
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stays at Wynn Macau and Wynn Las Vegas were paid by Universal from 2008 — 2011, Mr. Okada denied any knowledge of these
events. However, Mr. Okada stated that "everything I believe [FFSS] mentioned matches with what Mr. Tokuda is investigating right
now. And I will have him write a paper that lists all the countermeasures and a progress report and what has been wrapped up and so
forth."

M. Okada stated that in approximately December 2011, he "clearly instructed” Mr. Tokuda to conduct an investigation
about these matters. At the end of the interview, Mr. Okada stated that "I will look into all the expense that you have asked about and
if it is someone who has an existing relationship I will for sure bill that person.”

VII. Conclusions

The investigation has produced substantial evidence that directly relates to Mr. Okada's suitability under Nevada law as both
a major shareholder and director of Wynn Resorts.

Nevada Gaming Commission Regulations regarding individual suitability issues encompass, among other things, a person's
"good character, honesty and integrity," and whether a person’s "background, reputation and associations will not result 1n adverse
publicity for the State of Nevada and its gaming industry" (Section 3.090 of the NRS). The NRS also require that a covered person
satisfy the Commission that such person has "adequate business probity" (Section 463.170, paragraph 3).

Both Aruze USA , a Nevada corporation, and Mr. Okada personally, as a Director, President, Secretary and Treasurer of
Aruze Inc., are covered parties under the jurisdiction of the FCPA.

As set forth above, the investigation has prodi.lced substantial evidence that Mr. Okada, his associates and companies have
apparently been engaging in a longstanding practice and pattern of committing prima facie violations of anti-bribery laws, particularly
the FCPA.

The testimonial and documentary evidence appear to prove that, since at least 2008, Mr. Okada, his associates and
companies have made over US 110,000 in payments to his chief gaming regulators (2) in the Philippines (PAGCOR), their families
and associates. Mr. Okada is building a multi-billion dollar gaming business and operation in the Philippines.

The practice and means of making these payments varied slightly but were regularly and repeatedly arranged in the same
manner. For example, between June 2008 and August 2010, former PAGCOR Chairman Efraim Genuino (February 2001 — June 30,
2010), his son and other PAGCOR government officials, were hosted by Mr. Okada, his associates and companies at either Wynn
Resorts Las Vegas or Wynn Resorts Macan. Mr. Okada, his associates and companies would arrange and pay thousands of dollars to
cover the expenses of Chairman
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Genuino, his son and other then-current PAGCOR officials in his party. These payments were made by Mr. Okada, his associates and
companies, using the City Ledger Account, which contained an average balance of US 100,000 funded and replenished by Universal.
International money transfers and the facilities of interstate commerce were used to make these payments.

There is substantial evidence to show that Chairman Genuino's June 2010 stay at Wynn Macau was due to the fact that he was
then Mr. Okada's principal Philippine gaming regulator. This is also demonstrated by the fact that after Chairman Genuino left his
PAGCOR office in June 2010, he and his family were no longer the beneficiaries of such payments at Wynn Resorts facilities.

However, as set forth above in greater detail, Mr. Okada's current chief Philippine gaming regulator, Chairman Cristino Naguiat
(July 2, 2010 — present) and his family quickly succeeded Chairman Genuino as the beneficiaries of payments by Universal for stays
at Wynn Resorts Las Vegas and Wynn Resorts Macan (September 2010 in Macau; November 2010 in Las Vegas; and June 2011 in
Macau, just over seven (7) months ago).

These payments were made using Mr. Okada's City Ledger Account, as was done regarding payments on behalf of the former
PAGCOR Chairman. The evidence further suggests that Chairman Naguiat's luxury stays at Wynn Resorts facilities were fully known
to Mr. Okada, who actively involved himself in some of the arrangements. For example, Chairman Naguiat's September 22-26, 2010
stay at Wynn Resorts Macau luxury Villa 81, the most expensive accommodation at Wynn Resorts Macau (about 7,000 square feet in
size, which then cost about US 6,000 per day), was intended by Mr. Okada and his associates to be kept secret and concealed within
Wynn Resorts Macau records. Initially, Mr. Okada's associates arranging for Chairman Naguiat's September 2010 stay at Wynn
Resorts Macau purposefully withheld Naguiat's name and had him registered as an "Incognito” VIP guest of Universal, vtilizing the
named reservation of "Rogelio Bangsil" (another then-senior PAGCOR official). Chairman Naguiat then stayed at the Wynn Resorts
Macau for four days, together with his wife, three children and a nanny, without ever once introducing himself to the constantly
attending Wynn Resorts Macau VIP service managers.

Mr. Okada's associate, who made this reservation for Chairman Naguiat, requested a "more gorgeous room, such as "Villa" and
"the best butler,” for this unnamed "VIP for Universal,” who turned out to be the chief gaming regulator for the Philippines. The
evidence also shows that on September 24, 2010, Mr. Okada personally made clear (via an interpreter) to Ian Coughlan, the Wynn
Resorts Macan Executive Director and President, that Chairman Naguiat and his party were important guests and that Mr. Coughlan
should make sure that his staff took good care of them. The evidence further shows that on the evening of September 24, 2010,
Mr. Okada hosted a dinner at Wynn Macau for Chairman Naguiat (and approximately 13 others). The US 1,673.07 cost of this dinner
was charged to Mr. Okada's room.
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The testimonial and documentary evidence also shows that despite deliberate attempts to conceal Chairman Naguiat's identity
while a guest at Wynn Resorts Macau in September 2010, hotel staff, acting on their own, soon identified Chairman Naguiat by means
of a photo from the PAGCOR website. Their interest in doing so was sparked by the fact that the senior PAGCOR guest known to
them, Mr. Bangsil, exercised great deference to Chairman Naguiat, who the staff determined must be the boss'. Nevertheless, the VIP
service providers continued to refer to Chairman Naguiat only as "sir,” thereby following the wishes and directions of Chairman
Naguiat and Mr. Okada’s associates. The cvidence also shows that several weeks after Chairman Naguiat's intended "Incognito” stay at
Villa 81, Mr. Okada's associates became concerned about the high cost of Chairman Naguiat's luxury stay at Wynn Resorts Macau.
Specifically, Mr. Okada's associate advised Wynn Resorts Macau that the amount being charged for Chairman Naguiat's stay was too
much over an ordinary business expense. Mr. Okada's associate then asked if Wynn Resorls Macau "could reconsider the malter
[Chairman Naguiat's stay] and charge us [Mr. Okada’s company] the original rate [and free upgrade to a Villa] since the party directly
dealing with on this matter is our company {Mr. Okada’s company] rather than each individual guest [Chairman Naguiat]."

Mr. Okada's associate further stated that "since the amount charged [for Chairman Naguiat] is too much beyond the ordinary room

charge, our company [Mr. Okada's company] will be put in a very difficult position to give reasonable explanations if we are inquired
by someone." (Umphasis added).

Despite Mr. Okada’s associate's efforts to have Wynn Resorts Macau reduce these payments and assist in covering up the
beneticial amounts received by Chairman Naguiat, Wynn Resorts Macau denied this request.

Mr. Araki's later email ("Our Chairman Okada once again instructed us to take care of the group [PAGCOR], but not like the
last time.") to Wynn Macau, dated October 3, 2010, also tends to confirm Mr. Okada’s personal knowledge and direction of the
payments made on behalf of Chairman Naguiat and his family for their luxury stay at Wynn Macau for September 22-26, 2010.

The evidence also shows that on September 24-235, 2010, Mr. Okada's associates obtained a total of US 20,000 cash from Wynn
Resorts Macau's main cage as "cash advances” for Chairman Naguiat, his family and party. This same associate of Mr. Okada returned
approximately US 503 of this advance on September 26, 2010 as the remainder from Chairman Naguiat's party. Mr. Okada's City
Ledger Account was again used to pay for this advance.

The evidence also shows that the PAGCOR-related payments made by Mr. Okada and his associates are not the result of any
misunderstanding of the applicable anti-bribery laws, including the FCPA. Conversely, by his own statements and declarations to
fellow Wynn Resorts Board members, Mr. Okada apparently believes that there is nothing wrong with making payments and gifts to
government officials when doing business in Asia. When advised by fellow directors and Wynn Resorts lawyers that such payments
are bribes strictly prohibited by
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the FCPA and other laws, Mr. Okada responded that third party intermediaries or "consultants” can be used to make the payments.

The best evidence of Mr. Okada's belief that it is permissible to make payments to government officials is his admission that
Universal paid expenses for then-PAGCOR Chairman Genuino's trip to the 2008 Beijing Olympics. Mr. Okada explained that since
Mr. Genuino had previously invited Mr. Okada to "one of the islands in the Philippines,” Mr. Okada and Universal's President Tokuda
in turn had Universal pay for expenses related to Genuino’s trip to Beijing, which Mr. Okada stated was arranged by President
Tokuda. This admission by Mr. Okada is consistent with his February 24, 2011 statements to board members that there is nothing
wrong with making payments and gifts to government officials.

The evidence about the corporate structures utilized by Mr. Okada and his associates to initiate his multibillion dollar gaming
business in the Philippines also appears to demonstrate Mr. Okada's intent to do business as he desires, regardless of the applicable
laws and regulations. FSS's examination of the corporate documents relating to Mr. Okada's gaming initiative in the Philippines
appears to show that he has used a complex web of corporate structures and companies to cvade laws which require Philippine
nationals to own 60% interest in all real estate. A separate legal analysis by a Philippine attorney confirms this finding and suggests
that Mr. Okada's Philippine gaming initiative has been set up in violation of applicable law.

Additionally, the preliminary evidence also shows that in connection with Mr. Okada's efforts to develop a gaming business
in IFEZ, Mr. Okada and his associates may be engaging in the same pattern of proscribed payments to government officials. The
preliminary evidence shows that in October 2011, Mr. Okada’s company signed a Memorandum of Understanding with IFEZ to
develop a casino resort near the Incheon International Airport. Preliminary information indicates that IFEZ is overseen by the Incheon
Free Economic Zone Authority, apparently part of the City of Incheon government. Mr. Okada's City Ledger account reflects that
from November 2010 through June 2011, four (4) individuals, incloding IFEZ Commissioner Jong Cheol Lee, had two stays at Wynn
Resorts Las Vegas and Wynn Resorts Macau, where payments totaling US 5,945.52 were made on their bebalf through Mr. Okada's
City Ledger account. Preliminary internet research identifies Jong Cheol Lee as the current IFEZ Conunissioner, a position he has
beld since July 2010. It is not clear at this preliminary stage i) whether Mr. Okada's announced gaming investment and operation
within IFEZ has received any gaming licensing, and 11) whether the three (3) guests who accompanied Commissioner Lee were then
Korean government officials.

The investigation has established that despite requests by Wynn Resorts since August 2011 that Mr. Okada acknowledge in
wiiting that he has reviewed (and agreed to comply with) Wynn Resort's "Code of Business Ethics" and "Policy Regarding Payments
to Government Officials," Mr. Okada has failed to do so.
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Finally, Mr. Okada was interviewed by FSS on February 15, 2012 by FSS and was given the opportunity to present his
version of the facts. Mr. Okada denied knowledge of Chairman Naguiat staying "incognito” at Wynn Macau in September 2010. He
also denied knowledge that Mr. Shoji was actively involved in arranging for Chairman Naguiat's stay. Although Mr. Shoji's emails
asking that Chairman Naguiat's identity be kept secret, and that Chairman Naguiat be provided with cash in connection with his visit,
were copied directly to Mr. Okada, the latter stated that because he rarely uses his personal computer, he would not have seen such
cmails. Mr. Okada acknowledged flying to Macau on September 24, 2010 in order to visit Chairman Naguiat but denied telling Tan
Coughlan that Chairman Naguiat was an important Universal guest who should be (reated well. Conversely, Mr. Okada stated that
there is "no way" he would have said something like that, but would have said "be normal and don’t do anything out of the ordinary."
The substantial evidence relating to Chairman Naguiat's September 2010 stay at Wynn Macau, including emails, Coughlan's
statements, and the facts and reasonable inferences regarding this evidence, cast substantial doubt on Mr. Okada's credibility.

Mr. Okada also vehemently denied making statcments to fellow board members to the effect that doing business in Asia
requires and permits bribes to be made to government officials. Mr. Okada's denials are directly contradicted by many of his fellow
board members.

Sirmilarly, Mr. Okada insists that all of his efforts to establish a gambling business in the Philippines prior to 2010 were
undertaken solely on hehalf of Wynn Resorts. His insistence is largely contradicted by the actions which he undertook. First,
Mr. Okada and Universal invested US 300-400 million to buy property in the Manila Bay Entertainment Zone, which was to be used
for his gaming operation. Mr. Okada admitted that Wynn Resorts had "no money involved in this investment." Secondly, Mr. Okada
and Universal set up an elaborate corporate structure in order to initiate, and operate in the future, a multimillion dollar casino
operation. Wynn Resoits had no participation in any of these corporate initiatives or structures, all of which were controlled by
Universal and Mr. Okada. Third, the provisional gaming license, which is required in order to establish a gaming business in the
Philippines, was procured by Mr. Okada and his companies, without any relation to Wynn Resorts. Finally, when shown an April 25,
2008 Aruze Corp. press release, which states that the Aruze casino operation will be independently developed by Aruze with the mere
intent that Wynn Resorts help guide its project, Mr. Okada denied any knowledge of this press release.

In sum, the substantial evidence developed by this investigation and set forth above, based on witness interviews, public
mformation, documentary and electronic data, provide the Compliance Committee and Board of Directors a factual basis to review
Mr. Okada's continued suitability to be a major shareholder and director of Wynn Resorts.
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Wynn Resorts Issues Statement on Okada Counterclaim
March 13, 2012 OQ:O2 AM Eastemn Daylight Time

LAS VEGAS—(BUSINESS WIRE)-Wynn Resorts, Limited (NASDAQ: WYNN) today issued the following statement in
response fo the counterclaim filed yesterday by Kazuo Okada, Aruze USA, Inc. and Universal Entertainment Corp.:

“Despite its enormous length and scurrilous allegations, the Okada response fails to contain any meaningful denial of
the facts detailed in the Freeh Report or Governor Miller's conference call on February 21, 2012, Wynn Resorts looks
forward to having Mr. Okada's actions and the Company's response presented to and adjudicated in court.”

Contacts

Investors:

Wynn Resorts

Samanta Stewart, 702-770-7555
investorrelations@wynnresorts.com

or ’

Media:

Sard Verbinnen & Co.

George Sard/Paul Kranhold/Charles Sipkins
212-687-8080 / 415-618-8750 / 310-201-2040
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Samuel 8. Lionel (SBN 1766)
Charles H. McCren, Jr. (SBN 144)
Steven A. Anderson (SBN 11901
LIONEL SAWYER & COLLINS
1760 Bank of America Plaza

300 South Fourth Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone:  (702) 383-8888
Fagsimile: - (702) 383-8845

Wiltiam F. Sullivan®

Thomas A, Zaccaro*®

Howard M. Privette®

John 8. Durrant®

PAUL HASTINGS LLP

515 South Flower Street, 25th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90071

Telephone:  (213) 683-6000
Facsimile:  (213) 683-0705
*cidmitted pre hac vice

Astorneys for Defendant KAZUO OKADA and Defendants
and Counterclaimants ARUZE USA, INC. and UNIVERSAL
ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY,NEVADA
WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED, a Nevada CASENO: A-12-656710-B
Corporation,
DEPT.NO: X1
Plaintiff,
Vs, ELECTRONIC FILING CASE

KAZUO OKADA, an individual, et al.,

Defendants.

AND ALL RELATED CLAIMS.

DEFENDANTS’ FIRST REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF
DOCUMENTS TO WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED

DEFENDANTS® FIRST REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS OF WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED
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PROPOUNDING PARTY: DEFENDANT KAZUO OKADA AND DEFENDANTS AND
COUNTERCLAIMANTS ARUZE USA, INC. AND
UNIVERSATL ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION

RESPONDING PARTY: PLAINTIFF AND COUNTERDEFENDANT WYNN
RESORTS, LIMITED

SET NO: ONE

Pursuant toa Nev, R. Civ. P. 34, Defendant KAZUO OKADA and Defendants and
Counterclaimants ARUZE USA, INC. and UNIVERSAL ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION
hereby request that Plaintiff and Counterdefendant WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED produce the
following documents and things for inspection and copying in this First Set of Requests for
Production of Documents (the “Requests™). Such production shall be made within thirty (30}
days of service, 4t Lionel Sawyer & Collins, 1700 Bank of America Plaza, 300 South Fourth
Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89101, The documents and things subject to these Requests shall
remain available to Defendants” counsel until such inspection and copying can be reasonably
completed.

DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise specifically stated in the body of a particular Request, the
following terms and phrases in the Requests shall have the following meaning;

i The term “Articles of Incorporation” refers to Wynn Resorts” Articles of
Incorporation and all amendments, including but not limited to the first Articles of Incorporation
dated June 3, 2002 and the Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation dated
September 16, 2002,

2. The term “Aruze” refers to Aruze USA, Inc., and its predecessors,
successors, parents. subsidiaries, divisions and affiliates, and each of their respective current and
former officers, directors, agents, attorneys, dccouniants, employees, representatives, partners,
and other persons occupying similar positions or performing similar fonctions, and all other

persons acting or purporting to act on ifs behalf or under its control,

R
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3 The term “Bylaws™ refers to Wynn Resorts’ Bylaws and all amendments,
including but not limited to the first Bylaws of Wynn Resorts, Limited dated June 14, 2002, the
Recond Amended and Réstated Bylaws, the Third Amended and Restated g}}‘l&WS effective as of
September 23, 2002 (and as amended on Oetober 21, 2002), the Fowrth Amended and Restated
Bylaws effective as of Noveniber 13, 20006, and the Fifth Amwended and Restated Bylaws effective
as of November 2, 2012,

4. The term “China”™ refers to People's Republic of China, including bit not
timited to Macsu,

5. The term “Communication(8)” medns the wansmission of information by
any medium, including, without limitation, orally, by personal meeting, in writing, by telephone,
letter, telegraph, teleconference, facsimile, telex, telecopy, wire, radio, television, electronic mail,
magnetic tape, floppy disk, diagram, graph, chart, drawing, or posting or other display on the
Infernet or the World Wide Web.

. The term “Complaint” refers 1o the Amended Complaint filed in this action
on Oetober 29, 2012,

7. The term “concerning” shall mean, without limitation, anyvthing that, in
whole or in part, contains, constitutes, compromises, deals with, describes, evidences, embodies,
reflects, refers to, relales to, mentions, defines, bears upon, pertains directly or indirectly to,
discusses, alludes to, responds to, mentions, memorializes, records. comments upon, analyzes,
explains, summarizes, or is in any other way relevant 1o the particular subject matter identified.

& The term “Coniribution Agreement”™ refers to the o the Conwibugion
Agreenient between Wynn Resorts, Wynn, Aruze, Baron Asset Fund and the Kenneth R, Wynn
Family Trust dated June 11, 2002,

9. The term “Cotai” refers 1o the Cotal area of Macan,

10, Theterm “Counterclaim” refers to the Second Amended Counterclaim of
Aruze USA, Ine. and Universal Entertainment Corp, filed n this action on September 12, 2012

i1, The term “Comnterdefendants” refers to Wynn, Kinmmarie Sinatea, Linda
Chen, Ray R. Irani, Russell Goldsmith, Robert J. Miller; John A. Moran, Marc D. Schorr, Alvin

2

s
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V. Shoemaker, Boone Wayson, Elaine P. Wynn, Allan Zeman, individually and collectively, and
each person’s agents, representatives, associates, attorneys, and all other persons acting or
purporting to act on each person’s behalf or under each person’s control,

12. The term “Defendants” refers to Okada, Aruze, and Universal.

13, The term “document(s)” includes, but is not limited to, any
Communications, any writfen, typed, printed, recorded or graphic matter, however produced or
reproduced, of any type or description, regardless of origin or location, .i'.z;clus;i.iag but ot limited
to all cotrespondence, minutes, records, tables, charts, analyses, graphs. regulations, investigation
results, microfiche or microfilm, training materials, electronic records, electronic logs, schedules.
reports, audits, guidelines, policies, protocols, reviews, assessments, budgets, standing order
directives, post orders, manuals, memoranda, notes, lists, logs, notations, contact sheets, calendar
and diary entries, letters {sent or received), telegrams, taxes, telexes, messages (including but not
limited to reports of telephone conversations and conferences), simdis;:s;, rasters, schedules,
baoklets, eirculars, bulletins, instructions, papers, files, minutes, emails, summarics, bulletins,
questionnaires, contracts, memoranda or agreements, requests for proposals or responses to
requests for proposals, assignments, licenses, ledgers, books of account, orders, invoices,
statements, bills, checks, vouchers, notebooks, receipts, acknowledgments, data processing cards,
computer generated matter, photographs, photographic negatives, phonograph records, tape
recordings, evalyations, video recordings, wire recordings, dises, other mechanieal recording
transeripts or logs of any such recordings, all other data compilations from which information can
be obtained, or translated if necessary, and any other tangible thing of a similar nature. Fach
Request for a document or documents shall be deemed to call for the production of the eriginal
document or documents to the extent that they are in or subject to, directly orindirectly, the
control of the party to whom these Requests for Production are directed, In addition, each
Request should be considered as including but not limited to all copies and, to the extent
applicable, preliminary drafts of documents that differ in any respect from the original or final

draft or from each other (.g., by reason of differences in form or conient or by reason of

o

;e
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- Sullivan, LLP (w/l/a Pepper Hamilion LLP} under the direction of Wynn Resorts’ Compliance

| (ii) any other intemnational organization that is designated by the President by Executive order for

handwrittén notes or comments having been added to one copy of a document but ot on the
g;_rigénaﬁ or other copies thereof).
14.  Theterm “FCPA” refers to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, 15
L8.C, § T8dd=1, ¢ seq.

15, The term “Frech Report” tefers to the report prepared by Freeh Sporkin &

Committee, attached ag Exhibit 1 to Wynn Resorts” Complaint, and

16.  Theterm “Freeh Sporkin® refers to Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan LLP (wk/a
Pepper Hamilton LLP), including but not limited to its predecessors, successors, parents,
subsidiaties, divisions and affiliates, and each of their respective current and former partners
(including but not limited to Louis J. Freeh), employees, representatives, agents, attorneys,
accountants, and other persons occupying similar positions or performing similar functions, and
all other persons acting or purporting to act on its behalf or under its control.

17, The term “Government Official” refers to any officer or erployee of a
government or any department, agency, or instrumentality thereof, or of a public international
organization, or any person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of any such government
or department, agency, or instrumentality, or for or on behalf of any such public international
organization,

18, The term “public international organization” means (i}-an organization that

is designated by Executive order pursuant to section 288 of title 22 of the United States Code; or

the purposes of this section, effective as of the date of publication of such order in the Federal
Register.

19.  The term “Investigation(s)” includes but is not limited to any research,
examination, review, study, assessment, analysis, diligence, or inquiry into the matter stated inthe
Request, whether formal or informal.

248, The term “Korea” refers to the Republic of Korea, including but not Hmited
to the Incheon Froe Economic Zone.

A

DEFENDANTS® FIRST REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS OF WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED

RAPP 167



REPORT
Attorney ~ Cllent / Work Product / Privileged and Confidential

8 September 23, 2010: In an ¢-mail 1o Ms. Lai, with a copy to Mr, Okada, Mr, Shoji

" requests that a credit of US 5,000 be extended 10 each person now staying at the Villa
LI for shopping and gaming, up to a total of US 50,000, According to Mr. Shoji's email,
4 the funds are to be advanced by Wynn Macau and charged to the Universal City
‘ Ledger dgccount. ¥

e an e ma

B September 24, 2010 (13:45): MOP 80,000% (approximately US 10,000) is advanced
from the Wynn Macau main cage to 2 Wynn Macau VIP Services employee (no
longer employed at Wynn Macau), who in turn hands the money to Masato Araki,
special assistant to president of Aruze USA, based upon instructions in the above
referenced e-mail to Ms, Lai, The handover of funds is witnessed by Wynn Encore
manager Alex Kong, The funds are charged to the Universal City Ledger Account.t
MOP 15,000 of this sum is used to pay for a Chanel bag that Chairman Naguiat
requested be purchased for his wife.®

B September 24, 2010 (Approximately 14:00): Mrs. Naguiat, her three children, Mrs,
Bangsil and her daughter arrive at Wynn Macau.

™ September 24, 2010 (15:45): Wynn Macau employees meet Mr. Okada and his
assistant, fun Yoshie, at the airport, transport them to Wynn Macau and escort Mr,
Okada to room 5688.% :

W September 24, 2010 (late aftermoon): Mr. Coughlan receives a phione message from
Mr. Yoshie that Mr, Okada would like to speak to him. Mr. Coughlan proceeds to an
area near the Wynn Encore reception desk, where he meets Mr. Yoshie and Mr.
‘Okada, They step into the Cristal Bar to talk, whereupon Mr. Okada, with Mr,
Yoshie interpreting into English, tells Mr, Coughlan that the guests [referring to

* E.mail from Y, Shoji t0 A, Lal, September 23, 2010 [See Appendix]; c-mall from B, Yeung to L. Coughlan,
September 27, 2010 [Ses Appendix}; interviow of B, Yeung, January 4, 2012; Wynn Mucau Manager - Encote
Logbook, September 24, 2010,

5 MOP 80,000 was worth approximately US 9,816 at that time.

57 Wynn Macau Menagor — Encore Logbuok, September 24, 2010 [Sce Appendix}; Wynn Macau “Miscellaneous
Ei Disbursement” record #013014, dated September 24, 2010 [See Appendix]; e-mail from B, Yeung to I, Coughlan,
4 September 27, 2010 [See Appendix]; interview of B, Yeung, January 4, 2012; interview of Alex Kong, February 1,
- 2012,

% Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Loghook, September 24, 2010, [See Appendix]. The Chanel bag was purchased
by a Wynn Macau employce as per instructions by Mr. Araki, who works for My, Okada, The Wyan Macau
employee gave the bag, store receipt and change to Mr. Araki to deliver 1o Mrs, Naguiut, Later, Mr. Avaki stated
that Mrs, Naguiat did not like the bag so he would give it 1o his own wife.

* Wynn Mucnu Manager ~ Encore Logbook, September 24, 2010 {Sce Appendix]; interview of B, Yeung, January
4,2012. :

25
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REPORT
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Chailtman Naguiat’s party] are very important to Universal, and that Mr. Okada wants
M, Couglan to insure that they are well cared for during their stay.”™

B September 24, 2010 (17:00): Mr. Okada meets Chairman Naguiat (and
approximately thirteen (13)) others in his party) for dinner at Okada Restaurant.”’
Mr. Okada hosts the dinner and the bill for $1,673.07 is charged fo his room.

W September 25, 2010 (05:45): Wynn Macau cmployees meet Mr. Okada outside his
room and escort him fo a Hmousine, which transports him fo the Macau Ferry
Tetminal for 07:00 scheduled ferry departure to Hong Kong International Ajrport.”

B September 25, 2010: Beatrice Yeung describes in her log book “Movements —
Incognito (Mr. Naguiat, Cristino L) / Mr, Bangsil, Rogelio / Mr. Opinion, Jeffrey
(Mr. Okada’s guests, Villa 81).”""3

B September 25, 2010: Mr., Araki requests a second advance of MOP 80,000 for guests
in Villa 81, Ms, Yeung accompanies Mr. Araki to the Main Cage and obtains the
advance for him* [This makes a fotal of MOP 160,000 advanced for the use of
Chaltman Naguiat and his party and charged to the Universal City Ledger Account

- per M. Okada's orders, as relayed in Mr, Shoji’s e-malil.]

B September 26, 2010 (11:10): Mr. Araki departs the Wynn Macau Encore main
entrance. He hands Ms. Yeung MOP 4100, returning what he says is the remainder
of the two cash advances for Chairman Naguiat’s party,”

& September 26, 2010 (13:15): Chairman Naguiat’s party departs via Wynn Macau
limousine fo pick up Mrs. Naguiat from shopping and proceeds to the airport.®®

* nterviews of Ian Coughlan, January 5, 2012 and February 2, 2012,
¥ {nterview of B. Yeung, January 4, 2012; Wynn Macau Managet ~ Encore Loghook, September 24, 2010. [See
Appendix]
* Interview of B, Yeung, January 4, 2012; Wynn Macau Manager — Encore Logbook, September 25, 2010. [Ses
Appendix]
¥ \Wynn Macau Mawnager ~ Breors Logbook, September 25, 2010, [See Appendix)
* Interview of B. Yeung, Januaty 4, 2012; Wynn Magau Managor - Entcore Logbook, September 25, 2010 {See
Appendix]; Wynn Macuy “Miscellaneous Disbursement” secord #013066, dated Septewmber 25, 2010, [Ses
Appendix]
% Bomall from B. Yeung to I, Coughlan, September 27, 2010 [See Appendix]; Wynn Macan Manager — Encore
Loghook, September 26, 2010 [See Appendix]; handwritten and signed nole dated “9/26/10" with notation “MOP
4,300 [See Appendix]. The returmed funds were equal to approximately US 503.07 returned out of a total of
approximately US 19,632 provided,

Interview of B, Yeung, January 4, 2012; Wynn Macauy Manager ~ Encore Logbook, Sepiember 26, 2010. [See
Appendix]

2%
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November 10, 2010: Mr. Shoji advises Mr. Coughlan in an e-mail of receipt of Wynn
Macau's invoice for the late September 2010 vislt, in which the Villa [for Chairman
Nagulat] was charged at the amount of MOP 48,000, Mr. Shoji states that #]

understand that Mr. Okada explained to you in Macau that they were our business
guests and we made reseryations for them and all charges are billed tg our company.

While some of charges [sic] will be reimbursed by them, room charges were planned
to be borne by us as ordinary business expenses, Since the amount charged is too

much and beyond the ordinary reom charge, out company will be put in a very
difficult position to give reasonable explanations if we are inquired by someone, |

would appreciate if you would reconsider this matter and charge us the original rate
{free upgrade to Villa) since the party directly dealing with [sic] on this matter is our
company rather than the each [sic] individual guest,”(Emphasis added.)”’

On or about December 16, 2010 After e-mails and phone messages following Mr,
Shoji's September 20, 2010 e-mail, Mr, Coughlan has a phone conversation with Mr,

Shoji, in which he advises Mr. Shoji that, afler internal Wynn Macau discussions, the -

final decision was that Wynn Macau would not provide the requested free upgrade for
the Villa occupied during the September 2010 visit.”

The foregoing recitation of facts surrounding the September 2010 visit of Chairman
Naguiat and his party to Wynn Macaw demonstrates several significant elements of that visit:

Mir. Okada considered these guests to be very important to his company,

An effort was made from the outset to conceal Chairman Naguiat’s identity and
official status, to the point of not even wanting to advise Wynn Macau management
and staff,

With Mr, Okada’s knowledge, Chairman Naguiat and his family were provided with
approximately US 20,000 cash to use for gaming and also shopping

Mr. Okada’s representative sought to have Wynn Resorts funid a portion of the
expenses incurred by Chairman Naguiat and his party, i.e., the free upgrade to & Villa.

** E-mail from Y. Shaji to 1, Coughlan, November 10, 2010 [Sce Appendix]; interviews of 1. Coughlan, December
29, 2011 and January 5, 2012,

% Interviews of I, Coughlan, Decembar 29, 201 tand January 5, 2012; e-mail string between 1, Conghlan and Y.
Shoji and others, September 20 1o December 9, 2010, subject; “Involee and Statement for September Stay.” [See

Appendh]
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B Mr, Okada's representative expressed apprehension about Universal being able to
Justify the level of expenditures in the event of future inquiries.

There is evidence that Mr, Okada personally directed the payments and gifts provided to
Chairman Nagulat and his family during their luxury stay at Wynn Macau’s most expensive
accornmodation in September 2010, On October 5, 2010, Mr. Araki sent an email to Wynn
Macau in order to arrange for a “second group of PAGCOR™ checking into Wynn Macau on
October 8, 2010. Clearly referring back to Chairman Naguiat's stay less than two weeks eatlier,
Mr. Araki writes: “Our Chairman Okada once again instvucted us to take care of the group, but
not like last time meaning that we will not take care of thelr room charges and others.”
(Emphasis added). Mr. Araki, who worked for Mr. Okada and personally supervised Chairman
Naguiat's luxury stay at Wynn Macau, appears to confirm Mr, Okada’s personal knowledge and
control of the payments for Chairman Naguiat,”

It is significant to note that the leadership of PAGCOR, which is appolnted by the
President of the Republic of the Philippines, changed effective June 30, 2010, when Benigno 8.
Aquino III assumed office as President of the Republic of the Philippines, suceeeding Gloria M.
Atroyo, Former PAGCOR Chalrman Efraim C, Genuino, an Atvoyo appointee, left office
effective June 30, 2010, and Cristino L. Naguiat, Jr,, President Aquino’s appointee, assumed the

. position of Chairman and CEO of PAGCOR on July 2, 2010.

A review of the Aruze City Ledger Account records reveals that, afier June 30, 2010, -
there are no charges attributed to Mr. Genuino or any of his family members who collectively
had three (3) separate stays at Wynn resorts (Macau o Las Vegas) while Mr. Genuino was
PAGCOR Chairman,' Conversely, the Aruze City Ledger Account reflects charges for
Chairman Naguiat, his family, and key PAGCOR staff from Chalrman Naguiat's “new”
administration only afler Naguiat became PAGCOR Chairman. This sequence is evidence that
the hosting of these persons at Wynn Resorts, and payments made for them through the Aruze
City Ledger Account, are solely related to PAGCOR, the Philippines government agency in
charge of licensing and regulating Mr, Okada’s business interests,

It is also clear that, having already received approval from PAGCOR in 2008 fora
Provisional Licensing Agreement to develop a gaming business in the Philippines, Mr, Okada
had a strong and continuing motive through 2010 and beyond to maintain favorabie relations
with the Chairmen snd senior officials of PAGCOR. As previously noted, PAGCOR's pelmary
governmental mission is regulating gaming businesses in the Philippines, Mr. Okada’s project
in Entertainment City Manila was prominently featured in PAGCOR’s annual reports for

** Bmai] from Mati Arski to Beatrice Yeung duted October 5, 2010, [See Appendix]
1%The sole exception identifled, Rodolfo Soriana, Jr., is listed on the Aruze City Ledger Accout 8s having a single
room charge on August 13, 2010. [See Appendix]
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2008,'°2009' and 2010.'” The 2010 Annual report features photos and messages from
Chalrman Naguiat, and several other members of the new PAGCOR leadership. The 2010
Annual report makes it clear that two of the proponents, Bloomsbury and the §M Consortium,
are constructing thely vesorts and are expected 1o complete their first phase within 2014, The
other two proponents (one of which is Tiger, the provisionat licensee for Mr. Okada’s casino
project) are in the initial design stages and are expected to break ground in 2012.

The continuing coverage of M. Okada®s Manila Bay Resorts project in PAGCOR’s
annual reports indicates that PAGCOR’s interest In and oversight of this project did not stop with
the granting of the Provisional Licensing Agreement in 2008, Indeed, the very nature of the
Provisional Licensing Agreement requires continued oversight by PAGCOR officials. As
Lazaro advised, the Provisional Licensing Agreement was issued in relation to the *Bagong
Nayong Philipino Manila Bay Tourism City” project, which is also referred to as “PAGCOR

City.” PAGCOR City is envisioned to be a Las Vegas-style gaming and entertainment
complex. The project was designed to attract proponents with established experience in the hotel
and gaming business, PAGCOR released the “Terms of Reference,” which detailed a fist of
requirements to which project proponents must conform in order to qualify for a PAGCOR
Heense to operate within PAGCOR City.

The “Terms of Reference” section provides, in pertinent part, a mandatory Minimum
Investment of US 1 Billion, consisting of both equity and debt, and the submission of an
associated Project Implementation Plan within 120 days from signing of the Provisional License
and approval by PAGCOR (Paragraph 4, Section 1], Terms of Reference). Furthermore, within
30 days of signing of the Provistonal License, proponents are required to submit a Performance
Assurance Bond in the amount of PHP 100 Million to guarantee the completion of the
project (Paragraph 8, Section 11, Tenns of Reference). Within 15 days of signing of the
Provisional License, proponents are also required to open an Escrow Account (with an initial
deposit of at least US 100 Million) through which funds for the project will pass. This Escrow
Account must maintain a balance of at least US 50 Million. (Paragraph 9, Sectlon I, Terms of
Reference).

Specifically, paragraph 13 of the Terms of Reference states the following in relation to
achieving a regular, non-provisional, Casino Gaming license: '

1 PAGCOR 2008 Annual Repon, pp. 12-18, viewed Janwuary 25, 2012 at bitpe//www.na, Jasthuial-

rggmfannuai-zgoBlgagcog-gmxgal-gengmgggg;hggl‘ {See Appendix]
PAGCOR 2009 Annual Report, pp. 16-19, viewed January 25, 2012 ut htin://www nageor.ph/annual:
;eggm{ggﬂuahzut)?ﬁggcor-nnnual-repomzogahlml. [See Appendix]}
¥ PAGCOR 2010 Amiwal Repont, pp. 24-26, viewed January 25, 2012 at https//wwew pascor.ah/annual.
reportsfanmual-2010/papcor-aimual-report-20 10 htm), [See Appendix]
) 29
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*13. lsswance of License

A Provisional License will be issued to the winning proponent effective for
- the duration of the project development period and shall not exceed the
approved completion date of the whole project.

The Regulor Casino Gaming License will be issued upon completion of the
Project and upon approval by PAGCOR of the report detailing the actnal
total cost of the Project to ensure the proponent's compliance with the
approved project cost based on the Project Implementation Plan. The temn
of éhe License shall not exceed the term of PAGCOR as specified In RA
9487,

No sub-lcense will be issued nor aflowed.” (Emphasis added.)

Thus, a Regular Casino Gaming License will be issued by PAGCOR upon (1) completion of the
Project and (2) compliance with the approved project cost as approved by PAGCOR, based on
the previously submitted Project Implementation Plan, including all other conditions as may be
stipulated in the Provisional License Agreement.'™ Clearly, PAGCOR maintains an active
regulatory role over gaming businesses after the issuance of a provisional gaming license. An
operator who has already been granted a provisional license, therefore, would have a powerful
business incentive to maintain favorable relations with PAGCOR's Chairman and senfor
leadership.'

Finally, the PAGCOR officials with whom FSS spoke in December 2011 indicated that,
upon “taking over” from the Genuino Administration in 2010, they conducted a review of
previously granted gaming Heenses to ensure that al} issuance decisions had been done properly,
indicating that the Naguiat Administration was exercising close review in motsitoring of all
licensees, including Mr. Okada,

"% See research of Michelle Lazaco as expressed in her email dated January 36, 2012 to Mike McCall; See slso
“Terms of Reference” thit were attached to the email, [See Appendix]

19 & secent example of the extent of PAGCOR’s continuing oversight of gaming operators can be found in the
August 2011 issue of Inside Asian Gaming mngazine, An article thereins reported on claims by gaming operator
Thunderbird Resorts, Inc, (“Thunderbird™) that PAGCOR had unlawiully attempted to force Thunderbird, through
various allegedly selective enforcement actions, to renegotiate the revenue sharing agreement it had sighed with the
previous PAGCOR leadership tder Mr. Genuino, See *Ball of Confusion,” dated August 10, 2011, Inside Asian
Ganting, online edition, viewed Janvary 26, 2011 at hitp: s $-ball-of-
confusionhtml. In the September 2011 issue, PAGCOR responded by making reference to various regulatory or
enforcement functions it had been camrying out with tegard 1o Thunderbird's casinos, up through the time that the
dispute becamse heated, Among the functions mentioned were “resident monitoring teams” in Thunderbird casinos to
*.guarantee the. fair conduct of games..,” ns well as PAGCOR's serving of a notice of closure to Thunderbitd in
tesponse to the disputed issues.  See “Philippines Gaming Regulation-~The Untold Story™, dated 23 September
2011, Inside Astan Gaming, onliue edition, viewed Januaty 26,2011, [Sce Appendix]. These statoments by
PAGCOR clearly indicate that PAGCOR malntains active reguiatory monitoring of licensed gaming businessas fn
the Philippines and claims the authorlty to close down licensed operators. ’
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Mr. Okada’s hosting and payments on behalf of PAGCOR Chalrman Naguiat and his
family at Wynn Macau, was most likely related to Mr, Okada’s business interests in the
Philippines, and would therefore constitute a prima facie violation of the FCPA both by Mr.
Okada as well as by Aruze USA, Inc.

4. Possible Pattern of FCPA Violations Regarding Kovean Government Officials

As stated previously, in recent years, Mr. Okada has bean pursuing development of a
resort complex in the Incheon Free Economic Zone in the Republic of Korea, Jong Cheol Lee,
the Commissioner of the Incheon Free Economic Zone Authotity, and apparently an Incheon
govemment offlclal, announced the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding on
approximately October 27, 201 1, between the Incheon Free Economic Zone (“IFEZ™) and Okada
Holdings Korea to develop a casino resort near the Incheon International Airport.'®

A review of the Aruze City Ledger Account disclosed charges paid for Jong Cheol Lee
and other guests of kis party at Wynn Las Vegas and Wynn Macau for the period November
2010 to June 201 1. Registration documents provided by Wynn Resorts disclosed annotations for
M, Lee and three other guests, indicating; “Share with Incheon Free Economic Zone.”
Accoriding to the Aruze City Ledger Account, the following amounts were pald for govemment
Lec and his party:

Relationship to

Name Location and Date of | Total Charged to
Incheon Free Stay Aruze City Ledger
: Economic Zone Account

Jong Cheol Lee Commissioner WLV Nov 16-18 1,597.16
2010

WM _June 2011 1,134.55

Woo Hyeung Lee Unkhown WLV Nov 16-18 843.89
2010

WM June 2011 1,083.22

Min Yong Choi Unknown WLV Nov 16-18 . 507.50
2010

Ki Dong Hur Unknown WLV Nov 16-18 779.20
2010

TOTAL PAID 5,945.52

These payments made for and on behalf of possible Kerean government officials may be part
of & continuing patiern by Mr. Okada and his associates to commit prima facie violations of the

b JHenglish.visiikores.or kefenu/bsitour r/pds/content/ems Vil 6 6P

sm=&keyward=, viewed Sanuary 14, 2012 [See Appendix]. http:/blogdaum net/ikoreatimes/60, viewed January
14, 2012. {Sce Appendix]
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FCPA. However, further investigation is required in order te determine (i) the nature of Mr.
Okada’s relationship with these guests; (ii) whether these guests actually had a government
affiliation at the time of their 2010 visits to Wynn Las Vegas and Wynn Macau; and, (iii) the
status of Mr, Okada’s gaming initiative in Korea,

S, .Mr. Okada’s Continuing Refusal fo Receive Wynn Resorts mandated FCPA
Orientation Training and to Acknowledge Wynn Resorts Code of Conduct

Mr. Okada's apparent practice and pattern of committing prima facle violations of the
FCPA must also be reviewed in the context of his ongoing and likely future conduct as a
majority sharcholder and director of Wynn Resorts. Since August, 2011, Mr. Okada has failed to
make himself avatlable for requisite Wynn Resorts Board of Directors training regarding the
FCPA and compliance. Not anly has every other board member accepted and received such
training, but attempts to accommaodate Mr. Okada (including Japanese translation of the FCPA
training materials and telephonic availability for the treining) have failed,

Moreover, since August 2011, Mr. Okada has also failed even to acknowledge in writing
Wynn Resorts Code of Business Ethics and Wynn Resorts Policy regarding Payinents to
Government Officials. Mr. Okada's continuing fallure to perform this requisite review and
agreement to comply with Wynn Resorts Ethics and anti-bribery rules and regulations create risk
to Wynn Resoits and its board, Such non-compliance by Mr. Okada also supgests that he
intends to continue his apparent practice and pattern of making FCPA prohibited payments on a

going-forward basis. Any such future conduct would substantially enhance the risks to Wynn

Resorts and compromise Mr. Okada's fiduciary dutics to Wynn Resorts,

On August 5, 2011, Cheryl Palmer, the executive assistant to Kevin Tourek, sent out an
email memorandum on Mr. Tourek’s behalf to all board members stating that per compliance
policy requirements, all members must acknowledge in writing on an annual basis having
reviewed (and agreeing to comply with) two separate documents: (1) the Company's Code of
Business Ethics and (2} Policy Regarding Payments to Government Officials.'”” A copy ofthe
form was aftached to the email, as was a copy of both the Code and the Policy. The email asked
for the executed form to be returned prior to August 26, 2011, All of the members of the board,
except for Mr. Okada, returned a signed copy of the acknowledgement. Mr. Okada was
reminded, via emails to his representatives on a number of occasions,'® as well as via a letter
from Kevin Tourek, dated November 2, 2011, to provide an executed copy of the

19 Soe email from Chery! Palmer dated August 5, 2011, {See Appendix]
1% See emaily contalned in email from Kevin Tourek to Robert Shapiro, Esq, dated October 24, 2011, [See
Appmdtx]
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acknowledgement form no later than November 15, 20117 Mr. Okada failed to meet this
deadline and, as of the date of this report, has yet to provide a signed copy of the form,’*°

In addition to his failure to return the fully executed Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics and the Policy Regarding Payments to Govemment Officials Acknowledgment Form,
which, a8 previously indicated, was sent out in August of 2011, Mr, Okada has yet to retum a
secondary acknowledgement form that was attached to the annual Directors® & Officers’
Questionnaire (“D&O Questionnaire™). This form was sent out to each member of the board of
directors on January 9, 2012, as part of the overall D&O Questionnaire packet,'!! The packet
contained instructions to “sign where indicated by the sign here fabs” and asked that the 2012
D&O Questionnaire be returned in its entlrety on or before January 27, 2012, The two places
that required Mr. Okada’s signature were (1) on page 26 of the D/O Questionnaire itself, and (2)
on page 50 on the scparate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Acknowledgement Form that
was patt of the overall D&O Questionnaire packet. Though Mr, Okada returned the signature
page (page 26) of the D&O Questionnalre itself on January 27, 2012, (which was confirmed to
FSS on February 7, 2012}, the fact that he has yet to return the separate Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics Acknowledgement Form (which he has unequivocally pledged to do by
virtue of signing on the signature page of the D&O Questionnaire) is telling and is consistent
with his refusal to provide an executed copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the
Policy Regarding Payments to Government Officials Acknowledguient Form that was sent to
him in August of 2011, Though Wynn Resorts did not send to Mr, Okada the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics and the Policy Regarding Payments to Government Officials attached to the
D & O Questionnaire in Japanese language versions, which they did previously with respect to
the code and policy sent out in August of 2011 after a request by Mr. Okada’s attorney, Mr.
Okada has never previously requested that the D & O Questionnaire itself be translated into
Japanese. Mr. Okada was again reminded of his obligation to teturn the separate Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics Acknowledgment Form (page 50 of the D&O Questionnaire
packet) in an email from Roxane Peper to Mr, Okada’s assistant, Takashi Matsui, on January 31,
2012, A copy of the form was attached to the email for Mr. Okada’s convenience. This form
remains outstanding, .

199 Qe fetter from Kevin Tourek to Mr, Okada, dated November 2, 2011, [See Appendix}

19 I g Tetter dated December 1, 2011 to Robert Shapiro, Esq., outside counsel for Wynn Resorts, Gidon Caine,
Es4., counsel for Mr, Oknda, explalned that the reason Mr. Okada did not sign the acknowledgment form was dugto
the fact that the materlals had not been transiated into Japanese, As of the date of submission of this Repott, Mr,
Okada has not yet submitted a signed copy of the avknowledgment form despite being provided with the requested
teansiations, which were aitached to & leter aent via emall dated December 27, 2011 from Jeffrey Soza to Gidon
Caine, [See Appendix)

1 See Memorandum from Kim Sinatra to Board of Direators and Officers of Wynn Resorts, Limbted, dated January
9, 2012, and 2012 Director’s & Qfficers Questionnaire sttached thereto, {See Appendix]

112 See enail from Takashi Matsul 10 Roxane Peper, dated January 27, 2012, [See Appendix}

I See emait from Roxane Pepor to Tokashi Matsui, dated January 31, 2012, [See Appendix}
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On February 1, 2012, Barry Brooks, one of Mr. Okada’s attorneys, contacted Kevin
Tourek, senior vice president and general counsel with Wynn Resorts, via email regarding
“addressling] the request, forwarded to Mr, Okada under cover of a memorandum from Mr,
Wynn, that Mr, Okada execute and return to Wynn Resorts, Ltd. ("Wynn Resorts") a form of
acknowledgment ("Acknowledgment*) in regard to the Wynn Resorts Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics {the "Code™), Most importantly, I wanted to emphasize that Mr. Okada agrees, with a
deep sense of commitment, with the principles set out in the Code and agrees that it is in the best
interest of Wynn Resorts and its shareholders that he, as a director, be a leader in observing and
advocating for those principles. Also, and in any case, Mr, Okada believes that the requirements
of the Code, and the spirit of those requirements, are keys to the future success of Wynn
Resorts.”!'* In a follow-up phone call to that email, Mr. Brooks and Mr. Tourek discussed the
ramifications of Mr. Okada not signing the policy, the possibility of interpretation issues, and
concerns over whether Mr. Okada may have any conflict of interest issues. M. Brooks also
asked for a copy ofthe D & O Questionnaire.!®

6, Mpr. Okada, his associates and companies, Universal have pursued
independently a casino gambling development in the Philippines sinee 2008,

FSS interviewed Mr, Okada on February 15, 2012 and the results of that interview are set
forth more fully in Section VL™ In this interview, Mr. Okada asserted that afl his efforts in the

N

- Philippines prior to the change of presidential administration in the summer of 2010 were

undertaken on behalf of and for the benefit of Steve Wynn and Wynn Resorts, and that he only
undertook to develop a gaming business in the Philippines independently subseguent to the
change of presidential administrations.

On December 20, 2007, Aruze Corp. issued a press release entitled “Business
Realignment and Future Business Development.” The press release stated the following:

“The Company looks to acquire the Heenses necessary to operate a casino resort in the Asian
region, including Macau, and to commence operation of a casino resort on its awn over the next
business year. ... For this know-how, which is vital from a management perspective, the
Company intends to enlist the full cooperation of Wynn Resorts, Limited’s Steve Wynn in ity
futurg pursuits regarding this project. For the purpose of successfully operating a casino resort in
the Asian Region on an independent basis, the Company has received agreement from Steve
Wynn that he will supply all necessary support, including active personal exchange with Wynn
Resorts, Limited....” "(Emphasis added.)

™ Sec email from Barry Brocks to Kevin Tourck, dated Febnitary 1, 2012, [See Appandix)

*** See email from Kevin Tourek to Kim Sinatra, dated Pebruary 2, 2012. [See Appendix]

% Statements attributed to Okada during the February 15, 2012 Interview are bascd on FSS’ contemporaneons
notes,

W See JASDAQ press release for Aruze Corp., dated December 20, 2007, entitled “Business Realignment and

Future Business,” available at; hitps/fvwsy universal-777.comlenviv/ieleases/2007/20071220 _epdf, [Sec Appendix]
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On April 25, 2008, Aruze Corp, issued another press release entitled “Casino Project in the
Philippines.” This press release stated the following;

“As announced in its ‘Business Realignment and Future Business Development® press release
issued December 20, 2007, ARUZE GROUP seeks to commence the operation of a casino resort
in the Asian region, whi Il be conducted independently by ARUZE CORP., ..., Out of the
above mentioned elements, where essential management-based know-how is concerned, the
Company intends to proceed with the project under the full guidance of Wynn Resorts, Limited's
Steve Wynn.""¥(Emphasis added.)

The press release identifies the focation of the planned casino as a plot of land adjacent o
“Bagong Nayong Pilipino Manila Bay Tourism City.”

The language in the press relenses suggest that Universal’s intentions from the inception of the
project were to develop a gaming business independently, and not for the benefit of Steve Wynn
or Wynn Resorts.

7. Mr. Okada has stated that Universal paid expenses related to then-PAGCOR

Chairman Genuine's trip to Beijing during the 2008 Olympics.'®

Mr, Okada was asked during his interview whether he met then-PAGCOR Chairman
Genuino in Beljing during the 2008 Olympics. Mr, Okada stated that Universal’s President
Tokuda made the arrangements for Chairman Genuing to travel {o the Olympics. Mr. Okada
explained that Mr, Tokuda was involved with the setting of the travel itinerary. When Mr.
Okada was asked if the trave! arrangements were “paid by Universal,” Mr. Okada responded
“not 100% perhaps there were people certainly not afl but I'm not familiar with the details.” Mr,
Okada was then asked “To your knowledge, did Universal pay any of the associated costs of any
of the travel of Mr. Genuino?” My, Okada answered “T don’t know whether or not the travel
expense was paid by them. My understanding is that there was a certaln amount of personal
monies being spent from the attendees and participants including Chairman Genuino but I do not
know details regarding this.” Mr. Okada was then asked “But is it your knowledge that some of
those expenses were paid by Universal?* Mr. Okada answered: “Regarding the individual
payment of personal monies, whether before or after, it was Universal that put together all of the
expenses.”

Mr. Okada then explained that since Mr. Okada was previously invited to “one of the
islands in the Philippines so in return well we decided that we would decide to do this in tum so |
too would invite them as well. There was a time from where we had that understanding now that
Irecall, Solmay have asked Mr. Tokuda to include this person [Genuino] as well.” The

"8 Sea JASDAQ press release for Aruze Corp., dated April 25, 2008, entitled “Casino Project In the Philippines,”

avalinble at: http/fwwiw.aniversal-777.com/en/in/relenses/2008/20080425 e pr2.pdf. [Ses Appendix]

 Attributions from Mr, Oknda's interview arc based on FSS caniemporaheous noles.
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following question was then asked: “If there was a time that Genuino has Invited you to the
Philippines and in return for that you may have invited him or had some knowledge that
Universal paid some of his expenses when he came to Beljing?” Mr. Okada responded; “1don’t
like to be invited more than what is necessary because that would mean that | am vulnerable and
1 don’t like that. 1 was told that it was paid for and he insisted so I remember he had to be paid
for in this way. SoIvemember that Mr, Tokuda said he should be included as well. | remember
thinking that T had to return this in some way so I may have made that decision based on that
memory.” (Emphasis Added).

Later in the interview, Mr, Okada stated that Chairman Genuino appeared to have a “few
people” with him at the Olympics and, “1 asked my staff why wasn’t he around and then my
people said Mr. Genuino had a few people accompany him and he met with them to go shopping
and onee 1 heard that 1 do not recall now but again 1 don’t have a clear recollection of his
whereabouts,”

VI. Summary of Mr. Okada’s F ary 15, 2012 Interview'™®

‘Mr, Okada had four lawyers present over the course of the interview, including a
Japanese interpreter/assoclate, Mr, Okada was given a full opportunity to answer all questions,
He attended the interview voluntarily and at the end he was asked whether he wanted to explain
anything else.

A. Apparent FCPA Violations reparding Philippine PAGCOR officials,

L. Mr. Okada admitted going to Macan on or about September 24 2010 to meet with
PAGCOR chairman Naguiat at Wynn Macau. Mr. Araki called Mr, Okada on
sither September 24 or 23 to advise that Chairman Naguiat was at Wynn Macau,

2. M Okada stated he flew to Macau from Japan for the sole reason of meeting
Chairman Naguiat.

" 3. Mr. Okada stated the purpose of Chairman Nagulat's visit to Wynn Macau was
for business — as a new PAGCOR Chairman, Naguiat wanted to better understand
the casino business. Mr. Okada stated that a number of his Universal employees,
including Araki, were at Wynh Macau in ordet to assist Chairman Naguiat in this
regard.

4. Mr. Okada stated that when he got to Wynn Macau he asked to see Ian Coughlan,
Wynn Macau CEO.

5. Mr. Okada asked to see and met with Jan Coughlan at Wynn Macau but denied
telling Coughlan that the puests were Universal VIPs and that thcy should be
treated well,

¥ Certain sections of the report below are presented in an abbreviated form, See the attached notes of Mr. Okada’s
interview for a more oxpansive description, {Ses Appendix]
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6. Mr, Okada emphatically denjed saying this and related that there is no way he
waould have said something to that extent regarding special care: “1 would have
said this is a person with a position with PAGCOR, T would have said be normal
and don’t do anything out of the ordinary.”

7. M. Okada stated he attended a dinner for approximately ten (10) people at Wynn
Magau and that Chairman Naguiat also attended, ’

8. Mr. Okada stated that either Araki, Shoji or Uniyersal pald for the dinner

9. Mr. Okada said that he did not know whether any other PAGCOR officlals
aitended the dinner. :

10, Mr, Okada stated that he and Naguiat did not discuss any business ut the dinner
which would have been rude,

11. Mr. Okada stated that he believed Naguiat’s wife was present at the dinner but
that he was not introduced to her.

12. Mr. Okada stated he left early the next morning.

B. Mr, Okada’s Knowledse of and Response to Chairman Naguiat’s September
2010 stay

1. Mr. Okada stated that sometime after September 2010 he learned from Unlversal
President Tokuda that the cost of Chairman Naguiat’s stay at Wynn Macau
exceeded reasonable entertainment expenses.

2. Mr. Okada learned about the excessive September 2010 expenses from Takuda
about three or four months after the evenis when the bills would come up,

3. Mr. Okada stated that he was never told the cost of Chairman Naguiat’s Wynn
Macau stay nor did he ask anybody that question,

4. Mr. Okada stated that he understood that Chairman Naguiat had stayed in the
most expensive accommodation at Wynn Macau, But he said *I heard later on
that he was in one of the more expensive rooms. 1 heard this in the context of it
would be a problem regarding our corporate policy....”

5. Mr. Okada stated that Chalrman Naguiat’s wife was present at Wyna Macau, Mr,
Okada did not know if his children were present.

6. Mr. Okada stated that he did not know that any cash had been provided to
Chairman Naguiat,

7. Mr. Okada stated that he did not know that Universal employees had tried to hide
the identity of Chairman Naguiat as a guest.

8. Mr. Okada stated that he did not know how long Chaiyman Naguiat had stayed at
Wynn Macau.

9. Mr. Okada denied seeing two (2) emails from Shaji to Angela Lai at Wynn
Macau, dated September 20” and 23rd 2010 respectively, which requested .
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reservations for a Universal VIP guest, “who would not be registered,” and
arrangements to provide up to 5,000 US credit for each person staying at
Naguiat’s Villa. Mr. Okada explained that although he saw his name in the email
66's, he would not have seen either email because for the most part he does not
use his PC,

10. Mr. Okada stated that internal Universal rules do not permit the payment of cash
to government officials, Mr, Okada stated that no stay In the Villa in Wynn
Macau could cost US 50,000 '

11. Mr. Okada stated that Internal Universal roles permitted the payment of
reasonable entertainment expense for government officials but did not know what
amount was permitted.

12, Mr. Okada stated that the cost of Chairman Naguiat’s stay at Wynn Macau caused
a “problem™ for Universal and that as a result Araki was fired, and Shoji resigned
after having been scolded by Mr. Okada,

13. Mr. Okada stated that he did not make any changes at his company or give anyone
new instructions as a result of finding out about Naguiat’s stay in September
2010,

14, Mr. Okada said that it was possible that Chairman Naguiat would be billed for the
cost of the stay.

15, Mr. Okada said, when he was asked about a reference in a Shoji email to posting
all expenscs to the Universal City Ledger Account, that he lacked any knowledge
of such an account and said “I wonder if the City Ledger is in reference to our
internal policy, as long as it is under that celling....”

C. Mr. Okada stated that he was aware of only one other guest stay at Wynn
Macau that he believed was improperly paid by Universal,

1, Mr. Ckada stated only a few weeks ago he learned from President Tokuda that
Anthony Genuino, son of former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino, had stayed at
Wynn Las Vegas in September of 2008 and that Universal had pald US 2300 for
his stay,

2, Mr. Okada stated that Genuino would be sent the bill for this cost

3. Mr. Okada denied any knowledge of other PAGCOR officials staying at Wynn
Resorts from 2008 through June 2011 with Universal paying for their expenses,

4. Mr. Okada stated that he had just instructed President Tokuda of Universai to

conduct an investigation into Universal’s payment of entertainment expenses.

Mr. Okada blamed Shoji as the responsible party for these payments.

6. Mr. Okada stated that he yelled at Shoji for not reporting these matters to him and
would have fired Shoji except that Shoji resigned, Mr. Okada stated that Tokuda

n
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did report these matters and Mr. Okada believed that Shoji was also in a position
to know all about what had happened but had failed to report it to him,

7. Mr, Okada stated that Shoji was a trusted employee who had worked closely with
him since 2002 and should have reported these matters to him,

8. Mr. Okada stated that they were just starting this investigation and that bills may
be sent to certain of these guests for the expenses which Universal paid,

9. Mr. Okada especially blamed Mr. Sholi since he was the head of the company’s
compliance committee from 2002-2010,

10. Mr, Okada stated that he last met with Chairman Naguiat in the Philippines during
January 2012 in order to seek land leasing approval from PAGCOR.

11, Mr. Okada stated that Universal had an expense policy but he didn’t know what
the amounts were, Mr. Okada stated that he was unfamiliar with the specific
details of his compliance policy because he was too high within the company. He
lefi it to others to handle the details of the policies.

2. Mr. Okada was asked a series of questions regarding about a dozen other
PAGCOR officials who stayed at Wynn Macau or Wynn Las Vegas during 2010
and 2011 for whom Universal paid their expenses,

13, Mr. Okada denied having authorized any of these payments and said that he
would not have authorized such payments if the guests were PAGCOR officials,

14. Mr. Okada stated that or one occasion he met Jose Miguel Arroyo, husband of
Former Philippine President Gloria Arroyo, but did not know that Jose Arroyo
had stayed at Wynn Las Vegas in November 2009, with Universal paying for his
expenses totaling US 4,642, .

15, Mr, Okada stated that he met Chairman Naguiat approximately 4 or 5 times since
Nagulat’s Chairmanship in June 2010 and that these meetings always involved
official matters,

16. Mr. Okada stated that he told Tokuda in December of 2011 to investigate these

" matters,

17. Mr, Okada stated that December was the first time he asked Mr. Tokuda
investigate these charges for Universal.

18. Mr. Okada stated further that Shoji was a trusted employee whom he had met
with “very frequently.” During the time period in September 2010 when Shoji
was setting up the Naguiat visit, Shoji told Mr. Okada nothing about Naguiat.

D, Okada statements to the Board of Divectors Regarding doing business in
Asia

1. Mr, Okada stated that he could not specifically remember attending a Wynn
Resorts Board of Directors meeting in February 2011,
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2. Mr. Okada stated that he did not remember attending a Wynn Resorts Board of
Directors meeting where bribery was discussed,

3. Mr. Okada denied ever stating to Wynn Resort Directors words to the effect that
“it was a matter of hiring the right people and that you must pay other people.”
He responded “absolutely not, that’s a lie.”

4. Mr, Okada denied telling fellow board members words to the effect that “you
have to follow local customs and that’s why you have consultants.”

5. Mr. Okada also denied ever stating o fellow board members words to the effect
*I wouldn’t bribe someone but would have someone else bribe that person.”

6. Asto bribing someone In the Philippines, Mr. Okada stated that “there is no need

to do that i the Philippines even because we are in the position to invest.”

7. Mr. Okada also denied ever stating words to the effect that *In Asla, it is okay to
glve gifts to government officials,” His response was “absolutely not.”

8. Mr. Okada stated that he had been a member of the Wynn Resorts Board of
Directors since 2005 or 2006. When asked about his duties or responsibilities as a
director of Wynn Resorts, Okada stated that he had to “ensure socialfy just
company, there should be no illegal activities, and that ¢ have to help them be

-successful and grow as a company.”

8. Mr. Okada was asked if he had ever read the Wynn Resoris Code of Conduct to
which he responded, “No because it Is in English, no ! cannot,”

10. Mr. Okada was asked if he had accepted Wynn Resorts Board of Director FCPA
training in 2011, to which he replied that he had recelved some documents but
sent them to his lawyers,

Dolng Business in the Philippines

1. Mr. Okada stated that prior to the new Philippine administration taking over in
2010, his efforts to conduot 2 gambling business in the Philippines were being
dene for Wynn Resorts and that he was reporting to Steve Wynn about these
activities,

2. Mr. Okada sald before the new Philippine administration in 2010 “All of the
conversation between myself and Genuino was for the sake of explaining to Mr.
Wynn,”

3. Mr. Okada stated that a press release from Aruze Corp. dated April 25, 2008, that
announced Aruze woukl independently operate a casino project in the Philippines,
had not been presented to him for approval,

4, Mr, Okada stated that neither Steve Wynn nor Wynn Resorts had invested any
money in the Philippine business initlative which he had been conducting since
2008, '

E
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5. Qkada stated that Universal had invested between US 300-400 million in 2008 1o
acquire the land for the Manila Bay project.

6. When asked whether Mr. Wynn or Wynn Resorts invested any money in the US
300-400 million purchase, Mr. Okada stated that “Wynn Resorts had no
involvement whatsoever.”

7. Mr. Okada stated that it was only after the new Aquino presidency in June of
2010 that he decided to pursue a Philippine gaming project independently.

. 8. Mr. Okada stated that this land had been acquired by a company called Eagle I

i Land Holdings in which Aruze USA had an ownership interest.

: 9. Mr. Okada stated that at the time of the land acquisition in 2008, Eagle I Land
Holdings was 60% owned by Filipino nationals. However, when asked to identify
the 60% ownership today, he responded “I know of them I know whe they are but
I don’t remember their names.”

10. Mr. Okada stated that he was aware of the Philippine legal requirement that land
be 60% owned by Fillpinos, )

11. Mr, Okada stated that neither Tiger or Aruze had & provisional gaming license for
the Philippines,

12, Mr. Qkada does not know whether a deposit was made by Universal in order to

“pursue the Filipino gaming initiative,

13. 1t was his understanding that to get a gaming license in the Philippines you
needed to do certain things beforehand and that he asked questions on Wynn’s
behalf as to what had to be done.

14, Mr, Okada stated that Platinum Gaming and Entertainment was a Philippine
company sun by Soriano.

15, Mr. Okacda stated that he did not know Paoto Bombase or Manuel Camacho as
shareholders of Eagle 1 and Eagle I,

16. Mr. Okada stated that Masato Araki may have lent his name as a stockholder to

i Eagle I and Eagle II but that Mr, Okada did not know the details. Mr. Ckada
stated that he did not know whether Manabu Kawasaki, who was another
Universal employee, was a stockholder of Eagle [ or Bagle IL

F. Possible Payments by Universal to Korean Government Officials,

Mr, Okada stated that he i3 interested in the IFEZ for possible investment, Mr, Okada
stated that he personally set up arrangements in 2009 or 2010 for a Korean delegation from the
IFEZ to visit Las Vegas. According to Mr, Okada, this delegation was led by a Mr. Lee, who
was “seconded” to IFEZ by the Korean government. Mr. Okada invited this delegation to see the
Venetian.
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Mr, Okada stated that “at the very beginning” he discussed the “issue of expense” and the
Korean side sald they had to pay for their own expenses as government officials, Mr, Okada
stated that the Korean delegation stayed at Wynn Las Vegas and pald for their rooms. .When told
that Universal in fact paid for the Koreans® rooms, Mr, Okada stated “It’s possible we paid in

_ advance the first time but then they paid later. Tam personally in charge of the Koreans,” When

Mr. Okada was then asked if he knew that was done he responded “I am certain it was done.”

Mr. Okada later repeated that the Koreans paid for their own travel. When advised that
Universal paid for Commissioner Lee and others to stay at Wynn Macau in 2011, and Wynn Las
Vegas in 2010, Mr, Okada stated that “It may have been that we made a temporary payment to
be reimbursed later but in any case for Korea all frips must be applied for with the City Hall and
they need to get prior approval.”

Mr, Okada later repeated that he did not authorize Universal to pay approximately US
6,000-worth of room charges for Commissioner Lee and other IFEZ officials for stays at Wynn
Resorts, When asked if it would be against “Universal’s policy” to pay such travel expenses,
Mr. Okada repeated that the Koreans would pay for their own expenses. He added that “Maybe
it was the case where Universal made a temporary payment to be reimbursed later and all this
would be paid by ‘admin official.”

G. Mr, Okada Instructs My, Tokuda to Conduet an Investigation

Mr. Okada stated that since about 20082009, Universal hag had both “ordinary” and
“extraordinary”™ rules about paying entertainment expenses regarding government officials.
However, he stated that he did not know the “specific details.” Mr. Okada stated that “cash”
could not be given but that he did not know the dollar amount limit for providing government
officials with meals,

Mr. Okada stated that afler learning from Mr. "Tokuda about the excessive expenses paid
by Universal for Chairman Naguiat's September 2010 stay at Wynn Macau, Mr. Okada did not
take any steps or give instructions to prevent a recurrence. Indeed, Mr, Okada stated his belief
that Universal's corporate policy as it exists today is “plenty on its own.”

Mr, Okada stated that “within the last week or so” he learned from Mr. Tokuda that the
son of then-PAGCOR Chairman Genulno stayed at Wynn Las Vegas in 2008 and that Universal
had paid US 2,800 for his expenses. Mr. Okada said this was “inexcusable” and that he had
given instructions to have him [Genuino] billed directly. Mr. Okada further stated that Mr,
Tokuda had found “several more” of these instances but that Mr. Okada did not “know the
details.”" Mr. Okada stated that in regard to Chairman Nagulat’s stay at Wynn Macau, perhaps an
invoice should also be sent to him as the customer, "

Mr, Qkada stated that “it was just yesterday” that he heard from Tokuda about “these
issues being raised.” ARer being asked what he knew about a Hst of PAGCOR officials whose
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stays at Wynn Macau and Wynn Las Vegas were pakd by Universal from 2008 —2611, Mr.
Okada denied any knowledge of these events. However, Mr, Okada stated that “everything |
believe [FSS] mentioned matches with what Mr. Tokuda is investigating right now. And Iwil]
have him write a paper that lists all the countenmeasures and a progress report and what has been
wrapped up and so forth.”

Mr. Okada stated that in approximately December 2011, he “clearly instructed” Mr,
Tokuda to conduct an investigation about these matters. Atthe end of the interview, Mr. Okada
stated that “I will look into all the expense that you have asked about and if it is someone who
has an existing relationship [ will for sure bill that person,”

VIL Conclusions

The investigation has produced substantial evidence that divectly relates to Mr, Okada’s
suitability under Nevada law as both a major shareholder and director of Wynn Resorts,

Nevada Gaming Comimission Regulations regarding individual sultability issues encompass,
among other things, a person’s “good character, honesty and integrity,” and whether a person’s
“background, reputation and associations will not result in adverse publicity for the State of
Nevada and its gaming industry” (Section 3.090 of the NRS). The NRS also require that a
covered person satisfy the Commission that such person has “adequate business probity"”
{Section 463,170, paragraph 3).

Both Aruze USA , aNevada comdmtion, and Mr. Okada personally, as a Director, President,
Secretary and Treasurer of Aruze Inc,, are covered parties under the jurisdiction of the FCPA.

As set forth above, the investigation has produced substantial evidence that Mr, Okada, his
associates and companies have apparently been engaging in a longstanding practice and pattern
of committing prima facie violations of anti-bribery laws, particularly the FCPA,

‘The testimonial and documentary evidence appear to prove that, since at least 2008, Mr.
Okada, his associates and compauies have made over US 110,000 in payments to his chief
gaming regulators (2) in the Philippities (PAGCOR), their families and associates. Mr. Okada is
building a multi-billion dotlar gaming business and operation in the Philippines.

" The practice and means of making these payments varied slightly but were regularly and
repeatedly arranged in the same manner. For exaimple, between June 2008 and August 2010,
former PAGCOR Chaitman Efraim Genuino (February 2001 ~ June 30, 2010), his son and other
PAGCOR government officials, were hosted by Mr. Okada, his associates and companies at
either Wynn Resorts Las Vegas or Wynn Resorts Macau. Mr. Okada, his associates and
companies would arrange and pay thousands of dollars to cover the expenses of Chairman
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Genuino, his son and other then-current PAGCOR officials in his party. These payments were
made by Mr. Okada, his associates and companies, using the City Ledger Account, which
contained an average balance of US 100,000 funded and replenished by Universal. International
money transfors and the facilities of interstate commerce were used to malke these payments.

‘There is substantial evidence to show that Chairman Genuino’s June 2010 stay at Wynn
Macau was due to the fact that he was then Mr. Okada’s ptincipal Philippine gaming regulator.
This is also demonstrated by the fact that after Chairman Genuino left his PAGCOR office in
June 2010, he and his family were no longer the beneficlaries of such payments at Wynn Resorts
facilities,

However, a3 sct forth above in greater detail, Mr, Okada’s current chief Philippine gaming
regulator, Chairman Cristino Naguiat (July 2, 2010 - present) and his family quickly succeeded
Chainnan Genuino as the beneficiaries of payments by Universal for stays at Wynn Resorts Las
Vegas and Wynn Resorts Macau (September 2010 in Macau; November 2010 in Las Vegas; and
June 2011 in Macau, just over seven (7) months ago).

These payments were made using Mr. Okada's City Ledger Account, as was done regarding
paymenis on behalf of the former PAGCOR Chairman. The evidence further suggests that
Chairman Naguiat's luxury stays at Wynn Resorts facilities were fully known to Mr. Okada, who
actively involved himself in some of the arrangements. For example, Chalrman Naguiat's
September 22-26, 2010 stay at Wynn Resorts Macau luxury Villa 81, the miost expensive
accommodation at Wynn Resorts Macau (about 7,000 square feet in size, which then cost about
US 6,000 per day), was intended by Mr. Okads and his associates to be kept secret and concealed
within Wym Resorts Macau records, Initially, Mr. Okada’s associates atranging for Chalrman
Naguiat’s September 2010 stay at Wynn Resorts Macay purposefully withheld Naguiat’s name
and had him registered as an “Incognite” VIP guest of Universal, utilizing the named reservation
of “Rogelio Bangsil” (another then-senior PAGCOR official). Chalrman Naguiat then stayed at
the Wynn Resorts Macau for four days, together with his wife, three children and a nanny,
without ever once introducing himself to the constantly attending Wynn Resorts Macay VIP
service managers. ’

Mr. Okada’s associate, who made this reservation for Chairman Naguiat, requested a “more
gorgeous room, such as “Villa™ and “the best butler,” for this unnamed “VIP for Universal,” who
turned out to be the chicf gaming regulator for the Philippines. The evidence also shows that on
September 24, 2010, Mr, Okada personally made clear (via an interpreter) to lan Coughlan, the
Wynn Resorts Macau Executive Director and President, that Chairman Naguiat and his party
were important guests and that Mr. Coughlan should make sure that his staff took good care of
them. The evidence further shows that on the evening of September 24, 2010, Mr. Okada hosted
a dinner at Wynn Macau for Chairman Naguiat (and approxxmatelylz others), The US 1,673.07
cost of this dinner was charged to Mr. Okada's room.

44

RAPP 079



5
i
i
i
H
H
i
H

REPORT
Attorney — Client / Work Producet / Privileged and Confidential

The testimonial and documentary evidence also shows that despite deliberate attempts to
conceal Chainman Naguiat's identity while a guest at Wynn Resorts Macau in September 2010,
hotel staff, acting on their own, soon identified Chairman Naguiat by means of a photo from the
PAGCOR website. Their interest in doing so was sparked by the fact that the senior PAGCOR
guest known to them, Mr. Bangsil, exercised great deference to Chairman Naguiat, who the staff
determined must be the ‘boss’, Nevertheless, the VIP service providers continued to refer to
Chairman Naguiat only as “sir,* thereby following the wishes and directions of Chairman
Naguiat and Mr. Okada’s associates, The evidence also shows that several weeks after Chalrman
Naguiat’s intended “Incognito” stay at Villa 81, Mr. Okada’s associates became concemed about
the high cost of Chairman Naguiat’s luxury stay at Wynn Resorts Macau. Specifically, Mr.
Okada’s associate advised Wynn Resorts Macau that the amount being charged for Chaitman
Naguiat's stay was too much over an ordinary business expense, Mr. Okada’s associate then
asked if Wynn Resorts Mucau “could reconsider the matter [Chaitman Naguiat's stay] and
charge us {Mr. Okada’s company] the original rate fand fiee upgrade to a Villa] since the party
directly dealing with on this matter is our company {Mr. Okada’s company] tather than each
individual guest [Chairman Naguiat].” Mr. Okada’s associate further stated that “since the
amount charged [for Chairman Naguiat] is too much beyond the ordinary room charge, our

company [Mr. Okada’s company] will be put in a very difficult position to give reasonable
explanations if we are inquired by someone.” (Emphasis added).

Despite Mr. Okada’s associate’s offorts to have Wynn Resotts Macau reduce these payments
and assist in covering up the beneficial amounts received by Chalrman Naguiat, Wynn Resorts
Macau denied this request.

Mr. Araki's later email (“Our Chairman Okada once again instructed us to take care of the
group {PAGCOR], but not like the last time....”) to Wynn Macau, dated October §, 2010, also
tends to confirm Mr. Okada’s personal knowledge and direction of the payments made on behalf
of Chairman Naguiat and his family for their luxury stay at Wynn Macau for September 22-26,
2010,

The evidence also shows that on September 24-25, 2010, Mr. Okada's associates obtained a
total of US 20,000 cash from Wynn Resorts Macau’s main cage as “cash advances™ for
Chairman Naguiat, his family and party. This same associate of Mr. Okada returned
approximately US 503 of this advance on September 26, 2010 as the remainder from Chalrman
Naguiat's party. Mr. Okada's City Ledger Account was again used to pay for this advance,

The evidence also shows that the PAGCOR-related payments made by Mr, Okada and his
assaciates are not the result of any misunderstanding of the applicable anti-bribery laws,
including the FCPA. Converscly, by his own statemenis and declarations to fellow Wyan
Resorts Board members, Mr. Okada apparently believes that there is nothing wrong with making
payments and gifts to government officials when doing business In Asia, When advised by
feliow directors and Wynn Resorts lawyers that such payments are bribes strictly prohibited by
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the FCPA and other laws, Mr. Okada responded that third party intermediaries or “consultants”
can be used to make the payments,

The best evidence of Mr. Okada's belief that it is permissible to make payments to
government officials is his admission that Universal paid expenses for then-PAGCOR Chairman
Genuino’s trip to the 2008 Beijing Olympics. Mr, Okada explained that since Mr. Genuino had
previously invited Mr. Okada to “one of the islands in the Philippines,” Mr, Okada and
Unlversal’s President Tokuda in turn had Universal pay for expenses related to Genuino's trip to
Beijing, which Mr, Okada stated was arranged by President Tokuda. This admission by Mr.
Okada s consistent with his February 24, 2011 statements to board members that thete is nothing
wrong with making payments and gifts to government officials.

The evidence about the corporate structures utilized by Mr. Okada and his associates to
initiate his multibiilion dollar gaming business in the Philippines also appears to demonstrate Mr.
Okada’s intent to do business as he desires, regardless of the applicable laws and regalations.
FS8’s examination of the corporate dosuments relating to Mr. Okada’s gaming initiative in the
Philippines appears to show that he has used a complex web of corporate struotutes and
companies to ¢vade laws which require Philippine nationals to own 60% interest in all real
estate, A separate legal analysis by a Philippine attorney confirms this finding and suggests that
Mr, Okada’s Philippine gaming initiative has been set up in violation of applicable law.

Additionally, the prellminaty evidence also shows that in connection with Mr, Okada’s
efforts 1o develop a gaming business in IFEZ, Mr. Okada and his assoclates may be engaging in
the same pattern of proscribed payments to government officials. The preliminary evidence
shows that in October 2011, Mr, Okada’s company signed a Memorandum of Understanding
with IFEZ to develop a casino resort near the Incheon International Airport, Preliminary
information indicates that IFEZ is overseen by the Incheon Free Economic Zone Authority,
apparently part of the City of Incheon government. Mr, Okada’s City Ledger account reflects
that from November 2010 through June 2011, four (4) individuals, including IFEZ
Commissioner Jong Cheol Lee, had two stays at Wynn Resorts Las Vegas and Wynn Resorts
Macau, where payments totaling US 5,945.52 were made on their behalf through Mr, Okada’s
City Ledger accound. Preliminary internet research identifies Jong Cheol Lee as the current
{FEZ Commissioner, a position he has held since July 2010, It is not clear at this prefiminary
stage i) whether Mr. Okada’s announced gaming investment and operation within IFEZ has
received any gaming licensing, and ii) whether the three (3) guests who accompanied
Commissioner Lee were then Korean government officials,

The Investigation has established thut despite requests by Wynn Resorts since August
2011 that Mr, Okada acknowledge in writing that he has reviewed (and agreed to comply with}
Wynn Resort’s “Code of Business Ethics” and “Policy Regarding Payments to Government
Officials,” Mr, Okada has falled to do 5o,
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Finally, Mr, Okada was interviewed by FSS on February 15, 2012 by FSS and was given
the opportunity to present his version of the facts. Mr. Okada denied knowledge of Chairman
Naguiat staying “incognito™ at Wynn Macau in September 2010. He also denied knowledge that
: Mr, Shoji was actively involved in arranging for Chairman Naguiat's stay. Although M. Shoji’s

! emails asking that Chairman Naguiat's identity be kept secret, and that Chairman Naguiat be -
provided with cash in connection with his visit, were copied direetly to Mr. Okada, the latter
stated that because he rarely uses his personal computer, he would not have seen such emalls,
Mr. Okada acknowledged flying to Macau on September 24, 2010 in order to visit Chaloman
Naguiat but denied telling lan Coughlan that Chairman Naguiat was an important Universal
guest who should be treated well. Conversely, My, Okada stated that there is “no way” he would
have said something like that, but would have said “be normal and don’t do anything out of the
ordinary.” The substantial evidence relating to Chairman Naguiat's September 2010 stay at
Wynn Macay, including emails, Coughlan’s statements, and the facts and reasonable Inferences
regarding this evidence, cast substantial doubt on Mr, Okada’s credibility.

Mr. Okada also vehemently denied making statements to fellow board members to the -
effect that doing business in Asia requires and permits bribes to be made to government officials.
Mr. Okada’s denials are directly contradicted by many of his fellow board members.

Similarly, Mr. Okada insists that all of his efforts to establish a gambling business in the
Philippines prior to 2010 were undertaken solely on behaif of Wynn Resorts. His insistence is
largely contradicted by the actions which he undertook. First, Mr. Okada and Universal invested
US 300-400 million to buy property in the Manila Bay Entertainment Zone, which was to be
used for his gaming operation. Mr, Okada admitted that Wynn Resorts had “no money involved
in this investment.” Secondly, Mr. Okada and Universal set up an elaborate corporate structure
in order to initiate, and operate I the future, a multimillion dollar casino operation. Wynn
Resorts had no participation in any of these corporate initiatives or structures, all of which were
controlled by Universal and Mr. Okada. Third, the provisional gaming license, which is required
in order to establish a gaming business in the Philippines, was procured by Mr, Okadaand his
companies, without any relation to Wynn Resorts, Finally, when shown an April 25, 2008 Aruze
Corp. press release, which states that the Aruze casino operation will be independently
developed by Aruze with the mere intent that Wynn Resorts help guide its project, Mr, Okada
denied any knowledge of this press release.

In sum, the substantial evidence developed by this investigation and set forth above,
based on witness interviews, public information, documentary and electronic data, provide the
Compliance Committee and Board of Directors a factual basis to review Mr. Okada’s continued
suitability to be a major shareholder and director of Wynn Resorts,
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Wynn’s War: Casino Titans Go to
Battle

By KATE O'KEEFFE And ALEXANDRA BERZON
February 21, 2012

A partnership that built two Macau casinos that together bring in three-quarters as
much revenue as the entire Las Vegas Strip ended in the middle of the night with an
email.

Bearing the subject line, "For Okada,” the

Sunday morning email informed Japanese
gambling tycoon Kazuo Okada that Steve Wynn was dumping him and that Wynn
Resorts Ltd. was forcibly buying out his 20% stake at a big discount. What's more, Mr.
Okada wouldn’t get the bulk of his cash for 10 years.

A few hours earlier, Mr. Okada had been sitting in a hotel conference room in South
Korea listening over the phone as the Wynn board in Las Vegas heard accusations from a
private investigator that Mr. Okada had made improper payments to gambling
regulators in the Philippines. When he couldn’t understand the translation of the
meeting, Mr. Okada began shouting during the call, according to a person familiar with
the call.

On Monday, Mr. Okada said he would sue to block the board’s "outrageous” action and
accused it of operating like a “star chamber.” A spokesman for Wynn Resorts followed
with a terse statement: "Mr. Okada’s challenges to the board process are a desperate
attempt to divert attention from his misdeeds.”

, /

The disagreement is the latest in a boardroom battle that first burst into the open in
January when Mr. Okada sued Wynn Resorts, questioning whether a $135 million gift
the company made to a private university in Macau on government-owned land was
appropriate.

hitp:/iwww.wsj.com/articles/SB1000142405297020413100457723494 1765158940 16
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The Wynn hotel in Macau. Wynn Resorts' two casinos there generate 70% of its total revenue. REUTERS

Shares in a company controlled by Mr. Okada tumbled Monday. His Universal
Entertainment Corp. fell the maximum amount allowed on the Jasdaq stock exchange in
Japan, dropping 21% to ¥1,516 ($19.05); early Tuesday, shares were trading at ¥1,515.
Shares in Wynn Macau Ltd., a Wynn Resorts unit traded in Hong Kong, rose 3% to 20.90
Hong Kong dollars ($2.70); early Tuesday shares were trading at HK$20.95.

Messrs. Okada and Wynn came together in 2000 after Mr. Wynn lost control of casino
operator Mirage Resorts Inc. in a takeover by Kirk Kerkorian’s MGM Grand Inc. Mr.
Okada invested $260 million in Wynn Resorts, which at the time consisted of an old
casino on the Las Vegas Strip that Mr. Wynn had bought and shut down with plans to
redevelop. He later increased that by $120 million. In 2006, Wynn opened its first of two
casinos in Macau. The company now gets about 70% of its revenue from Macau.

In a 2006 compaily legal document the two referenced "the spirit of friendship and
cooperation that exists between” them.

The board’s move came after an internal investigation of Mr. Okada’s alleged actions
with Philippine regulators, conducted by Louis Freeh of Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan LLP,
found Mr. Okada to be “unsuitable” based on Wynn Resorts’ internal regulations. Mr.
Freeh is a former director of the U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigation. The report was
viewed by The Wall Street Journal. Mr. Freeh is out of the country and couldn’t be

hitp:/Awww.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052970204131004577234941765158940 2/6
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Wynn Resorts co-founder Kazuo Okada in 2007. Wynn bought out his 20% stake in the company at a steep discount.
BLOOMBERG NEWS .

reached.

MORE

"Tt's reall . o _—_ .
« Board of Wynn Resorts Forcibly Buys Out It's really a dirty war,” said Cristino Naguiat,

Founder the top gambling regulator in the Philippines,
(/articles/SB100014240529702033587045772 who denied he had received any improper
052477385494
3305 ) payments.
« Deal Journal: Wynn's Stock Wins, Universal
Plunges . . . .
(http:blogs wsj com/deals/2012/02/19Awynns- Behind the feud is a hard reality facing U.S.
stock-wins-universal-plunges/) casino companies that are now seeing the vast
« Heard on the Street: Governance Gamble majority of their growth and profits in Asia.

(farioles/SB10001424052070204909104577234  \1acqy last year generated $33.5 billion in
202453660944) ' o
revenue, or more than five times that of Las
_ Vegas, while Singapore in two years has
become one of the biggest markets in the world with just two casinos. Other Asian

countries, including the Philippines, are getting into the game.
|

U.S. companies are seeking licenses and other approvals to expand in Asia but are under
rising scrutiny by U.S. regulators looking into charges of bribery and other practices in
the region. Wynn competitor Las Vegas Sands is under investigation by the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the Department of Justice for possible violations of the
law that prohibits U.S. companies from paying bribes overseas, which the company
denies.

Casinos occasionally oust executives or partners at the behest of regulators or during an
investigation by regulators, but legal experts say they haven’t heard of such a move
before a regulatory investigation.

Under Nevada casino law, a company isn’t required to remove someone before
httpZAvww.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052970204131004577234841765158940 36
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regulators find them unfit so long as it

RELATED DOCUMENTS cooperates with a probe and turns over
Read the complaint filed Feb. 18 in information to authorities, according to
Nevada by Wynn Resorts against experts in Nevada regulatory law. The
Kazuo Okada. company says it intends to “communicate”
with government authorities about its
WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED, , a Nevada investigation. “We’ll do our own independent
Corporation, review and come to our own conclusions,”
" Plaintiff, said Mark Lipparelli, chairman of the Nevada
N , ’ Gaming Control Board.
KAZUO OKADA, an individusl, ARUZE
USA, INC., 2 Nevada corporation, ‘
%ﬁgﬁ?ﬁp mfﬁmm CORP., In January, Mr. Okada sued Wynn Resorts,
questioning whether the $135 million gift the
Defendants.

company made to the private university in
Macau "is an appropriate use of corporate
funds.” Wynn has asked a court to dismiss the
suit, saying it was full of "innuendo,

Read the Louis Freeh report alleging
wrongdoing by Mr. Okada.

it Bpmmary .
Yhoinvesigaion bssprodoced bl vt hyperbole, half-truths and sweeping
b Despite belng advissd by the Wynn Resoets Boand of Disectors o generalizations.” The accusation prompted
paetieyson e st §05 antlvbeibery s which goeem Wyan B . ] . . X
baed, Mr; Uil strongly belisves amd ety tht whe daing b the SEC to begin an investigation into Wynn
should be abbs s proside gills mell things of value t Techpn pave . .
iwdveihoer dlleectiy ox by the uss oT BN plsty informedinries of com earller thls month.
2 e Okt is st s compaic e srnged s desy
ing bussiness and Tons in the Fhilipgines in s manner . . . . . . .
e Pulipios Coosimtiso proyiskss d el hat Mr. Okada is beginning his own investigation

wmership by Philigpine audonals, ss well 25 8 Phllippiss erimios . . .
i " into the donation and has directed attorneys

_ to interview people about the donation,
according to a person familiar with the matter.

In coming legal disputes, Mr. Okada is likely to argue he wasn'’t given a fair chance to
present his case to the board and was targeted because he is a whistleblower who raised
concerns about the donation, the person said.

The company says the probe was sparked by statements from Mr. Okada at a February
2011 board meeting that suggested that gifts to Asian officials might be appropriate. He
later denied making those statements.

At the heart of Wynn Resorts’ charges against Mr. Okada is the claim he spent $110,000

on hotel rooms and other perks at Wynn casinos for gambling regulators in the

Philippines, where he has recently broken ground on a casino. Investigators working for

Wynn Resorts were able to track Mr. Okada’s spending at the casinos because Mr. Okada

used an account with Wynn Resorts tied to Mr. Okada’s company, Universal

Entertainment Corp., according to the report. The account was set up in February 2008,

the same year he began seeking to build a casino in the Philippines, the Wynn report
http:/fwww.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052970204131004577234941765158940 4/6
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shopping and gambling.

says.

Many of the expenses listed
were between $1,000 and
$5,000, according to the
report. In one case in
September 2010, a‘écording to
the report, Universal paid
around $50,000 in expenses
for alavish trip to Macau by
Mr. Naguiat, the current
chairman of the Philippines
Amusement and Gaming
Corporation, a government
corporation that operates
casinos in the Philippines and
licenses and regulates them
for third parties.

Mr. Naguiat and family
members were registered as
"Incognito” VIP guests and
stayed at the most expensive
accommodation in the Wynn
Macau, which rented for
$6,000 a day, the report says.

The report says Mr. Okada’s
staff asked for cash to be
delivered to the group for

In a statement issued by the Philippines gaming authority, Mr. Naguiat said he did
receive free accommodations and some meals but nothing else at Wynn Macau, and he

called that a normal practice in the industry.

Write to Alexandra Berzon at alexandra.berzon@wsj.com

http-/fiwww.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052870204131004577234941765158940
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): February 19, 2012
WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada 000-50028 46-0434987
(State or other jurisdiction . (Commission File Number) (LR.S. Employer
of incorporation) Identification No.)

3131 Las Vegas Boulevard South
Las Vegas, Nevada 89109
(Address of principal executive offices of the registrant) (Zip Code)

(702) 770-7555

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Not Applicable

(Former name or former address, if changed since last report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following
provisions:

m}

[m|
[m]
O

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)
Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)
Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

Pre-commencement communications pursvant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))
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Item 8.01. Other Events.

On February 19, 2012, Wynn Resorts, Limited (the "Company") filed a complaint in the District Court of Clark County, Nevada against Mr. Kazuo Okada, a
member of the Board of Directors of the Company, and certain of his affiliates, alleging breaches of fiduciary duty and related claims (the "Complaint"), The
Complaint included as an exhibit a report on the results of an independent investigation by Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan, LLP to the Company's Gaming
Compliance Committee (the "Freeh Report"). The Complaint and the Freeh Report are attached as Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2, respectively, to this Current Report
on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d) Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number Description
99.1 Complaint, Wynn Resorts, Ltd. v. Kazno Okada, et al., No. A-12-656710-B (Nev. Dist. Ct., Clark Cnty., Feb. 19, 2012).
99.2 Report by Freeh, Sporkin & Sullivan, LLP to the Gaming Compliance Committee of Wynn Resorts, Limited.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
hereunto duly authorized. '

Dated: February 22, 2012

WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED
Ry: /s/ Matt Maddox
Matt Maddox
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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of Wynn Resoits” Brantof Direcsors. Wenn Resowts’ concaens wen iibreseived.
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36 Over the naxt monts, counnd fe Wyon Resoriy and Ckeda engaged in dissussions
shoit Wynn Rusurty -comeens it Okads's tavolweent in the Phillppines was phicing
Wy Regorts wnd Iy sharsholdurs st subetasstial rigk.

X2 Ghadn dosigaed and sxecuted @ strategy to divert sRention awsy frove his ove

Chnda claimed 1o ned aceess 1 caregin Yoois snd redords {e.2., sovosds solaied ty

an dment 1o @ sharshodders : bewemn Me, Wynn, Blains Wysn, and Okada),
Oade’s dvessionary touies vlervcond s need to shaoge the topie Trom the sl fssue ~ Ris

sriwonadieet fs the Philippines,
FR. hadas gawme plavisg contiusd, Q8 Odtodes 25, 2011, days belee the

longsohisduled Faosipn Comopt Fraiees Aot toaning, by moy 4 that the training iads de
wanstansd e Jup {despite his provious, longawrm praction of feanshuing < fals on his
<o) ausd that e date of the training be moved fdespite that it had bor sl srend bis
pewvious confirmeiany  His refimal to stivwd the training, o5 vl attesdied by 3l oty Boked

mondievs, dhmenstried 3 cyvalier divegand for his obiigeiony a8 i of & SOHgIRY V0 8
Bighly requlnivd guming indusisy, T B dod; Qkada was e 2ol Buard member Whe fiifed ©

§ 5
aftersd ey

swidh i other dirocios apposciing o person or tedephontvatiy:
Former FEF Directir Feveh Inventigatex
3, O or sbous Oracker 29, 2011, Wynn Rosarts, on beballl of s Complivacs.
Copwwine, Risinad feeh o sonduct aa independont investigiton inte Okads kad his astivities,
with & forus on Seve maln sk (£) whether Qlads bresshed the fiduniery dities owed to

Wynn Rexontss {24 whather Okads engaged in conduct that cowdd jetwaidies Wynn Rivsost?
gaming Hoanses; anid (33 wiether Okads sagsged s any canatuct that zould vislite Wynn Resorns
compliancs poiey

40, Aapost of tha ipvesiigotion, Freeh conducted dngens of intervizws (inctading of
alt independont membaes of Winn Resons’ Boust of Directoey), aad reviowes thowsande of pages

of documsenty and smsifs As of Jamsary 1, 2013, thery inast sy poo ling Hers o

Prochs to-di B interview Uada. Yot Dhads eefuved 0 sehodute the intervio devpite Freebls |
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st witlingsess 10 taved on short solics o conduet thy interview snpshere in the worid to
Ofsda's ssbedul
4, With onfy ﬁkﬁda's'imwiew ouisinnding, su PFebrawey 6, 2012, Proeh heiated

Wonn Rezons' Complinnes Cummities.
42, Oksda fnally sot for bis dmtorview with Freeh fo Tokwo, Jepws, o February 15,
T2, hes Dol was mionmgiiod by United Siates counsel,
53, Foich annoudesd ot be waudd seport iy Sndings to tes Sound of Eirbortes on
Febvomry 18, 21
A At the Pebruary 18, 2012 Board wveting, Frosh mesde & detethad preaemtation and
evcidod the Roard wil onpies of Rix fiaad opoit, oudinteg e folfowing mproprieties, sy
wthersy
s, The . Usiverssl City Ledger dccount weteblished by Olda wneiled
3 separsie nstarrees, Sroim May 2008 1o dough Jine 2081 where Okada
or hiy msevisteeniiTians wade payeents exteeding US S1I.000 et
dicectly bansfitted senior PACOR officisls, - This teciudied paprsent foo

Sy Todging, sxvavagnt dinners, shopping, ned ensh fe spend for,
dmong others, formes FAGCOR Chafwman Gowine and His Sy and
Srovds and sument BAGEOR Choiri, Crisiing Nguiat {"Maguiar?),

The Frech osport noted that OQhudw’s conduct consifruted primar S
evidence of vioktions of Qe Forehm Comupt Practices Aot (v

P

pertieniny oevasion, Okads grranged e PAQCOR Chainmen Neguint, Ms
wifh, his three chiidean, teie nanny, other serior PAGCOR offfclals, oue off
whom afso brought his Fenily to stiy ot Wyms Masss, Okade 3nd his
sesoctates mflsed to pasvide Wyna Macan mansgament with the axme of
o Naguiat and irfed to conoval Ms identity, At Dikala'y adsasiates’
request and Ohasda’s disvetion, Chstrasan Ngg;ﬂat'mi His emaumge wenr
provided with die woxt oxponsite sccommadation, foud, wnd. sur
teatnment. I3 addition, Okiades wnoviates asked that onah guest d

2]
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#3.
sdopiod seontitines fnding the Defendants o by Hnseitebie Persuns winder Wens Resonts' Seevad

s sudeesied ARUZE TSAS shover in Wimn Resosts fir spetsdante with the pravistons of the

Swichss

EN

w

1324

provided & S5.006 cesh afeence ducng their sty Following M stay,

Ok:xda’s associtey sequested Wyns Macou reduce the excessive charges
borsew iy Peared sr invoxtigetion wig <l not want Universed 0 gt in
(a}t;bie, Wynn e sefused.

Thuse is sabstantiaf evidendw that Okade, his
fve sossiged o manipudsied hip aid i of hped

emitins fn the Phifippinis under bis cosievl, in 3 magger o sy hve

2 3t comipanies sny

erable fhe rvaxion of Philippéne eomstitnions sd sakusory reyoinments,
Musowey, chose ausowiates fad consulternts of the fhumie PSGOOR
seleninistsion avained poaltions a8 sorpomate officen, dircotrs wndir

i shomhoidery of smities
serwnd oz Noks bertows Shade and the folmes PAGCOR chale
There 18 substantisl pvidense et de memhip  smetwe of
Okedp-allifioted, ARULE USA-owned sutities may subfict Okada to civil
and criminal peasities wisar Philippine fate.

d by Qkade and, in s cases,

Despite g wpeuodly wlvised of dhe stvict. anti-bribery faws and
Wemn Resonis” palivies, Okads inskats et sioungly . Delicvns that, when
doing busingss b Asiy, he i momitied to provide ¢iits and dtiags of vafn.
1 gvertivrers afffcials, whethor divootly ve indirectly.
His catsdies iy ot sevidvaial or based ypon 2 mismderstending of the fow
o the polivier. Rather, Okady sttelt s persdast rejection af antibribery
Taws. i W Resods’ relniest policies v fllow Wyne Besorts Board

msmbea,

T ineaded wit Resatesd. Sstiefes of Fasorerssicn £"Aditlex of tnborposstion” amdinr “Asticles’),

ing Proells i o, the Board detiberated 2t feigth and sunimowsiy
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dinsctors, provides guidedies. for eticet it tstent eith the paputation snd iotegrliy of

N6, Okodwy deplondls sotions demonstrte thit he had sbandoned 558 Yorseken alt
dutics owed o Wynn Resors, Worss, Okoda undentank s pastien of conduct that jeopantizes

Wynn Resany' pood repusstion, s fong fing hus fationships, and fs prwing and
hustoess Howses, Acoomdingly, the Boand of Dimctors has ywaninuosisly feicept e Okude)

suiherioed the gursels oF his aetion,
FIRSY CAUSE OF ALTION
Bresch of Fidudary Buty)
{Wynn Resorts sgaimst (hada
A7 Wy Resons ropeats sl mifopss the altegafons s Sonds B Pamgraphs 3
Wi 46 above as Hivug K008y set fords faeelsy,
9B, Wynn Resosts’ Code of Coriduse, witich spplive 9ol cmplayees, offisers, and

Wynis Rosonts, The Cuds of Conduint suppienenty he duties; Sduchur sad othérdize, imprsed
upon Qkade wadir Wy Resonts' goveening donuments g the Jase.

49, The Code of Tonduct addresses onnilicts of inferest, Specificwlly, the Code of
Condiet provides thet “disestors N enpected o dedfoste 1ol bewt efions o advancing
{ Wy Resorty] inmeests and 1y omake detisions el affert {Wynn Reserts bued o
P Resions’] best intevest, Sndepondent of auiside inffuenses.®

St Fiw Code 6 Conduse defines 2. ondlict of intvoest” as “wheh your own Interes

relationsbip) fmevfire, Of even sppedr i with shie: § of [Wynn Resoris]. & contiint
situation can arfse when you- teky snttovs; Bave et of ave offered bessefits Uit meke 8

ot Kor you ty pertorm your {¥me Resors] work otfectively aud offoctively.®

5. The Code of Conduct provides s nonsxclusive Nt of potentich sontter
{ncluded in this ligt Is an expross pardibition on francisd § T et B 5 Y oW wmey

Qe g 3 siguificant intorést in sy campeny Sy competes with [Wynn BesertshY  The Cody of
Coadort gravidex that " s oot sypicaliy® & conflier f the competing wntity “is 5 publicly truded
sompany ead you sed your Semily menbers ooly rebuionship with any siich ety @0 hove an

I

including the inierasts o x Sumily meedber or an orgsniadion with which you have s sigeifivant
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Loapetfior of [Wymn Resonis) ir probibited, s i3 sny sctivity St x mended to o1 that you

fatekent. of fi M 3% of the swtsuanding hares of e | ing} company” (Hmmphusi
widedy.

52, Furthee, the Code of Conduct prociisdes sanside srgilagment oF soibvitios with 3

vompetittr. Spevifivelly, “islimultavestis ansployment whh oy seving s o dissctor of
i

¢ expred 10 e S pukitors i Yo may aof st produsts of

shiatd v
servions i compatigien with FWsnus Reaorts] cusent or pessndial bsiness activithes, . . .

33, In addiion, the Cods of Condiet expressly shavs dhat “filere wiap aof wye
CoNporere propery or informeation or your pasition of e R, i} Jor fmproper p
sievinn, and padt ey 0¥ Sotpate with Ry Resonts].” {Einphssis added)

S%. The Code of Conduce affe provides as foflows:

& With respect to offiding gifis and entertabament,

hoo “Specist ooy spply in Gie contert of dealing with govesent
oificils and amployeeh. 6o lntemeting With Govetnmens —
Peohibition on (its to Unvermesn Officiels acd Haployses’
Balow.”

it “Giving vr eicsiving sny papment or gt dheagiee ofe dribear

& feinkbenk o 5 7 g

i “You e probltited fom providing gifts: meals or aipthing off

valite to yovernment offckils ot eployees oF seembees of taedr

%

fmiliss fn &2 o ety £
sppeoval fom the Conpliseme Offfean®

Y *The Covpany's Foliny Regarding F 155 Paseign Offfcials,
the TS, Poreign Conupt Prastiors St (the “FIPA") aud the laws
of sy other cowntr k the Company and ds officess,

emphrioen e agenss or othey thied pecties fronr phviug or oifsing
w give momey or snything of wulue, dircelly or Swough e
{ntormadiory, o 8 fowign olfioial pteyers of a st 4

svithout prior written }

3
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polidieat office in order 1o sttermpe o infuence officlals et o
deisions 6f 1 persan o aetity, 10 obsin de setdn dusiness, ot 10
sepuTe sy hnpevper sbantegs,

ey 2, 1

b. WhE respestia and §

B Compusy swits, incbiding Compray e, o6
esnurces and poNpRiary infrenstion, must B sed for usinass
s oy
i “The Intollvotusd Proguaty ssost wet e wsed or seprarineed wiihw:‘
the sensent of te Company sl for auderiesd uee in copmection
il she Company's Dusinexs: Bvery ol mvet o underiken o
protect te fnieflectval Proporty fom iHfegad copying of wisese™

55, Asa Wik Resonts ditetor, Qkads was batent by the Cods of Cradugt,

S8, Furthee, osa Directas, Oiade stands 8y ¢ Rdvelary to Wi Resorts and, theeefors,
owesa high dity to iive Company, Inntuding the dusy of vans, they duty of Toyslty, wnd that lie s it
s discharaed thosy durie B guod it and with & view to the fntorests of Wyen Resosts.

SE The Aduwslery dugy of Ie,)ﬁibg that Okadn owdd 8w & Divectins sugeired him
ki, i good foith, fhn ifiee’s and its shercholders’ tst Interests wecr e & of"

¥

anyana ehee, Insluding His owe _
58, ddsde hed hiv fiduciany dotles iy i 16, wak j activities, many of

viich ovenrred on Wenn Besons’ propatiss, snd ot of wiich wulerming Wyne Resony'

fconfidenitind infarmation, (ady Sesaits, and wluted tradermsusks for Sis own beuefit asd

sputation &8 well i3 fr business and guering Hoorses,

59 fXadn frther huesshed Bis ffuciory duty of loysity by, among selier things,
relfsdenting, placing iz own dntereats above those of Wyre Resouis, and nsbos Wy Reoons’
Wpsss Resarts’ detiment,  Spenifiesily, snd wmong ober tings, the. website of Universal {of
which Okady Tolds & significant. intenast and serves 8¢ Chgdvonast o she Bosrd) sutes thig
Lmiversel obtained jis purpaead sxpioos and “haswe bow” i oparaing op quslity fecilites

1
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ownsrahip frtevast) fur gaminis critorses oad s slivatals,

i providieg seevices ©-the Digh eind marker tuovgh Okades exparinnes with Wy Resods.
Fioarsas wobsits alse Sates that it invends g v s knwwdiony acquiend by Okada from K
xtationzhip with Wy Resords in Unbawsad's Monila Bay casino-rexors opersiinn. Iinbveesst ond
Olads expressly adntt fend thosy in the ind indisptetabl gnize} it 3 Manife Sy
sesinoreiost Wit compete with Wyds Masw (i which Wymd Resors has s significant

63, Okadas sus sndfor (uiferes ks acd constituod brosehes of hiy fduciany duties,
{Jkada's bresiles of duty involved intemtcrat mibonduct sud inowing viotstions of the faw,
B A% 0 fires and proninuste rovelt of (Rude’s avte-and amissions, Wins Resonts s

antfered and will oot 1 slies disect, incidratal sid consequrntiel dumngue in wn smount it
B g 28 trid, Bad v sy event, i exeess o $1000, plus prgjudpment interesd,

62 In commiRing the scix hereint abawe aileged, (ada ie pailiy of eppressicn, fiwd,
and maliee fowed Wons Resieis, As suck, Wyns Reserls s sativled i seopves giniiive &

fousrs Oada e the prirgrses ol Sedawing him and othines simikuely w § from esgeging . L
b esspivet:
F3 Asgresult of the wots and ctiasings of Okady, Winne Rasons hax boen sompsited

Yo Biize ey srvives of a0 v St the protection ot §

(Hiding & Alsiting Breach of Siduchiny Duty}
(Wyns Resorts against ARURE USA & Universal}

64, Weon Rewelr vepeots amd nuitepes e llegatfons sex Yot By Parngrephs §
theough 83 sbove as though fully s fosthohorin.

B8 Av v divevior, Dkada sved Wean Resorts w Sdueary ﬂui\g i Yoysiry which, &
allegod havein, e brovcbes, '

&85, ARUZE USA and Uriverssl knowingly parcticipated & G‘m&a’s" Sreach by
fecilitating the solf deafing and ssissspoopiation of Wyan Resore? conffdentis! information, trade
fernaeks,. and itting undawitd wels thot wndermbne Wse Resits' good

poures, snd
repustation as well xs U besines and guming Huenses.

s
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87, As o discet and proxbrute reralt of ARUZE USA' and Univwrsdy. aeke and
omisrions i aiding e sbeitiag Okada's beesch of duty, Wyns Rastess. has suffersd snd-will

contisue W seffer 2ivewt, incidestal snd iad 0 85 amnount 18 ke provess o trish,

st ¥ voxe went, dn e of SHLOU0, plus pecjudgamat interest.
£8. In connuining e aclx huvie sbowe alaped, ARUZE USA nad Universel ane
euifty of oppesssion, frand, and malive owind Wyns Resods. A swily, Wina Besorx is catithed

e repover pusitive dumrages Som ARUZE USA sud Universal for he puemose of ditenieg thum

- [Hand pthers simiburly sitwtod fom engaping ia like soad

6% Ao & wselt of the mts ad owissions of ARUZE 184 and Usiversal, Winw

Rosores has boew compsttod 1o ey fhe sevives of an atiowmay e the protertion of i
TRYRD CAUSE OF ACTION
{Pectarstary Relial ~ NRE Chapter 36)
(Wss Rusarts against Qfudst, ARUEE US4 & tniviraal}

T W Resorts ppours und vestiogds the cllegetions set fond s Pagraphs }
thyougs 69 above sa tough fally sat ot hersin,

75 Fo be dermed “sultable™ under Nevada goming law, ihe spplicant must bt {2} a

pefron of good shasmtey, hueesty sed megitys ()  pewson whove peive aclivitis, vl
recand, ARy, Mepuition, hebl sud aseocintiony $ not pote-z ihreat ol pabitc jutenst of thx
Hite of Navada v to the uifentive seglation sud contal of grnidug, sod (8) st have silequats
business probity, competonce and experitnce, in paming or pémraliy,

7% Rection 3.000 of the Nevads Caming Hegulotions pravides fhal @ Heenss,

egisiration, sl suitabifity Hnding requives, smong wiiws things, # person of *good charaster,

honesty, and inteprity™ and one “whose teck g jon wud aksciations will nu realt

¢

wsdeerss pulsticity fur thse State of Nevade ad its graing dudistey . ...°
T Bven aber s avitebifhy Duding, Regulation 3080 provides (st “fsjie somenixshe
sty dang, voveks, swpasd, Emit condition.or mstrist any rgisirsion i Snding of suftebility ox

" { applisiion dhesufior wposk e xame grovnds e it gy take such action with rexpedt o lomes.

3z O

Howsens and rersingy withoo excliston wfany sffier gi

7
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4. ln secogniiion of the demrl impostanse of By gaming Jiceose, Winn Resarts'

Astioles of Tneorparatinn aifeed the Boord of 8 {he “sele dideretion™ 5 aRe 4rain seton
1 peoteet the paming Heotses and spprovals of Wynn Resous tad- ity sffifietes,  Undine dhe ]
Asicles of Tngorpoation, an "Unnaiehie Peson' shatl niesn 2 Porson ivha . ., 6 the sols

7

disevstion of e boot of direion of the Coepontion, Is dovmed Bhely to jeopardine e

2 RS

Coepomation's or any Afitured G Y%y for, seceipt of dopsssent fug, Tight fo s ik

g oo entitiernent b sy Caming Tlownse,” he sdddition, the Amaded sngd Restusd Chuning snd
Compliance Progaus defiaes an “Unsuitslle Perada™ a8, sveng wher teings, one “that the

Compiny ditermings s wigunlified a8 5 business asspeiste of e Comgany of ity Affifiates bised

o, withont fimituhon, that’ pesson’s amscedenty, fisantisl prachicey, Snwidl comiition or
business geabits”

PS5, Follwwing & & instion of wsiebilily, the Aricles of ncugpssation prsiide

st "fibe Sewitiss Owoed of Contoolled by an Unsittebie Peson: o s alliine of s

usuiwbls Persin shall de ubjest to rudempion by b Corparating, owt of fndy legolly

ik wibe, by actins of the Tuesd of diyesters, to the wient | ., desred vesessory o
advisakte fiy he bownd of disestors: IF . . the hoaed of dimctors doems it v r eivisable,

o veddom sy such Seruedres te Curpoation shall ghe » woempeion Notios dr she Unsiitable |

Peratn ot e AR and shal po w the Redvmption Dete (he humber of shares of e
Secusifies spreiiied in the Rederpion Nodox fir he pics s fouth I e Sedmuption

Notes ..o

6. On Fabsry 13, 2012, Polfowing Fresls 3 o, the Bownd of Dirctons
dhtiberntad 2t Tengsh vod thereafior adapi futions ihats (1) denrmined thuy ARUZE 1S4,

and Univarsal weze Hioly 8 jaopandiae Wyms Wesorts' mnd Hs affilisied compasies’ pasming
Hemyew (34 decmed O¥ads, ARUZE B3A, and Universel 1o be unanisble persons wider
Wynn Rezorig’ Axticles of Inecrporation; ast {3} sod § ARUZE (Ba% sheres is

Wyne Resorts for sppeosimarly US $1.936 billion vin 3 proveissary sote, 3 3csord, with
Artivhe VI of the Aniclas of vorgoration.
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77 Awae of the magnitude of his impropricties and whet any s Boond of
Divectwrs o3 Mewsda gaming company weuld have to do, Tkeds aﬁemp&d,; i advance of {be
Febsury 15, 2012 Board mepting, 10 et v & deferse by dizputing the Bossd'y athavity to ast
g Foeh's depon,

78 Aovosdingly, 3 justicisble sy Sas swdsen betw de puties shose

merosus arc-adverse, snd she dlapute i Fime for adjudiewias. Wyno Resorrs asted fisefally and o

Jull conmplionse witl its Sriivhes of tacorpamtion, Bylawy, sod oider soverning dootwesia 3 is
it o & dachination Yoo tis Cowt b they ot

T Axn wsule of the acy and cmsissions of Defundenty, Wymo Rexorts kay tosa
cosmpritod s biow the serviees of ais stiowey For the protsetion of s inferests,

WHEREFORE, Wynst Resorts prys for fudgment as foffosws:

i For compensamy ud soueist demsges, ‘inchuding sitoimuys’ foem agningt
Diefesdens in us amont to.be detennined 8 gk '

2. Fora desharacion tat Wynn Risony dued lewiioly ard in & xomplisace with its

Asicios of fanaposation, Byiaws, sl ather gevarning & gy ns zet outh hersta;
kX Sisgnegemient of protits;
& Praitive damagast
3 For e wiverd o vessonble cotts and atumeys’ fees;

S Fov prifad t el posh-fudament e o he. foregoing mums at the Righvss

¥

e permained by lew; and
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED,
Petitioner,
V.

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF
CLARK; AND THE HONORABLE
ELIZABETH GOFF GONZALEZ,
DISTRICT JUDGE, DEPT. 11,

Respondents,
and
KAZUO OKADA, UNIVERSAL
ENTERTAINMENT CORP. AND
ARUZE USA, INC.,

Real Parties in Interest.

Supreme Court No. 70452

District Court Cakdeitronig¢ally Filed

656710-B Aug 12 2016 01:11 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPENDIX TO REAL
PARTIES’ ANSWER TO
PETITION FOR WRIT OF
PROHIBITION OR
ALTERNATIVELY,
MANDAMUS

VOLUME 1 (RAPP 001-224)

HOLLAND & HART LLP BUCKLEYSANDLER LLP
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: Dept.No.: XI
Plaintift,
Vs, .
COMPLAINT

KAZUO OKADA, an individual, ARUZE
USA, INC., a Nevada corporation, {Request for Business Court Assignment
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Plaintiff WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED ("Wynn Resorts"), by and through its undersigned

counsel, hereby files the above-captioned Complaint: '
NATURE OF THE ACTION
“This is an actlon for breach of fiduciary duty and related offenses committed against

Wynn Resorts at the hands of one of its directors, Kazuo Okada ("Okada") and his affiliates.
Wynn Resoris' Compliance Committee commissioned former Director of the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, Louis J. Freeh, to examine Okada's domestic and foreign activities impacting
Wynn Resorts. Based upon a multi-month investigation — which culminated with a personal
interview that Okada long evaded ~ Frech uncovered substantial evidence of gross improprieties
by Okada and his agents, as explained in Freeh's report, attached as Exhibit 1. In particular, Frech
presented Wynn Resorts' Board with evidence that Okada had made unlawful payments to foreign
gaming regulators who could advance Okada’s business interests. Okada surreptitiously undertook
these acts despite admonishments that all Directors closely adﬁere to Company policy, scrupulous
business practices/ethics, and the Taw, both foreign and domestic. The public's confidence in
gaming's integrity depends upon sirict observance of these principles. Okada's conduct poses a
direot assault upon, and a present threat to, Wynn Resorts* reputation for probity, which is central
to maintaining its stature in the gaming industry as well as its current and future iicenéing,
' PARTIES AND RELATED PERSONS/ENTITIES

1, Plaintiff WYNN RESORTS is and was at all times relevant hereto a corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada, with its principal place of business
in the State of Nevada, Wynn Resorts is publicly traded on NASDAQ,

2. Wynn Resorls is a world olass developer of destination resort casinos.
Wynn Resorts  owns  resort  casinos through its  wholly owned  subsidiary,
WYNN LAS VEGAS, LLC ("Wynn Las Vegas™) and through WYNN MACAU, LIMITED
{"Wynn Macau"). )

3. Wynn Las Vegas operates the Wynn Las Vegas and Encore resort casinos in

Las Vegas, Nevada.

RAPP 016
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|{laws of Macau Special Administrative Region of the Peoples Republic of China, Wynn Macau

! Treasurer of ARUZE USA.

4. Wynn Macau is a Cayman Islands company, publicly traded on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (of which Wynn Resorts owns a majority interest). Through its wholly owned |
subsidiary, WYNN RESORTS (MACAU), S.A., a company organized and existing under the

operates the Wynn Macau and Encore at Wynn Macau resort-casinos in Macau,

3. Defendant OKADA is and was at all times relevant hereto a citizen of Japan, and a
director of Wynn Resorts, - Okada serves multiple roles with Wynn Resorts and its affiliated
companies (the "Wynn Companies”). He is a member of the Board of Directors for both
Wynn Resorts and Wynn Macau and, until February 18, 2012, through UNIVERSAL
ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION ("Universal®) and ARUZE USA, controlled a sharcholder
that had owned approximately 19.66% of Wynn Resorts, From OQctober 2002 up to and until
October 2011, Okada also served as Vice Chairman of Wynn Resorts, In these capaciﬁes, Okada
owed, and continues to owe, fiduciary duties of care, loyalty, and good faith to the
‘Wymn Companies,

6. Defendant ARUZE USA, INC. ("ARUZE USA") is and was at all times relevant
hereto a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada, and a wholly
owned subsidiéry of Universal {"Universal®). Until February 18, 2012, ARUZE USA was a

19.66% shareholder in Wynn Resorts. Okada serves as director, President, Secretary, and

7. Defendant UNIVERSAL is # public corporation organized under the laws of
Japan, and formerly known as ARUZE Corporation until a November 2009 name change.
Universal manufactures and sells paéhislot and pachinko machines, and other similar gaming
equipment. Universal does business in the State of Nevada, has been issued a manufacturer's
license by the Nevada Gaming Commission, and was deemed suitable by the Nevada Gaming
Commission as a 100% sharcholder in ARUZE USA. Okada is Director, Chairman of the Board
and, together with his family members, a §7,9% shareholder in Universal. ‘

) 8. The Wynn Resorts' Board of Directors consists of 12 members, comprised of
Stephen A. Wynn ("Mr. Wym") as Chairman, Okada, Russell Goldsmith, Linda Chen,
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Dr. Ray R, Irani, former Nevada Governor Robert J. Millet, John A, Moran, Alvin V, Shoemaker,
D. Boone Wayson, Elaine P, Wynn, Allan Zeman, and Marc D. Schorr {collectively "Wynn
Directors" and/or "Wynn Board"),

9. Wynn Resorts’ Gaming Compliance Committee ("Compliance Committee®) is an
internal committee chaired by Director Miller and comprised of two additional members, Schorr
(director and COO) and John Strzemp (Wynn Resorts' Executive Vice President and Chief
Adminigtrative Officer). The Compliance Committee is charged with assuring Wynn Resorts'
compliance with all laws and regulations, particularly on gaming laws, regulations, and policies,

10.  The Honorable Louis J. Frech, Bsq., is a former director of the Federal Burean of
Investigation ("FBI"), having led that agency with distinction from 1993 to 2001, Prior to serving
as FBI Director, Freeh was a United States District Court Judge. Today, Freeh is a partner in
Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan, LLP — a law firm he founded with two other former federal judges —
which specializes in domestic and foreign corporate investigations and compliance.

JURISDICTION

11.  Defendants Universal, ARUZE USA, and Okada have each individually and in
concert with one another, caused the acts and events alleged herein within the State of Nevada
and all are subject to the jurisdiction of this Court, Venue is also proper in this Court, |

12, This matter is properly designated as a business court matter and assigtied to the
Business Docket under EDCR 1.61(2) as the claims alleged herein arise from business torts.

GENE ALLEGATIO

13. A Nevada gaming license is a privilege. Nevada law imposes comprehensive
regulatory requirements upon gaming licensees, inch;ding_ obligations that those associated with
the licensee possess the necessary character, qualifications, and integrity to be suitable to hold
that privilege so as to not pose a threat t§ the public interest or the integrity of the regulation and
control of gaming, As a Director of Wynn Resorts, Okada is subject to these demanding
standards.

14, Additionally, all of Wynn Resorts' Directors agreed to be, were, and are subject to

Wynn Resorts' Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the "Code of Conduct"). The Code of

4
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Conduct reinforces and enhances Wynn Resorts' commitment to doing business in an ethical
manner. The Code of Conduct reflects Wynn Resorts' values, demonstrates ethical leadership,
and promotes an environment that upholds its longstanding reputation for integrity, ethical
conduct, and trust.

5. Forsaking his obligations to maintain the integrity required of a gaming licensee,

the Company's Cede of Conduct and his other fiduciary duties, Okada committed improper acts

that included making payments for the benefit of foreign gaming officials who could advance his

personal business interests. He has furthermore elected to compete against Wynn Resorts,

W oo - N B W

undertaking a campaign.to convert Wynn Resorts' assets for his own benefit, and that of his

o
<

affiliates. 'Wynn Resorts has been compelled to defend against Okada's acts of aggression by,

Yuas
L

among other things, the initiation of remedial and defensive Board actions and the prosecution of

ok
N

this action,
1l Okada Enters the Philippine Market
16. By all measures, Okada's abandonment of his duty of loyalty to Wynn Resorts

Pk ek s
L7 - N ¥ ]

commenced with his plan fo develop gaming operations in the Philippines,

PISANELLI BICE PLLC '
HUGHES PARKWAY, SUITE 800

.
o

17. Upon learning of opportunities in the Philippines, Okada approached Mr. Wynn

L.AS VEGAS, NEVADA 35169

| with an idea of creating a casino resort in Manila Bay. Neither Mr. Wynn nor the Board of

3883 HOWARD
Dot —t
e -2

Directors was willing to pursue such opportunities in the Philippines.

-t
L~

18.  Undeterred, Okada pressed on with his personal agenda without full disclosure to

8

Mr, Wynn or the Board. In furtherance of his personal scheme, Okada asked that a city ledger

o 2
Pote

account at Wynn Resorts be opened in the name of his company, Universal ("Universal City

N2
N

Ledger”). Upon information and belief, and unbeknownst to Wynn Resorts, Okada sought the

™3
[#%)

city ledger account, in part, to facilitate his pursuit of his personal business interests in the

by
Y

Philippines and to promote the false appearance of an affiliation with Wynn Resoris to his

Philippine business contacts.

B
w

19. Upon information and belief, many doors opened for Okada in the Philippines due

3
8 X

10 his well-publicized relationship with Mr, Wynn and Wynn Resorts. Wynn Resorts is informed

N
w0

and believes that Okada touted his relationship and affiliation with Wynn Resorts so as to
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convince others that Wynn Resorts was andfor is somehow affiliated with Universal's desired
presence in Manila. All such representations were and are false,

20.  In 2008, the Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (“PAGCOR™), a
100% government-owned and controlied corporation that operates under the direct supervision of
the Office of the President of the Philippines and is charged with "[rlegulat{ing], authorizfing] and
licensfing} games of chance, games of cards and games of numbers, particularly casino gaming,
in the Philippines,”" awarded four provisional gaming licenses without publié bidding. PAGCOR
issued one such lcense to a newly-formed entity that is owned 99% by ARUZE USA, known as
Tiger Resort, Leisure and Enterfainment Inc, Okada’s pursuit and developﬁent of that license
expressly contradicts Wymn Resorts’ requests to Okada not to pursue business in the Philippines,
Moreover, Okada's actions to obtain and exploit that license involved violations of his duties to
Wynn Resorts.

Tuitial Examination of Okada'’s Activities

21.  In or around the fall of 2010, Wynn Resorts heard that Okada was continuing to
represent to multiple people that he (and/or Universal) and Wynn Resorts were involved in a joint
venture together in the Philippines and‘ wete pursuing, also as joint venMers,/ potential
opportunities in Japan, Such representations were again false,

22. Questioiaing Okada’s actions, in or around January 2011, Wynn Resorts, through
its Compliance Committee, commissioned an independent investigation and risk assessment of
investing in the gaming industry in the Philippines, which found: |

a Official corruption in the Philippine g&ming industry is “deeply ingrained";

b. Doubts that newly-elected President Aqniﬁo‘s stated plans for reform would
eliminate corruption from the gaming industry;

c. The country's legal/regulatory frameworks wére not closely aligned with
American compliance and transparency standards; and

d, Despite a general refusal by witnesses to discuss Okada's role in the

Philippines (many refused to comment), other information created
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reasonable suspicion that persons acting on Okada's behalf had engaged in
improprieties,

23.  Notwithstanding the issues identified by the investigation/assessment, Okada was
unrelenting in his appeal to Wynn Resorts. In February 2011, he repeated his ofi-uttered request
that Mr, Wynntravel to the Philippines to ex;ilare investing in Universal's Manila Bay project.

24.  During the February 24, 2011 meeting of the Board of Directors, followiné

discussion of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA"), the findings from the independent .

investigation were relayed to the Board, Mr. Wynn advised the Board that he had been invited by
Okada to meet Philippine President Aquino. Okada was present for the Board's discussions. The
independent directors (Goldsmith, Irani, Miller, Moran, Shoemaker, Wayson, and Zeman)
unanimously advised Wynn Resorts management that involvement in the Philippines was
inadvisable and that the meeting should be cancelled. In plain terms, the Board informed Okada
that Wynn Resorts would not invest in Universal's Manila Bay project.

25.  Okada, who had scheduled on his own initiative a meeting befween Mr. Wynn and
Philippine President Aquino, was embartassed and angry in having to cancel the arrangements,
Again, however, Okada remained undeterred.

26.  Finally recognizing that Wynn Resorts was not going to provide Okada and
Universal with funds or know-how for his Philippine project, Okada nonetheless moved forward
with his secret plans to compete against Wynn Resotts by false claims of affiliation and
endorsement, among other things.

27.  Despite knﬁwing the Board's opposition to his plans in the Philippines, Okada
proceeded to announce that he and Universal planned to lure high-limit, VIP gamblers from China
to its Manila Bay resort-casino, the same customer base as Wynn Macau. In short, Okada was
creating a new casino in direct competition with Wynn Macau,

28.  Universal purportedly intends to constiuct two casinos and three hotels in Manila
by December 2013, intends to open those facilities in early 2014, intends to spend $2.3 billion on

the project, and hopes to turn $2 billion in sales in its first year of operation. Okada has publicly
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I i|stated his intent to open more casinos in Asia in 2015. On or about January 26, 2012, Universal

2 |l broke ground on construction of the Manila Bay casino resort.

3 29.  To promote his own interests, Okada launched a campaign to misappropriate

4 || Wynn Resorts' assets and scerets for his and his affiliates’ use. Among other things, Okada

5 || arranged to have several people serve as interns at the Wynn Macan property so that Wynn Macau

6 || "know how" could be learned and siphoned from Wyrn Resorts,

7 Wynn Resorts Expects Compliance

8 30.  Duwing a July 28, 2011 executive session, the independent directors again

9 || discussed Okada's ongoing involvement in the Philippines and expressed concern sbout probity

10 Hgssues attendant to Okada's involvement and the effect that Okada's actions in the Philippines

g 11 {jcould have on Wynn Resorts, Of notable concern were Okada's comments at prior Board

3(%% 12 u meetings. Specifically, Okada had relayed his familiarity with local business practices that

g ;.-‘E% 13 |} involved having third parties make payments to government officials rather than someone doing

%gg 14 ||so directiy’(acts prohibited not only under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, but also by Wynn

gg? 15 || Resorts' Code of Counduct and other policies).

%Eg 1‘6 31.  Following Okada's comments, Wynn Resorts took several steps to reiterate and to
§ 17 || ensure awareness of the boundaries of corporate policies and legal resirictions on payments to
§ 18 1 government officials (among other things). These include the following:

19 - a To ensure that all directors, especially Ckada, were kept informed about the
20 Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, on August 4, 2011, a notice to the Board
21 was issued for a training on the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act to be held on
22 October 31, 2011, followed by a Board mesting on November 1, 2011.

23 b. To further protect Wynn Resorts, on August 5, 2011, all members of the
24 Board of Directors were asked to review: (1) the Code of Business Ethics;
25 and (2) the Policy Regarding Payments to Government Officials, and
26 execute an acknowledgement that they vead, understood, and
27 acknowledged the policies. All members of the Board have signed the
28 '

8
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into the regulatory and compliance climate in the Philippines. This investigation identified

acknowledgement but for one. Despite multiple 'attempts to follow-up,
Okada has still failed to sign.

e Attached to the Dix;ectors' & Officers' Questionnaire sent to all members of
the Board on Jannary 12, 2012 was an acknowledgement form that required
the Directors io sign in two places: (1) Page 26 of the questionnaire; and
(2) Page 50 on the separate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
Acknowledgement Form that was part of the questionnaire packet, Okada| -

. signed and retumed the former on the Janvary 27, 2012 deadline but failed
to return a signed Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Acknowledgement
Form. Okada has still not returned the acknowledgement despite a
follow-up request to do so.

32, On September 15, 2011, Okada, through his assistant, sent an RSVP that he would
attend both the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act training on October 31 and the Board meeting
noticed for November 1, 2011, But Okada never attended the training.

33.  To follow up on issues raised during the July 28, 2011 Board méeting, in early

August, Wynn Resorts' Board of Directors also commissioned a second independent investigation

anomalies and improprieties related to Uniyersal‘lekada’s dealings in the Philippines.

34.  On September 27, 2011, the Compliance Commitice beld a special meeting to
discuss the findings of the second independent investigation. Those findings identified a number
of concerns reparding Okada's activities, including that he may be: (a) engaging in acts that
would render him unéuitabie under Nevada gaming regulations, and (b) breaching the fiduciary
duties he owed to Wynn Resorts,

35. At the direction of the Compliance Committee, Wynn Resorts approached Okada's
counsel to discuss the Commiitee’s concerns relative to Okada's conduct and business in the
Philippines, and its effect on Wynn Resorts and Okada's duties and responsibilities as a member

of Wynn Resorts' Board of Directors. Wynn Resorts' concerns were ill-received,
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36.  Over the next month, counsel for Wynn Resorts and Okada engaged in discussions
about Wynn Resorts' concerns that Okada's involvement in the Philippines was placing
Wynn Resotts and its shareholders at substantial risk.

37.  Okada designed and executed a strategy to divert attention away from his own
misconduct. Okada claimed to need access to certain books and records {e.g., records related to
an amendment to a shareholder's agreement between Mr. Wynn, Elaine Wynn, and Okada).

Okada’s diversionary tactics underscored his need to change the topic from the real issue - his

miscanduct in the Philippines.

/

38.  Okada's game playing continued. On October 25,’ 2011, days before the
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long-scheduled Foreign Corrupt Practices Act training, he requested that the training materials be

Dot
ot

translated into Japanese (despite his previous, long-term practice of translating all materials on his

ot
|4

own) and that the date of the training be moved (despite that it had been planned around his

2

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89169
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previous confirmation).  His refusal to atiend the training, an event attended by all other Board

members, demonstrated a cavalier disregard for his obligations ag director of a company in a

—
(%

highly regulated gaming industry. In the end, Okada was the sole Board member who failed to

PISANELLIBICE pLLC
3883 HOWARD HUGHES PARKWAY, SUITE 8§00

Yt
N

attend the training, with all other divectors appearing in person or telephonically.
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Former FBI Director Freelt Investigates

39.  On or about October 29, 2011, Wynn Resorts, on behalf of its Compliance

P
O R

Committee, retained Freeh to conduct an independent investigation into Okada and his activities,

with a focus on three main areas: (1) whether Okada breached the fiduciary duties owed to

NS
e ]

Wynn Resorts; (2) whether Okada engaged in conduct that could jeopardize Wynn Resorts'

b2
b

gaming licenses; and (3) whether Okada engaged in any conduct that could violate Wynn Resorts'

(3%
3

compliance policy,

o d
$a

40.  As part of that investigation, Frech conducted dozens of interviews (including of

N
W

all independent members of Wynn Resorts' Board of Directors), and reviewed thousands of pages

of documents and emails. As of January 1, 2012, there remained only one outstanding item on

o]
[~

[ %]
-]

Freel's to-do list; interview Okada. Yet, Okada refused to schedule the interview despite Freel's

o]
o

10
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stated willingness to travel on short notice to conduct the interview anywhere in the world to
accommodate Okada's schedule.

41.  With only Okada's interview outstanding, on February 6, 2012, Freeh briefed
Wynn Resorts’' Compliance Committee.

42, Okada finally sat for his interview with Frech in Tokyo, Japan, on February 15,
2012, where Okada was accompanied by United States counsel.

43,  Frech announced that he would report his findings to the Board of Directors on
‘P‘ebruary 18,2012,

44, At the February 18, 2012 Board meeting, Frech made a detailed presentation and

L~ - L B~ R & S L " I B

10 [ provided the Board with copies of his final report, outlining the following improprieties, among

3 11 || others:

,,-’-%% 12 a The Universal City Ledger account established by Okada revealed
§§§ 13 36 scparate instances, from May 2008 to through June 2011 where Okada
ggé 14 or his associatesfaffiliates made payments exceeding US $110,000 that
gg% 15 directly benefitted senior PAGCOR officials. This included payment for
ég? 16 luxury lodging, extravagant dinners, shopping, and cash to spend for,

:3 17 among others, former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino and his family and

g 18 friends and current PAGCOR Chairman, Cristino Naguiat ("Naguiat"),

19 b, The Freeh report noted that Okada's conduct constituted prima facie
20 evidence of violations of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, On one
21 particular occasion, Okada arranged for PAGCOR Chairman Naguiat, his
22 wife, his ihree children, their nanny, other senior PAGCOR officials, one of
23 whom also brought his family to stay at Wynn Macau. Okada and his
24 associates refused to provide Wynn Macau management with the name of
25 Chairman Nagulat and tried to conceal his identity, At Okada's associates’
26 request and Okada's direction, Chairman Naguiat and his entourage were
27 provided with the most expensive ‘accoﬁzmodation, food, and star
28 treatment. In addition, Okada's associates asked that cach guest be

i
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provided a $5,000 cash advance during their stay. Following the stay,
.Okada‘s associates requested Wynn Macau reduce the excessive charges
because they feared an investigation and did not want Universal to get in

frouble, Wynn Macau refused.

There is substantial evidence that Okada, his associates and companies may
have arranged and manipulated ownership and management of legal
entities in the Philippines under his control, in a manner that may have

_ enabled the evasion of Philippine constitutional and statutory requirements.

L =TT B - S A Y
[«]

d. Morcover, close assoclates and consultants of the former PAGCOR

10 administration attained positions as corporate officers, directors and/or
§ i1 nominal sharehiolders of entities controlled by Okada and, in some cases,
3 g ) 12 served as links between Okada and the former PAGCOR chair.
;35% 13 ¢ Thete is substantial evidence that the ownership structure of
ggg 14 Okada-affiliated, ARUZE USA-owned entities may subject Okada to civil
ég %’ 15 and criminal penalties under Philippine law.
ggg 16 f  Despite being repeatedly advised of the strict anti-bribery laws and
‘§ 17 Wynn Resorts' policies, Okada insists and strongly believes that, when
% 18 doing business in Asia, he is permitted to provide gifts and things of value
19 to government éﬁicials, whether directly or indirectly,
20 g His conduct is not accidental or based upon a misunderstanding of the law
21 or the policies. Rather, Okada stated his personal rejection of anti-bribery
22 laws and Wynn Resorts' related policies to fellow Wynn Resoris Board
23 members,
24 45.  Following Freeh's presentation, the Board deliberated at length and unanimously
25 || adopted resolutions finding the Defendants to be Unsuitable Persons under Wynn Resonts' Second
26 || Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation ("Articles of Incorporation® and/or "Articles”),
27 {land redeemed ARUZE USA's shares in Wynn Resorts in accordance with the provisions of the
28 |l Articles
12
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46.  Okada's deplorable actions demonstrate that he had abandoned and forsaken all
duties owed to Wynn Resorts, Worse, Okada undertook a pattern of conduct that jeopardizes
Wynn Resorts' good reputation, its long-standing business relationships, and its gaming and
business licenses, Accordingly, the Board of Directors has unanimously (except for Okada)
authorized the pursuit of this action.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach of Fiduciary Duty)
(Wynn Resoris against Okada)

47.  Wynn Resorts repeats and realleges the ailegat:ons set forth in Parvagraphs 1
through 46 above as though fully set forth hetein.

48.  Wynn Resorts' Code of Conduct, which applies to all employees, officers, and
directors, provides guidelines for ethical behavior consistent with the reputation and integrity of
Wynn Resoris, The Code of Conduct supplements the duties, fiduciary and otherwise, lmposed
upon Okada nnder Wynn Resorts’ governing documents and the law,

49,  The Code of Conduct addresses confliets of interest. Specifically, the Code of
Conduct provides that "directors are expected to dedicate their best efforts to advencing
[Wynn Resortg'] interests and to make decisions that affect [Wynn Resorts] based on
[Wynn Resorts'] best interest, independent of outside influences."

50.  The Code of Conduct defines a "conflict of interest” as "when your own interests
(including the intetests of a family member or an organization with which you have a significant
relationship) interfere, or even appear to interfere with the interests of [Wynn Resorts]. A conflict
situation can arise when you take actions, have interests or are offered benefits that make it
difficult for you to perform your [Wynn Resorts] work objectively and effectively."

51,  The Code of Conduct provides a non-exclusive list of potential conflict scenarios,
Included in this list is an express prohibition on financial interests in other businesses: "You may
not own a significant interest in any company that competes with {Wynn Resorts].” The Code of
Conduct provides that “it is not typically" a conflict if the competing entity "is a publicly traded

company and you and your family members' only relationship with any such entity is to have an

13
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interest of Jess than 2% of the outstanding shates of the [competing] company,” (Emphasis

added). ’

52, Further, the Code of Conduct precludes outside employment or activities with a
competitor, Specifically, "[s]limultancous employment with or serving as a director of a
competitor, of [Wynn Resorts] is prohibited, as is any activity that is intended to or that you
should veasonably expect to advance a competitor's interests. You may not market products or
services in competition with [Wynn Resorts'] current or potential business activifies. ... ."

53.  In addition, the Code of Conduct expressly states that "[yjou may not use
corporate properiy or information or your position at [Wynn Resorts] for improper personal
gain, and you may not compete with [Wynn Resorts]." (Emphasis added.)

54.  The Code of Conduct also provides as follows;

a.  With respect to offering gifts and entertainment,

i. *Special rules apply in the context of dealing with government
officials and employees. See 'Interacting with Government —
Prohibition on Qifts to Government Officials and Employees'
below." '

il “Giving ot receiving any payment or gift in the nature of a bribe or

a kickback is absolutely prohibited.”

ii, *You are prohibited from providing gifts, meals or anything of
value to government officials or employees or members of their
families in connection with Company business without prior written
approval from the Compliance Officer."

iv. “The Company's quicy Regarding Payments to Foreign Officials,
the U.S. Foreigt; Corrupt Practices Act (the "FCPA"), and the laws
of many other countries prohibit the Company and its officers,
employees and agents or other third parties from giving or offering
fo give money or anything of value, directly or through an

intermediary, to a foreign officials, employees of a state-owned

14
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company, 8 foréign political party, a party official or a candidate for
political office in order to attempt to influence officials acts or
decisions of that person or entity, to obtain or retain business, ot to
 secure any improper advantage.”
b, With respect ta company information and intellectual property:

i "Company asscts, including Company time, equipment, materials,
resources and proprietary information, must be used for business
purposes only.”

ii. "“The Intellectual Property must not be used or réproduced without
the consent of the Company and for authorized use in connection
with the Company's business. Every effort must be undertaken to
protect the Intellectual Property from illegal copying or misuse.”

35.  AsaWynn Resorts director, Okada was bound by the Code of Coﬁduct.

56.  Further, as a Director, Okada stands as a fiduciary to Wynn Resorts and, therefore,
owes a high duty to the Company, including the duty of care, the duty of loyalty, and that he at all
times discharged those duties in good faith and with a view to the interests of Wynn Resorts.

57. The fiduciary duty of loyalty that Okada owed as a Director required him to
maintain, in good faith, the corporation's and its shareholders' best interests over the interests of
anyone clse, including his own.

58,  Okada breached his fiduciary duties by engaping in unlawful activities, many of
which occurted on Wynn Resorts' properties, and all of which undermine Wynn Resorts'
reputation as well as its business and gaming licenses.

59, Okada further breached his fiduciary duty of loyalty by, among other things,
self-dealing, placing his own interests above those of Wynn Resorts, and using Wynn Resorts’
confidential information, trade secrets, and related trademarks for his own benefit and to
Wynn Resorts' &etriment. Specifically, and among other things, the website of Universal (of
which Okada holds a significant interest and serves as Chairman of the Board) states that
Universal obtained its purported experience and "know how" in operating top quality facilities

18
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and providing services to the high end market through Okada's experience with Wynn Resorts,
Universal's website also states that it intends to use its know-how acquired by Okada from his
relationship with Wynn Resorts in Universal's Manila Bay casino-resort operation. Universal and
Okada expressly admit (and those in the industry 5i1disputably recoghize) that a Manila Bay
casino-resort will compete wilh Wynn Macan (in which Wynn Resorts has a significant
ownership interest) for gaming customers and resost clientele.

60.  Okada’s ncts éndior failures to act constituted breaches of his fiduciary duties,
Okada's breaches of duty involved intentional misconduct and knowing violations of the law.

61, As adirect and proximate result of Okada’s acts and omissions, Wynn Resoris has
suffered and will continue to suffer direct, incidental and consequential damages in an amount to
be proven at trial, but in any event, in excess of $10,000, plus prejudgment interest.

62,  In committing the acts herein above alleged, Okada is guilty of oppression, fraud,
and malice toward Wynn Resorts. As such, Wynn Rcsorté is entitled to recover punitive damages
from Okada for the purpose of deterring him and others similazly situated from engaging in like
conduct, |

63.  Asaresult of the acts and omissions of Okada, Wynn Resorts has been compelled
to hire the services of an attorney for the protection of its interests.-

" SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Aiding & Abetiing Breach of Fiduciary Duiy)
(Wynn Resorts against ARUZE USA & Universal)

64.  Wynn Resorts repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in Pavagraphs 1
through 63 above as though fully set forth hetein.

' 65.  As a director, Okada owed Wynn Resorts a fiduciary duty of loyalty which, as{
alleged herein, he breached,

66, ARUZE USA and Universal knowingly paticipated in Okada's breach by
facilitating the self-dealing and misappropriation of Wynn Resorts' confidential information, trade
secrets, and trademarks, and committing unlawful acts that undermine Wynn Resorts’ good |

reputation as well as its business and gaming licenses.

16
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67,  As a direct and proximate result of ARUZE USA’s and Universal's scts and
uomissions in aiding and abetting Okada's breach of duty, Wynn Resoris has suffered and will
continue to suffer dirgct, incidental and consequential damages in an amount to be proven at frial,
but in any event, in excess of $10,000, plus prejudgment interest,

68.  In commitiing the acts herein above alleged, ARUZE USA and Universal are
guilty of oppression, fraud, and malice toward Wynn Resorts. As such, Wynn Resorts is entitled

to recover punitive damages from ARUZE USA and Universal for the purpose of deterring them

and others similarly sitvated from engaging in like conduct,
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69.  As a result of the acts and omissions of ARUZE USA and Universal, Wynn

ey
o

Resorts has been compelled to hire the services of an attorney for the protection of its interests.
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Declaratory Relief - NRS Chapter 30)
{Wynn Resorts against Okada, ARUZE USA & Universal)
70.  Wynn Resorts repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1
r through 69 above as though fully set forth herein,

71.  To be deemed "suitable" under Nevada gaming law, the applicant must be: (a) a

L S
| O
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person of good character, honesty and integrity; (b) a person whose prior activities, criminal

3883 How,
ot
o2

record, if any, reputation, habits and associations do not pose a threat to the public interest of the

pot
O

State of Nevada or to the effective regulation and controf of gaming, and (¢) must have adequate

=

business probity, competence and experience, in gaming or generally,

72, Section 3.090 of the Nevada Gaming Regulations provides that a license,

B oR

registration, and suitability finding requires, among other things, a person of "good character,

[3]
(75

honesty, and integrity" and one "whose background, reputation and associations will not result in

b
-

adverse publicity for the State of Nevada and its gaming industry ... ."

73. Evenaftera suitébility finding, Regulation 3.080 provides that "[t]he commission

b
! W

may deny, revoke, suspend, limit condition or restrict any registration or finding of suitability or

) V]
-3

application therefor upon the same grounds as it may take such action with respect to licenses,

b rd
oD

licensees and licensing; without exclusion of any other grounds.”
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Article VII of the Articles of Incorporation.

74.  In recognition of the central importance of its gaming license, Wynn Resorts'
Articles of Incorporation afford the Board of Directors the "sole discretion” 10 take certain action
to profect the gaming licenses and approvals of Wynn Resorts and its affiliates. Under the
Articles of Incorporation, an "Unsuitable Person’ shall mean a Person who . . . in the sole
discretion of the board of directors of the Corporation, is deemed likely to jeopardize the
Corporation's or any Affiliated Company's application for, receipt of approval for, right to the use
of, or entitlement to, any Gaming License.” In addition, the Amended and Restated Gaming and
Compliance Program defines an "Unsuitable Person” as, among other things, one "that the
Company determines is unqualified as a business associate of the Company or its Affiliates based
on, without limitation, that person's antecedents, financial practices, financial condition or
business probity.” ’

75.  Following a determination of unsuitability, the Articles of Incorporation provide
that "[fJbe Securitiecs Owned or Controlled by an Unsuitable Person or an Affiliate of an
Unsuitable Person shall be subject to redemption by the Corporation, ‘out of funds legally
available therefor, by action of the board of directors, to the extent . . . deemed necessary or
advisable by the board of directors. If. . . the board of directors deems it necessary or advisable,
to rgdeem any such Securities, the Corporation shall give a redemption Notice to the Unsuitable
Person or its Affiliate and shall purchase on the Redemption Date the number of shares of the
Securities specified in the Redemption Notice for the price set forth in the Redemption
Notice,..."

76.  On February 18, 2012, following Freeh's presentation, the Board of Directors
deliberated at length and thereafter adopted resolutions that: (1) determined that ARUZE USA,
and Universal wen; likely to jeopardize Wynn Resorts' and its affiliated companies' gaming
licenses; (2) deemed Okaéa, ARUZE USA, and Universal to be unsuitable persons under
Wynn Resorts' Articles of Incorporation; and (3) redeemed ARUZE USA's shares in
Wynn Resorts for approximately US $1.936 billion via a promissory note, in accordance with

18
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77, Aware of the magnitude of his improprieties and what any reasonable Board of
Directors of a Nevada gaming company would have to do, Okada attempted, in advance of the
February 18, 2012 Board meeting, to set up a defense by disputing the Board's authority fo act
upon Freeh's report.

78, Accordingly, a justiciable controversy has arisen between the parties whose
interests are adverse, and the dispute is ripe for adjudication. Wynn Resorts acted lawfully and in
full compliance with its Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, and other governing documents and is
entitled to a declaration from this Court to that effect.

79.  As a result of the acts and omissions of Defendants, Wynn Resorts has been
compelled to hire the services of an attorney for the protection of its interests.

WHEREFORE, Wynn Resotts prays for judgment as follows:

I. For compensatory and special damages, including atforneys' fees, against
Defendants in an amount to be determined at trial;

2 For a declaration that Wynn Resoris acted }a{vﬁlily and in full compliance with its
Articles of Incorpotation, Bylaws, and other governing documents as set forth herein;

3. Disgorgement of profits;

4, Punitive damages;

3. For an awar& of reasonable costs and attorneys' fees;

6. For prejudgment and post-judgment interest on the foregoing sums at the highest

rate permitied by law; and
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L Introduction

Wynn Resorts, Limited (“Wynn Resorts™), a publicly traded company incorporated in the
State of Nevada, on behalf of its Compliance Committee, retained Freeh Sporkin & Suflivan,
LLP (“FSS") on November 2, 2011 to conduct an independent Investigation, That independent
investigation has been conducted under the sole direstion of the Compliance Committee, The
purpose of the investigation was to determine whether there is evidence that Mr, Kazuo Okada, a
member of the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors, may have: (i) breached his fiduciary duties to
Wynn Resorts; (i) engaged in conduct that potentiaily could jeopardize the gaming licenses of
Wynn Resorts; and/or, (iii) violated the Wynn Resorts compliance policy. Specifically, FSS has
been asked to examine Mr, Okada’s efforts in connection with the creation of a gaming
establishment in the Republic of the Philippines.

This is the Report to the Compliance Committee Chairman on the results of FSS’
investigation. As set forth with greater detail in the attached appendix, FSS has performed its
investigation by interviewing dozens of Individuals and by reviewing thousands of documents,
electronic emails, corporate and publie records.

I,  Summary
The investigation has produced substantial evidence that: -

‘1. Despite belng advised by the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors and Wynn Resorts
attorneys on the strict US anti-bribery laws which govermn Wynn Resorts and its
board, Mr, Okada strongly belicves and asserts that when doing business in Asia, he
should be able to provide gifts and things of value to foreign government officlals,
whether directly or by the use of third party intermediaries or consultants.

2. Mr. Okada, his associates and companies have arranged and designed his corporate
gaming business and operations in the Philippines in a manner which appears to
contravene Philippine Constitutional provisions and statutes that require 60%
ownership by Philippine nationals, as well as a Philippine criminal statute.

3. M, Okada, his assoclates and companies appear 1o have engaged in & longstanding
practice of making payments and gifts to his two (2) chief gaming tegulators at the
Philippines Amusement and Gaming Corporation (‘PAGCOR™), who directly
oversee and regulate Mr, Okada’s Provisional Licensing Agreement to operate in that
country, Since 2008, Mr, Okada and his associates have made mutltiple payments to
and on behalf of these chief regulators, former PAGCOR Chairman Efraim Genuino
and Chairman Cristino Naguiat (his current chief regulator), their families and
PAGCOR associates, in an amount exceeding US 110,000, At times, Mr. Okada, his

1
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assoclates and companies have consciously taken active measures to conceal both the
nature and amount of these payments, which appear to be prima facle violutions of
the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”). In one such instance in
September 2010, Mr, Okada, his associates and companies, paid the expenses fora
luxury stay at Wynn Macau by Chairman Nagulat, Chairtnan Naguiat’s wife, their
three children and nanny, along with other senior PAGCOR officlals, one of whom
also brought his family, Mr. Okada and his staff intentionally atterapted to disguise
this particular visit by Chairman Naguiat by keeping his identity “Incognito” and
attempting to get Wynn Resorts to pay for the excessive costs of the chief regulator’s
stay, fearing an investigation. Wynn Resorts rejected the request by Mr. Okada and
his associates to disguise and to conceal the actual expenditures made on behalf of
Chairman Naguiat,

Additionally, Mr. Okada, his associates and companics sppear to have engaged ina
pattern of such prima facie violations of the FCPA. For example, in 2010 it also is
possible that Mr. Okada, his associates and companies made similar payments to a
Korean government official who oversees Mr. Okada’s initlal gaming investment in
that country. Additional investigation is needed to develop and confirm these
possible FCPA violations.

The prima facie FCPA viclations by Mr, Okada, his associates and companies
constitute a substantial, ongoing risk to Wynn Resorts and to Its Board of Directors,
creating regulatory risk, conilicts of interest and potential violations of his fiduciary
duty to Wynn Resotts, Finally, Mr. Oknda’s documented refusal (o receive Wynn
Resorts requisite FCPA training provided to other Directors, as well as his fallure to
sign an acknowledgment of understanding of Wynn Resorts Code of Conduct,
increase this risk going forward.

Mr. Ckada insisted in his interview that all of his gaming efforts in the Philippines
prior to the change of the presidential administration in the summer of 2010 were
undertaken on behalf of and for the benefit of Steve Wynn and Wynn Resorts. This
assertion is contradicted by press releases dating back to 2007 on his website, which
announce an independent effort by Universal; his real estate investments; and the
ownership of his cotporations in the Philippines,

{7) Mr. Okada has stated that Universal paid expenses related to then-PAGCOR
Chairman Genuino's 4ip to Beijing during the 2008 Olympics.
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1. Kazuo Okada’s Relevant Corporate Affiliations

A, Wynn Resorts

After an initial public offering which closed in October 2002, Aruze USA, Inc,,
controlled by Mr, Okada, became a 24,5% shareholder of Wynn Resorts, Me. Okada’s current
ownership of Wynn Resorts through his control of Aruze USA, Inc, is 19.66%.

Mr. Okada became n member of the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors on October 21,
2002, and remains on the Board of Directors as of the date of this Report. In the past, Mr.
Okada has used the title of Vice Chaitman of Wynn Resorts. In October 201 1, the Wynn Resorts
Board of Directors eliminated the position of Vice Chairman.

As a Ditector of Wymn Resorts, Mr, Okada is entitled to receive the courtesy of what is
called a “City Ledger Account,” Such accounts were originally instituted as a result of Sarbanes
Oxley’s prohibition of extensions of credit, in the form of a personal loan from an issuer to an
officer or director. The accounts were funded by deposits from the director or his company.
Such an account exists for billing conveniences related to charges incutred at various Wynn
Resorts locales. Mr. Okada has avalled himself of'this courtesy and established such a City
Ledger Account.' Within Wynn Resorts, this Okada City Ledger Account is referred to either as
the “Universal City Ledger Account” or as the “Aruze City Ledger Account.” Accordingly, the
phrases Universat City Ledper Account and Aruze City Ledger Account will be referred to
interchangeably within this report despite the fact that Aruze Corp.’s name was changed to
Universal Entertalnment Corporation in November of 2009,

M, Okada has been found to be suitable by the Nevada Gaming Commission.

B, Universal Enfertainment Corporatiou of Japan

Mr. Okada currently serves as Director and Chairman of the Board of Universal
Entertainment Corporation (“Universal Enterfainment™), registered in Tokyo, Japan, Universal
Entertalnment Corporation is the current trade name of"a company which was incorporated in
1969 as Universal Lease Co. Ltd. and which became Aruze Corp. in 1998, Aruze changed its

*The initial wire to establish the Aruze Corp. City Ledger Account was dated Febraary 15, 2008,
 Mr. Okeda was originally found to be sultable as a shareholder of Aruze Corp, 8 part of An Order of Reglstratton
issued jointly by the State Gaming Coutrol Board and the Nevada Gaming Commission on June 4, 2004, On Junie 5,
2008, inu similar order, the Nevada Commission and the State Gaming Control Bourd found Aruze Corp, to be (1}
suitable as a controiling shareholder of Wynn Resorts, Limited, (2) suiteble as the sole shareholder of Aruze USA,
Ine., (3) that Aruze USA, Ine. is registered as an infermediary company and Is found suitable as a shareholder of
Wynn Resorts, Limited, and (4) that Mr, Okada is suitable as a shareholder and controlling shareholder of Aruze
Corp. [See Appendix}
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name to Universal Entertainment Corporation in November 2009, _Universal is listed on the
JASDAQ stock exchange and is engaged in the manufacture and sale of pachinko and gaming
machines and related business aclivities. As of September 2011, Okada Holdings Godokeishs -
was Universal Entertainment’s major shareholder, with 67.90% of the issued shares.

The Nevada Gaming Commission has approved Universal Entertainment’s suitébi!ity"as
the 100% shareholder for a subsidiary, Aruze USA, Inc.

C. Armze USA, Inc,

4 Aruze USA, Inc. (“Aruze USA”) s a wholly owned subsidiary of Universal
Entertainment. Aruze USA Is a US company and was incorporated In the State of Nevada on
June 9, 1999. Mr. Okada is a Director of Aruze USA and serves as its President, Secretary, and
Treasurer,

Aruze USA has been found suitable by the Nevada Gaming Commission as a major
shareholder of Wynn Resorts,

D, Aruze Gaming Ameriea, Inc,

Aruze Gaming America, Inc. is a private company that is 160% personally owned by My,
Okada. He currently serves as a Director, Secretary, and Treasurer of the company. Aruze
Gaming America, Inc. is a US company and was incorporated on February 7, 1983. The
company changed its name from Universal Distributing of Nevada, Inc. to Aruze Gaming
America, Inc. on January 6, 2006, Aruze Gaming America, Inc. shares a common business
address with Aruze USA, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada,

E. Businegs Interests in the Republic of the Philippines

Since 2008, Mr, Okada has been involved with a variety of corporate entities and with
various business associates in the creation of a gaming establishment in an area of the
Philippines known as Entertainment City Manila,® In furtherance of this endeavor, Mr, Okada
and his associates have procured land and a provisional gaming license in the Philippines. A
more detailed review of Mr. Okada’s corporate entities and business associates in the Philippines
is set forth in Section V(2)(A) below.

F. Business Interests in the Republic of Korea -

Mr, Okada has recently pursued development of a casino resort complex in the Incheon Free
Economic Zone in the Republic of Korea. A more detailed review of Mr, Okuada’s activities in
Korea is set forth in Section V(4) below,

? On the Universal Entertainment website (viewed January 30, 2012) this project Is referenced as “Muantln Bay
Resorls,” [See Appeadix] : )

4
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IV. Relevant Legal and Policy Standards

A. ECPA

) The United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA") contains two primary
categories of violations: (i) a books and records provision, and (i) a bribery provision, Based
upon available information, it seems clear that Aruze USA fits the definition of domestic
concern’ and United States person® provided in the FCPA, and that the FCPA applies both to
~ Aruze USA and to Mr, Okada personally, in his capacity as an officer and director of Aruze
USA.

Under the definitions of domestic concem and United States petson, the statute applies to
a corporation, partnership, unincorporated organization and other enumerated entities that have
thelr principal place of business in the United States or which ave organized under the laws of a
State of the United States. 1t also applics to officers and directors of such concerns.

In 1998, the FCPA was amended and added an alternative basis to interstate commerce
for jurisdiction. As the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York
wrote: “. . .. The amendments expanded FCPA coverage to *any person’ -- niot just ‘issuers® or
*domestic concerns’ . . .. [AJny Unlted States person or entity violating the Act outside of the
United States is subject to prosecution, regardless of whether a of inters mimerce
were used, Citing 15 USC 78dd-1, 78dd-2. . . . (Emphasis added.)’ '

Under this definition, Aruze USA is a covered party under the FCPA,

" The FCPA provides that "{i}t shall be unlawful for any domestic concern, other than an
isswer which is subject to section 78dd~! of this title, or for any officer, director, employes, or
agent of such domestic concern or any stockholder thereof acting on behalf of such domestic
concern, to make use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commarce
corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment of
any money, or offer, gift, promise to give, or authorization of the giving of anything of value
to——

(1) any forelgn official for purposes of-—
&)

415 U.5.C. 78 dd—2(a),(h).

$ 15 U.S.C. 78 dd = 20

615 U.S.C. 78 dd-2(g).

? n te Greand Jury Subpoena, 218 F. Supp. 2d 544, 550 (S.DN.Y 2002).

5
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(i) influencing any act or decislon of such foreign official in his official capacity,

(1) Inducing such foreign official to do ar omit to do any act In violation of the lawful duty of
such official, or

(i) securing any improper advantage; or
(B) inducing such foreign official to use his influence with a foreign government or
instrumentality thereof to affect or influence any act or decision of such government or
instrumentality, in order to assist such domestic concern in obtaining or retaining business foror
with, or directing business to, any person; . . e '

The head of PAGCOR fits within the definition of foreign official as used in the FCPA.

According to PAGCOR's website, it “is a 100 percent government-owned and controlled

. corporation that runs under the direct supervision of the Office of the President of the Republic

of the Philippines.”® In addition to preseribing mandates to generate revenue for certain
government programs and promote tourismt in the Philippines, PAGCOR’s charter states that the
entity will “,..{rlegulate, authorize and license games of chance, games of cards and games of
numbers, particularly casing gaming, in the Philippines...."" (Emphasis added.)

As set forth above, there is still the interstate commerce basis for jurisdiction, but there is
also an alternative. The alternative would require the same elements for an offense, but a
showing of interstate commerce would not be required. [f the interstate commerce basis for
Jjurisdiction were used, the analysis set forth below would be of significance.

With regard to means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, some of the facts
referred to in this report pertain to Mr, Okada utilizing the Universal City Ledger Account to
confer financlal benefits upon Philippine gambling regulators who could affect the business
interests of Aruze USA, Inc. in the Philippines. Some of those benefits were conferred at Wynn
Macau. The following facts concerning the Universal City Ledger Account, which bear upon
use of means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, were established during the
investigation:

B The account is maintained at the corporate offices of Wynn Resorts, Limited in Las
Vegas, Nevada where periodic deposits are made from Universal into the Wynn Resorts,
Limited operating account at Bank of America in Las Vegas, Nevada to ensure that the
amount on deposit rerains at or about US 100,000, Bank documents reflect that the
deposits are received from a Universal Entertainment account located in Japan.”

% 15 U.8.C. Seotion 78dd — 2(a).
¥ b 3 : - rofile.ohp, viewed Janunry 18, 2012. [See Appendix]

' Yhid., viewed January 18, 2012, [Sce Appendix]

' Sce, e.g. wire transfer documents from Sumitomo Mitsumi Bank to Bank of America, [See Appendix]
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B When charges are incurred at Wynn Macau, Wynn Macau tracks all charges for the
Universal City Ledger Account on its books, and then the accounting department
transfers the charges to accounting at Wynn Resorts, Limited in Las Vegas via a journal
entry. Wynn Macau sends a pdf file to 8 staff accountant at Wynn Resorts, Limited In Las
Vegas with all the backup documentation. Invoices issued by Wynn Resorts, Limited are
petiodically sent to a Universal Entertainment emall address.'?

B. Nevada Gaming Regulations and Wynn Resorts Policies

The question of whether or not a gaming licensee or licensee applicant is deemed
“sultable” in Nevada is answered by reviewing the Nevada Revised Statutes (“"NRS™) in
conjunction with the regulations promulgated by the Nevada Gaming Commission (“NGC™),
which is empowered by the NRS."

1. Legislative Authoyity

The standard for determining suitability is found in Section 463.170 of the NRS.
Patagraph (2) of the NRS 463,170, entitled Qualifications for license, finding of suitability or
approval; regulations, provides that the person seeking a license or a suitability determination is
subject to the following considerations: “[aln application to tecelve a license or be found suitable
must not be granted unless the Commission Is satisfied that the applicant is: {a) A person of good
character, honesty and integrity; (b) A person whose prior activities, criminal record, if any,
reputation, habits and associations do not pose a threat to the public interest of this State or to the
effective regulation and control of gaming. ... In addition, paragraph (3) provides in pertinent
part “{a] license to operate a gaming establishment or an inter-casino linked system must not be
granted unless the applicant has satisfied the Commission that: (z) [t}he applicant has adequate
business probity, competence and experience, in gaming or generally, .. "

‘The Nevada Gaming Commission Regulations (“Nevada Gaming Regulations”) are also
relevant to the conditions placed upon suitability. According to Section 3.080 of the Nevada
Gaming Regulations; entitled Unsuitable qffiliates, “{tthe commission may deny, revoke,
suspend, limit, condition or restrict any registration or finding of suitability or application
therefor upon the same grounds as it may take such actlon with respect to licenses, licensees and
licensing; without exclusion of any other grounds,” Pacagraph (1) of Scstion 3.090, entitled

211 a Wynn Resorts Memorandum 1o File from the Corporate Accounting depnrtment. dated January 10, 2012, the
“Involce[s] and all support documentation are emailed to kimiko.oka 1-7
takashi.usami@hg.ubiversal-777.com and jwavamahidetsuen@hn,universals777. cg_m on the 5* of zach month for
the prior month [sic] activige.” [See Appendis}
¥ For further advice regarding sultability, please conshit divectly with David Arrajj, Esq. andfor see Momo dated
December 9, 2011 from Kate Lowenhar-Fisher, Esq. and Jamie L, Thalgott, Esq. to David Awajj, Esq, re
Associations and the Suitabllity Analysis, [See Appentlis]
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Standards for commission action, provides In pertinent part that “[n]o license, registeation,
finding of suitability, or approval shall be granted unless and until the applicant has satisfied the
commission that the applicant: (a) Is a person of good character, honesty, and integrity; (b) Isa
person whose background, reputation and associations will not result in adverse publicity for the
State of Nevads and its gaming industry; and (c) Has adequate business competence and
experience for the role or position for which application is made.”

2. Underlying Corporate Documents of Wynn Resorts

The Second Amended and Restated Asticles of Incorporation of Wynn Resorts, Limited
(filed September 16, 2002) also provide for standards that seek to define an “Unsuitable Person.”
As st forth on page 8 of the Articles of Incorporation, the phrase Unsuitable Person “shall mean
a Person who . ... in the gole disoretion of the board of directors of the Corporation, is deemed
likely to jeopardize the Corporation’s or any Affiliated Company’s application for, recelpt of
approval for, right to the use of; or entitlement to, any Gaming License.” (Emphasis added.)

Finally, the Amended and Restated Gaming and Compliance Program of Wynn Resorts,
Limited {(adopted as of July 29, 2010} defines an Unsuitable person as a “[pletson (i) who has
been denied licensing or other related approvals by a Gaming Authority on the grounds of
unsuitabilify or who has been delermined to be unsuitable to be associated with a gaming
entorprise by a Gaming Authority; or (ii) that the Company determines is unqualified as a

. business associate of the Company or iis Affiliates based o, without limitation, that Person’s

antecedents, associations, financial practices, financial condition ot business probity.”

- Inthe event of a finding of unsultability, there are provisions within the aforementioned
corporate documents that provide for a resolution post determination. Specifically, on page 6 of
the Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Wynn Resorts, Limited, the
Articles state in pertinent part, “[tJhe Securities Owned or Controlled by an Unsultable Person er
an Affiliate of an Unsuitable Person shall be subject to redemption by the Corporation, out of
funds legally available therefor, by action of the board of directors, to the extent required by the
Gaming Authority making the determination of unsuitability o to the extent deemed necessaty
or advisable by the board of directors. If a Gaming Authority requires the Corporation, or the
board of directors deems it necessary or advisable, to redeem any such Securities, the
Corporation shall give a Redemption Notice to the Unsuitable Person or its Affiliate and shall
purchase on the Redemption Date the number of shares of the Securities specified in the
Redemption Notice for the Price set forth in the Redemption Notice, , . .” The Articles provide
further guidance as to the terms of the redemption.

In addition, according to Section 3.6 of the Pourth Amended and Restated Bylaws,
effective as of November 13, 2006, the removal of a director is premised upon . , . the
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affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the voting power of the issued
and outstanding stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors
{voting as a single class). .. ." Resignation is also listed as an option “upon giving written
notice, unless the notice specifies a later time for effectiveness of such resignation, to the
chairman of the board, if any, the president or secretary, or in the absence of all of them, any
other officer.”

C. Wynn Resorts Code of Business Ethics

Wynn Resorts first-adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on May 4, 2004, The
document defines itself as “a statement of policies for the individual and business conduct of the
Company’s employees and Directors . . . " There are two sections of the Code that are

* relevant to this investigation; (i} conflict of interest and (i) interaction with government officlals,

The sections are Included below for reference purposes.

1. Confliet of Interest:

"A Conflict of interest occurs when your private interests interfere, or even appear to interfere,
with the interests of the Company. A conflict situation can arise when you take actions or have
interests that make it difficult for you to perform your Company work objectively and
effectively. -Your obiigation to conduct the Company's business In an honest and ethical manner
includes the ethical handling of actual, apparent and potential conflicts of interest between
personal and business relationships, This includes full disclosure of any actual, apparent or
potential conflicts of interest as set forth below, ’

Special rules apply to executive officers and Directors who engage in conduct that creates an
actual, apparent or potential conflict of interest. Before engaging in any such conduct, executive
officers and Directors must make full disclosure of all facts and circumstances to the Corporate
Secretary, who shali inform and seek the prior approval of the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors."

. 2. Interacting with Government:

Prohibition on Glifts to Government Officials and Employees

"Different governments have different laws restricting gifts, including meals, entertainment,
transportation and lodging, that may be provided to government officials and government
employees. You are prohibited from providing gifts, meals or anything of value to government
officials or employees or members of their families in connection with Company business
without prior written approval from the Compliance Officer,”

¥ Wynn Resorts Code of Business Conduct and Ethics dated May 4, 2004, page 7. [See Appendix]
) 9
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Bribery of Goyernment Officials

“The Company's Policy Regarding Payments to Foreign Officials, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (the "FCPA"), and the laws of many other countries prohibit the Company and its
officers, employees and agents from giving or offering to give money or anything of value to a
forelgn official, a foreign political party, a party official or a candidate for political office in
arder to influence official acts or decisions of that person or entity, to obtain or retain business,
or to secure any improper advantage. Please refer to the Company's Policy Regarding Payments
1o Foreign Officials for more details regarding prohibited payments to foreign government
officials.”

Diseipline for Violations:

“The Company intends to use every reasonable effort to prevent the occurrence of conduct not in
compliance with its Code and to halt any such conduct that may occur as soon as reasonably
possible afier its discovery, Subject to applicable laws and agreements, Company personnel who
violate this Code and other Company policies and procedures may be subject to disciplinary

action, up to and including discharge.” (Emphasis added.)

The Code has since been revised twice, once in 2009 and then again on November 1, 2011.
Although the above sections have been expanded in these later editions, for the purpose of this
{nvestigation and the dates in question the substance has remained basically the same and the
FCPA has continued to be a point of emphasis.

Y. Report of Investigation
L Mr. Okada's Attitude Toward Wynn Resorts Compliance Reguirements

Mr, Okada’s prima facie vielations of FCPA, involving both his government regulators in
the Philippines and possibly in Korea, do not appear to he accldental or based upon a
misunderstanding of anti-bribery laws, Conversely, despite being advised by fellow Wynn
Resorts Board members and Wynn Resorts counsel that payments and gifts to foreign
government officials are strictly prohibited, Mr. Okada has insisted that there Is nothing wrong
with this practice in Asian countries. Mr., Okada has stated his personal rejection of Wynn
Resorts anti-bribery rules and regulations, as well as legal prohibitions against making such
payments to government officials, to fellow Wynn Resorts Board membeys.

In a February 24, 2011 Wynn Resorts Board of Directors (*Board”) meeling at which Mr.
Okada was present, after a lengthy discussion by the Board of the FCPA," including specifically
the Universal project in the Philippines and potential Wynn Resorts' involvement, “ft}he

** In an email from Kim Sinatra to Michiaki Tanaka, dated February 26, 2011, Ms, Sinatra referenced 2 meeting
with Mr, Okada in which she fumished FCPA poliey and training materials and relterated the Importance of strict
comp]mnce with the FCPA. {See Appendix}
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independent thembers of the board unanimously advised management that any involvement [by
Wynn Resorts] in the Philippines under the cutrent circumstances was inadvisable.”"* During
this discussion, Mr, Okada challenged the other board members over statements regarding the
impermissibllity under the FCPA of giving gifts abroad in retumn for favorable freatment, and
made statements about hiting “third party consultants” to give gifts to officials,"”

One board member recalled Mr. Okada stating that, in Asia, one must follow the local
culture, and that is why one should hire “consultants” to give the gifis."® This board member
understood Mr. Okada to mean that such use of consultants would help avoid prosecution under
the FCPA. Another board member who was present recalled Mr, Okada stating that conducting
business in the Philippines was all a matter of “hiring the right people” to pay other peopls.'
Yet another board member recalled Mr. Okada being “adamant” during the FCPA discussion that
it is not corrupt to give “gifts.”® A board member who participated in the meeting by phone
recalled Mr. Okada claiming that, in the Philippines, “business is done in a different manner, and
sometimes you have an ‘intermediary® that will do whatever he has to do,” or words ¢o that
effect™ A different board member recalled being “shocked" by the contradiction between two
of Mr, Okada’s statements during this discussion.?® Early in the discussion, Mg, Okada
explained that there were no longer corruption issues in the Philippines with the new
administration. However, M. Okada subsequently stated, in effect, that while he himself would
not pay bribes, he would “hire someone else” to bribe the necessary person,

Pursuant to a chain of emails reviewed by FSS, commencing with an email on August 4,
2011 from Roxane Peper, Director of Intellectual Property and Corporate Records, to each of the
board members (or their representatives), and ending with an email from Ms. Peper to Kevin
Tourek, Senior Vice President and Corporate Counsel, on October 26, 2011, the following is
clear:®

B All board members were notified of upcoming FCPA training/board meeting set for
October 31 —November 1, 2011 and asked to confirm attendance by August 31, 2011,

8 M. Okada, through two of his representatives, was emailed at least theee (3) separate
times before Shinobu Noda, his assistant, sent an email on September 15, 2011
confirming that Mr, Okada would attend.

6 Minutes of Wynh Resorts Board of Directors meeting, February 24, 2011, p.3. [See Appendix}
 Intgrview of Steve Wyan, November 7, 2011.

¥ Interview of Robert J, Miller, Decomber 16, 2011,

* Interview of Alvin V, Shoemaker, December 20, 2011,

* tserview of Marc I, Schorr, December 20, 2011,

* Interview of Allan Zeman, December 21, 2011.

* Interview of . Baone Wayson, December 20, 2011, \ B

* See emails from Roxane Peper to Kevin Tourek on October 26, 2011, [See Appendix]
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Subsequent to the confirmation, Ms, Peper received an email from Ms, Noda on Qctober
25,2011. Ms. Noda stated that the email contained a message to Kim Sinatra, Senior Vice
President and General Counsel of Wynn Resotts, from Mr. Okada.”® This part of the message
was entirely in Japanese and had to be translated. Mr, Okada asked for the FCPA tralning
materials to be provided in Japanese. He also stated that he would be arriving on “Monday
[October 31]”, which was the day the FCPA training was to commence, He asked if the training
could be held after the board meeting or rescheduled. Kim Sinatra sent a response to Ms, Noda
via email on October 25, 2011 thanking Mr. Okada for the note and stating further that the FCPA
training materials had been translated and would be provided to him via emall and that Wynn
Resorts had made further arrangements to have the FCPA live training teanslated to Japanese via
simultaneous translation.>: She also stated that the date of the tralning could not be rescheduled
because it had been planned around his previous confirmation and that outside counsel was
coming to Las Vegas to provide the training,

Mr, Okada failed to attend the training on October 31, 2011, He was the only member of
the board not in attendance (all others attended in person or via telephone dial-in as evidenced
via a sign-in sheet),” :

2. Gaming Establishment in the Philippines

Evidence obtained in the course of the investigation establishes that Mr, Okada, his
associates and companies, may have arranged and manipulated the ownership and management
of legal entities in the Philippines under his control, in 2 manner that may have enabled the
evasion of Philippine constitutional and statutory requirements. It is also noted that Mr, Okada’s
two principal Philippine corporations, Eagle 1 Landholdings, Inc. and Eagle 1 Holdeo, Inc.,
which may have been purposefully created 1o circumvent Philippine constitutional restrictions on
foreign ownership of land, appear to be closely Intertwined with Rodolfo Soriano, Paolo
Bombase and Manuel M. Camacho, who have numerous common ties to former PAGCOR
Chairman Efralm Genuino. For example, with regard to Eagle If Holdco, Inc., as fate as 2010,
Platinum Gaming and Entertainment (“Platinum”) had acquired 60% of its shares, According to
a dated filing by Platinum on file with the Philippine SEC, Rodolfo Soriano controlied 20% of
Platinum at the time of its incorporation. M, Soriano, referred to by attorney Camacho as a “bag
man” for then-Chalrman Genuino, is a former PAGCOR consultant and respondent in PAGCOR
corruption referrals (see page 15 infin). Similarly, Paolo Bombase, an officer, director and
nominal shareholder of Eagle I Landholding, Inc. and Eagle 1l Holdco., Inc. has a 1.25% share of
Ophiuchus Real Properties Corp. This Ophiuchus entity is 15% owned by a Philippine company
named SEAA Corp. In turn, SEAA is the family-controlled company of former PAGCOR
Chairman Efraim Genuino. At this time, the significance of this interlocking sharcholder link

 See emsil from Shinobu Noda to Roxane Peper dated October 25, 2041, [Sce Appendix]
5 Seo email from Kim Sinatra to Shinobu Nods dated October 25, 201 £ {See Appendix]
% See FCPA Training Sign-In sheet dated October 31, 201 ). [See Appendix)
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between Mr. Okada, his former Philipplne gaming regulator, and the regulator’s associates is not
known, .

A. Corporate Links between Mr. Olinda’s Business Interests and Those of
Philippine Government Officials ’

Close associates and consultants of the former Genuino PAGCOR administration
gventually attained positions as carporate officers, directors and/or nominal shareholders in legal
ehtities controlled by Mr. Okada, and, in some cases, served as links between the business
interests of Mr, Okada and thoss of former PAGCOR choinnan Efraim Genuino and members of
Genuino’s immediate family,

In order to better understand the interrelationships among corporate entities in the
Philippines controlled by Mr. Okada and those controlled by PAGCOR officials and their
associates, FSS requested the Philippines law firm of M. M., Lazaro & Associates (“Lazaro™) to
produce a study of this issue2’ Drawing upon official records obtained from the Philippines
Securities and Exchange Commission, Lazare produced an analysis of the relationships created
by the ownership and control structures of these entities.® The chart below, extracted from that
analysis, illustrates these relationships in schematic form.

* Manuel Lazaro was formerly a government corporate counsel with the rank and privileges of a Philippine
presiding Justice, court of appeals, who FSS retalned fo assist in the investigation and to advise on certain aspecis of
Philippine law. [See Appendix}

3 The complete Lazaro PPT is attached to this report. [Sce Appendix]
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Eagle I Landholdings, inc. (“Engle I} was Incorporated in the Philippines on May 16,
2008 with 5 partners of the Philippines law firm Sycip Salazar Gatmaitan (“Sycip™) as the
shareholders, directors and officers.™ By centification on September 5, 2008, the original
shareholders were all replaced by, among athers, Bagle I Holdeo, Inc. (“Eagle 1), with
approximately 50% ownership., Eagle Il maintained this percentage of ownership of Bagle
through the filing of the Iatest available General Information Statement (“GIS™) for the year
2010.* Eagle I's 2009 GIS, filed September 17, 2009, indicates that Paclo Bombase, Manuel
N. Camacho and Rodolfo V. Soriano (whose associations with PAGCOR and Mr. Genuino are
explained below) all had become officers/directors and nominal stockholders of Eagle I; they
retained this status through the filing of the latest GIS for Eagle 1.** Aruze USA, Inc. first
appears as the owner of approximately 40% of Eagle [ as of the 2010 GIS, owning the share
previously owned by Molly Investments Cooperative UA {(“Molly™).2¢

Eagle II's filings with the Philippines Securities and Exchange Commission indicate a
history similar to that of Eagle I. Incorporated on May 19, 2008 by the same 5 Sycip partners,”’
Eagle I reflected the ncquisition of approximately 60% of its shares by Platinum Gaming &
Entertainment Corp, (“Platinum™) on its GIS filed September 17, 2009, with Platinum owning
the same percentage as of the 2010 GIS.*® The sume filings reflect the appearance--in 2009 and
continuing through the 2010 filing--of Messrs. Camacho, Soriano and Bombase as
officers/directors and nominal shareholders. In 2010 Aruze USA, Inoc. appears with the 40%
sharcholding that was attributed to Molly in 2000.%°

Platinuro was incorporated in the Philippines on November 21, 2001, with a Cestificate of
Filing of Amended Artlcles of Incorporation (*AOI) issued by the Philippines Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 10, 2002.%° Platinum has no GIS on file with the Philippines
Securities and Exchange Commission, and the only corporate document filed besides the Articles
of Incorporation is the 2004 Financial Statement. The latest information on file lists Mr,

gopy of Tiger's Provisional Licensing Agreement, saying that they were bound by a non-disclesure clause. That
refusal was signed by Francis P. Hernando, who is identified below as a PAGCOR employee, who stayed in Wynn
Macay in June 2011 and had US 709.72 of expenses paid for by the Aruze City Ledger account, See Letter of
Request and Letter of Refusal. [See Appendix] ‘
* Articles of Incorporation of Eagle I, {Sce Appendix}
3* Q1S of Eagle 1 for years 2005 and 2010, [See Appendix] A GIS s required to be fited on an annual basis

- according to Section 141 of the Corporation Code of the Philippines. [See Appendix]
% hid, {See Appendix] .
% jbid, {See Appendix]; FSS has determined Molly 1o be n wholly owned subsidiary of Aruze Corp, See

hitp//www.universal-777.conven/irdic_lib/inaterialfannual_20081115.pdf, page 32,
? Articles of Incorporation of Eagle I, [See Appendix]
8 GIS of Enple 11, years 2009-2010, {See Appendix]

* GIS of Eagle 11, 2019, [See Appendix)
 Artleles of Incorporation of Platinum, as amended June 16, 2002, [See Appendix]
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Soriano, a former PAGCOR consultant, as a director/officer and a 20% shareholder in
Platinum.”

Messrs. Camacho, Bombase and Soriano are all directly associated with former
PAGCOR Chairman Genuino iy significant ways, Mr. Camacho is an attorney and a principal of
the Manila law firm Camacho & Assoclates, He was for a fime in a law partnership with Mr.
Genuino's son, Erwin Genuino.”? Mr. Camacho traveled to Japan with Mr. Soriano at then
PAGCOR Chairman Genuine’s behest, to meet with Mr. Okada and other representatives of
Aruze. This meeting resulted in Mr, Camacho’s firm replacing Sycip in representing Aruze with
respect to the development of the project in Entertainment City Manila,?

Sometime subsequent to this meeting, Aruze wired retainer funds to the bank account of
M, Camacho’s firm, an account controlled Jointly by Mr, Camacho and Erwin Genuino. Later,
:. M. Camacho discovered that all or most of these funds had been withdrawn by Erwin Genuino.
- When he questioned this withdrawal, he was eventually told by Mr. Soriano and/or then
' PAGCOR Chairman Genuino that the funds had been withdrawn to be used as a “cash payoff™ to
the mayor of the municipality in which the Entertainment City Manila project is located, in order
to facilitate approval of the use of some plots of land to build roads needed for Mr. Ckada's
casino project. Mr, Camacho claims to have had a falling out with Erwin Genuino and Mr.
Soriano, and to be involved currently in a lawsuit against Erwin Genuino over the dissolution of
their law partnership.”* Etwin Genuino is named as a respondent, along with former PAGCOR
Chairman Genuino, in two sworn corraption referrals (“PAGCOR Referrals”) filed with the
Republic of the Philippines Department of Justice (“DOJ") in the summer of 2011 by the cutrent
PAGCOR Administration,”

Mr. Bombase, also an attorney, Is an officer/director and shareholder of Ophiuchus Real
Properties Corporation (“Ophiuchus™), incorporated in April 2011.% According to its 2011 GIS,
Ophiuchus was 15% owned by SEAA Cormoration (“SEAA").Y SEAA, which was registered
with the Philippine SEC on December 3, 1997, Is, according 1o its 2011 GIS, 100% owned by
members of former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino’s immediate family.*® The Articles of

UM, M. Lazato & Assaciates, “Atuze Corporations in the Phillppines and *Related” COrpomiions". P, 18, [See
Appendix] ‘

“*Interview of M. Camacho, December 13, 2011,

“ In his discussion with FSS, Mr. Camacha referred to the firm only as "Avuze,” not further defined,

“ Although Mr. Camacho, who s in his seventies, falled to recall some detnils of his deatings with Mr. Genuino and
M, Soriano, F8S credits the general acconnt plven by him during the December 13,2011 interview.

% See PAGCOR Referrals, [See Appendix]

% Articles of Incorporation of Ophiuchus, [See Appendix] .
7 G318 of Ophiuchus, 2011, [See Appendix]

8 IS of SEAA, 201 1. [See Appendix)
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Incorporation of Ophiuchus also list Emilio Marcelo as an officer/director and shareholder.”
M. Mareelo is named as a respondent in the PAGCOR Referrals.

Mr. Sorlano is a former PAGCOR consultant, samed by Mr. Camacho as a close business
associate and “bag man” for Mr, Genuino.”® Mr. Soriane is also named as a respondent in the
PAGCOR Referrals.*? As of the latest information filed with the Philippines Securities and
Exchange Commission in 2002, Mt, Soriano was a 20% sharcholder and an officer/director of
Platinum,” identified above as a 60% shareholder in Eagle I1, 1f M. Sotiano still held the same
stake in Platinom when it acquited its share of Eagle I in 2009, then he became an effective
owner of 12% of Eagle  and approximately 7% in Bagle 1,

B, Apparent Evasion of Republic of Philippines Legal Regnirements

As described in the preceding section, Mr, Okada caused various legal entities to be
incorporated in'the Philippines, in order to develop his casino resort project there, over time
- replacing the original incorporating Filipino shareholders with combinations of foreign
shareholders affiliated with ot controlled by him and associates of then-PAGCCOR Chairman
Genuino. As discussed below, there are constitutional and statutory requirements it the
Republic of the Philippines requiring that purchasers of land be Philippines citizens or Filipino-
owned legal entities, and that legal entities conducting business in the Phillppines, with certain
exceptions, be at least 60% Filipino owned,

In 2008, Eagle I purchased varlous tracts of land near Manila Bay totaling approximately
30 hectares at a total price of PHP 13,527,637,941.00 (approximately US 314,953,000.00) for the
development of the project in Entertainment City Manila.”

At F8S’ requeét, Lazaro prepared an analysis and opinion on the validity of Eagle I's
ownership of these properties, in light of the aforementioned provisions of the Philippines
Constitution and applicable statutes.” The analysis included a detailed review of the ownership
and capitalization of Eagle } and associated entities described in the preceding section. The
following is & summary of pertinent findings of the Lazaro analysis,

* Articles of Incarporation of Ophiuchus, [See Appendix]

* Sce PAGCOR Refermis, {See Appendix]

* Interview of M, Camacho, Dec {3, 203 1.

32 See PAGCOR Referrals, [See Appendix]

# articles of Incorporation of Platinum, as amended June 10, 2002. The 2001 Articles of Incorporation Hist four (4)
additional 20% sharcholders, identified as Filipino nationals. Because Platinum has not filed a GIS since 2002, the
curvent ownership and control of Platinum is unknown. [See Appeadix]

*Numbered Transfer Certificates of Title (*TCT") for Eagle | purchase of land tracts in Parafiaque City, Phillppines,
dated August 19, 2008, [Sce Appendix]

% M, M. Lazaro & Asscciates. Memo re “Validity of Eagle I's Ownership of Real Estate Properties™ (“Ownership
Memo"), Jan 2012, [See Appendix] )
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A review of the 2009 Financial Statement of Eagle 1 disclosed that the funds used to
purchase the tand tracts appear to have been advanced by Molly.*

Platinum, the 59.99% owner of Eagle 11, has filed no records with the Philippines
Securities and Exchange Commission indicating that its pald-in capital ever increased beyond the
original PHP 62,500, despite its amended Articles of Incorporation indicating that its authorized
capital stock was Increased from the initial PHP 1,000,000.00 to PHP 24,000,000,00,5 Nor is it
known today what person(s) or entities have controlled Platinum since incorporation In 2001.

The 1987 Constltution of the Philippines requires that only Philippines citizens or
corporations with at least 60% of their capital stock owned by Filipinos ave qualified to acquire
tand in the Philippines.’® The Philippines Foreign Investment Act further requires that for a
corparation to be considered a Philippincs national, at least 60% of its capital stock outstanding
and entitled to vote must be owned and held by citizens of the Philippines.*’

Whenever facts or circumstances create doubt as to whether the ownership of 60% of a
corporation is truly Filipino, Philippines Securities and Exchange Commission case faw has held
that & stringent examination of the true ownership of the voting stock of the subject corporation
and of the true ownership of the voting stock of all successive layers of corporate ownership
shouldal’ie conducted, The application of this stringent standard is known as the “Grandfather
Rule.” '

Serious doubts are therefore raised about the actual Filipino equity of Eagle I, because of
the appearance that Eagle I and Eagle 1l were created purposely to *...citcomvent the
constitutional restriction an foreign ownership of land.”™' Lazaro bases this assertion on its
conclusion that ...Platinum appears to be merely a shell corporation used to satisfy the Filipino
equity requirement,”™? Application of the Grandfuther Rule would therefore be appropriate.

Applying the Grandfather Rule, Lazaro caleulates the true percentage of Filipino versus
foreign equity in Eagle I as illustrated in the following table:®

* thid, p. 2. [See Appendix]

*7 1bid, pp. 5-6. [Sce Appendix]

* Ibid, p. 8. {See Appendix}

5 [bid, pp. 9-10. [See Appendix)
 Ibid, pp, 11+14. [Sec Appendix]
! 1bid, p. 14, [See Appendix]

“2 15id, pp. 14-15. [See Appendix}
S 1bid, p. 15, [See Appendix]
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Total Total

. Filipino Foreign
Shareholder| Direct . Indirect investment | -investment
inEaglel | inEaglel
24%
AruzeUSA | 49%0F | (4094 of 60% total 4%
Eagle ] holdings of Eagle I
in Eagle )
36%
Platinum* . {60% of 60% total 16%
holdings of Eagle i
inEagle )

*As noted above, Platinum has failed to file its annually required GIS with the Philippine SEC
since its inception in 2001. The calculations in the above table prepared by Lazaro assume the
“best case” scenario (for Platinum), i.¢,, that it is a truly 100% Filipino-owned corporation. If
Platinum’s actual Filipino ownership is less than 100%, then the percentage of Filipino
investment in Eagle I would be correspondingly even less than caleulated in the table,

Lazaro concludes that “...the foregoing shareholder structure appears to have beegt
formulated by the parties as a legal scheme to justify the qualification of Eagle I 1o own real
estate properties, The scheme employed...gives Aruze USA, Inc....a convenient vehicle to
Justify its ownership, ..in circumvention of the constitutional restriction on the foreign ownership
of land.™* Lazaro goes on to conelude that the apparent shareholder structuring scheme outlined
above may zlso constitate a violation of Commonwealth Act No. 108, commonly known in the

- Philippines as the “Anti-Dummy Law.”® If convicted of a violation of this law, stockholders of

Platinum and of Aruze USA, Ine. who profited from the scheme would face a sentence of
imprisonment of not fess than five years nor more than fifteen years.

From the fotegoing discussion, there is substantial evidence and credible fegal opinion
indicating that the ownership structure of Eagle 1 and Eagle H may subject Mr. Okada, afong
with his associates and companies, 10 civil as well as criminal sanctions under Philippine law,

* 1bid, p. 16. [See Appendix)
 Tbid, pp. 1617, [Seo Appendix]
“1bid, p. 17, [See Appendix)
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3. Apparent FCPA Violations Regarding Philippine PAGCOR Officials at Wynn
Resort Properties

FSS has reviewed records of the Aruze City Ledger Account, through which Mr, Okada
and Universal charge expenses for lodging, entertainment and other incidentals incurred at Wynn
Resorts facilities against funds deposited into the account by Universal, and available underlying
documentation fiunished by Wynn Resorts management, The table below highlights thirty-six
(36) separate instances, from May, 2008, through June 2011 {(more than & three (3) year period),
when Mr. Okada, his associates and companies made payments exceeding US 110,000, which
directly benefitted senior PAGCOR officials, including two chairmen and their family members.

Name Relationship to Location(s) and Total Charged to
PAGCOR/Phil. | Date(s) of Stay(s) | Aruze City Ledger
Gov't, Account (in US)

Efraim C. Former PAGCOR WM June 6-9 1,870.64

Genuino Chairman (February 2010
2001 to June 30,
2010)
Cristino L, PAGCOR Chairman | WM Sep 22-26 See Suzzanne
Naguiat Jr, (July2,2010 to 2010 Bangsil”
Present)

WLV Nov 15-20 5,380.86
2010

WM June 6-10 3,500.80

2011 -
Dinner (Naguiat Chairman WM Sep 24 2010 1,673.07
Party) {PAGCOR) (Hosted by and
charged to Kazuo
' Okada)

Maria Teresa Wife of PAGCOR WM June 6-10 1,039.31

Socorro Naguiat | Chalrman Cristino 200
L. Naguiat Jr,

Suzzanne Wife of Rogelio WM Sep 22-26 56,523.22
Bangsil® Bangsil, PAGCOR 2010

Jose Migtie} Husband of former | WLV Nov 12-17 4,642.40

¢ Chirman Naguiat did not Identify himself and Mr, Okada's representatives insisted that his stay there be
“Incognite.” Accordingly, the bulk of the charges for the (rip are reflected on the City Ledger Account as
aitributable to “Suzzatne Bangsil,” the wife of Rogelio Bangsil, a senior PAGCOR «official and Chairman Naguiat's
employee, However, interviews, photo identifications and docimentary evidence clenrly establish that Chairman
Naguiat was the “Incognito” guest and the direct beneficlary of these payments,

% tnvestigation hins in fact determined that Chafrman Nagufat was registered as an “Incognito” VIF puest under
Suzzanne Bangsil's reservation, Therefore, this US 50,523.22 was paid for Chairman Nagulat®s benefit,

20

RAPP 055



REPORT
Attorncy ~ Client / Work Product / Privileged and Confidential

“Mike” Arroyo Philippines 2009
President Gloria M.
1. Arroyo (Jan 20 2001
~ June 20 2010)
i Imelda PAGCOR Board WM June 8-10 891.44
Dimaporo Member 2010
Philip Lo PAGCOR Board WLV April 29 1,755.25
Member 2009 —~May 3
2009
i Manuel Roxas | PAGCOR Board | WLV April 2009 25375
- __ Member
WLV April 29 " 1,686.95
2009 ~May 3
2009 ‘
Susan Vargas PAGCOR Board WM June 8-10 480.17
Member 2010 .
Jose Tanjuatco PAGCOR Beard WLV Nov 15«18 2,148.57
Member (July 19 2010 '
2010 to Present)
Rogelio J. B. | Officer in Chargeof | WM Sep 24-26 | 1,149.04
Bangsil PAGCOR Ganing 2010
Department
WM June 6-12 . - 2,955.23
2011
Rodolfo Soriano PAGCOR WM June 3-7 1,186.08
Consultant 2008
WLV Nov 12-17 4,228.00
2009
WM June 7-10 1,104,006
2010
WM Aug 18 2010 368.06
Olivia Soriano | Relative of Rodolfo | WLV May 2008 .975.55
Soriano
Anthony F, Son of Efraim C. WLV Sep. 2008 2,386.26
“Ton” Genulno; Mayor of
Genuino™ Los Bafios (2010 to
Present)
WLV Oct 2008 2,326.49
Rafael Francisco | PAGCOR COCand | WLV Nov {2-17 4,360.16
President 2009 .
WM June 7-11 935.21
2010

* When the “Dates of Stay” in this table were not readily available, the month and year that the charges were
entered in the City Ledger Account are used,
™3ee PAGCOR Referrals (Anthony Genuino is named as a respondent). {See Appendix]

21

RAPP 056



The total in the above table represents charges from the Aruze City Ledger Account that

are readily identifiable as incurred directly by officlals and consultants of PAGCOR,” their
family members and close associates, including Jose Miguel Amoyo, the then-First Gentleman of ,
the Republic of the Philippines, husband of Philippine President Gloria Arroyo. Through a
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: Emelio Marcelio PAGCOR WLV Nov 12-17 1,181.60
Consultant 2009
WM June 7-9 47151
| : 2010
: Carlos Bautista | PAGCOR VP Legal | WM June 6-10 1,049.69
2010
Mario Cornista PAGCOR WM June 7-9 600.02
‘ Consultant 2010
Rene Figueroa | PAGCOR Executive | WM June 7-10 646.76
I VP 2010
o Ernesto PAGCOR Executive | WM June 7-10 79717
H Francisco Comnittee and 2010
; Casino General
g Manager
L Edward King PAGCOR VP WM June 7-10 761.71
i Corporate 2010
B Communications
% Transportation PAGCOR WM Aug 2010 46242
i Delegation :
Jeffrey Opinion | Member of Naguiat | WM Sep 24-26 906,61
Party 2010
! Ed de Guzman | PAGCOR Executive | WM Jun 6-12 3,421.79
Committes, AVP 2011
Slots
Gabriel Guzman | Probable relative of WM Jun 6-12 1,391.71
Ed de Guzman (had 2011
adjoining room) .
(Thadeo) "PAGCOR VP, WM Jun §-10 709.72
Francis P, Licensed Casino 2011
Hernando”' Development Dept.
TOTAL 110,636.36

review of the Aruze City Ledger Account for statement periods March 2008 through November
2011, FSS has calculated that total charges to the account for that periad, attributable to

™ This is the same PAGCOR officlal who denied the FSS request for documents in Decomber 2011, including
copy of the Provisional License Agreement. See footnole 31,

7 Iy order 1o establish the PAGCOR affiliation of some of the individuals Hsted In this chart, various sources were
censulted, including the PAGCOR website, internet news articles and the PAGCOR Referrals,
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PAGCOR officials, employees, consultants, their assaciates and family members, exceed USD
110,000, ’

‘ F8S investigators interviewed members of the Wynn Macau management team, who

1 furnished the following relevant information regarding a visit to that property in September 2010
[ by then and current PAGCOR Chairmian and CEO Cristino L. Naguiat, Jr,, his wife, three

: children, nanny and other PAGCOR officials, whose four-day stay at Wynn Macau was paid for
via the Aruze City Ledger Account: :

B September 20, 2010: Yoshiyuki Shoji of Universal, in an e-mail to Angela Lai of
Wynn Macau, requests reservations for “Rogelio Bangsil (Guest Representative) &
Others. Mr. Shoji requests Encore Sulte or *mote gorgeous room, such as Villa,”
and “the best butler” for unnamed person in group, who is “VIP for Universal” Mr,
Shoji states that guests other than Bangsil should not be registered, that all charges’
should be posted to Universal’s City Ledger,” and that “Mr. Okada would like them
to experience the best accommodations and services at Wynn Macau.”” The
communication makes no reference fo PAGCOR or the government affiliation of the
guests,

B September 20, 2010: In 2n e-maif to Wynn Macau President lan Coughlém and
others, Ms, Lai informs Mr, Coughlan of the rescrvation and that checks of websites
indicate that Mr. Bangsil is in charge of PAGCOR's gaming depariment,”

B September 20, 2010: In an e-mail to Mr, Shoji, Ms, Lai advises that Wynn Macau is
checking on availability of the requested upgrade and that Maceu law requires that all
room ocoupants be registered, and requests that all guest names be firnished in
advance of or at the time of registration.”

B September 22, 2010: In an e-mail to Wynn Macau President lan Coughlan, Wynn
Macau Senior Vice-Prosident ~ Legal Jay M. Schall advises Mr, Coughlan of

™ See City Ledger Account. [See Appendix] _
™ When Mr, Shoji set up the Clty Ledger Account for M, Okada in 2008, he asked whether the customter name tind.
amount paid would be made public, He was advised that such information would not become public. Email
vesponse from Kim Sinatra to Shoji, dated Februgry 8, 2008. [See Appendix]
™ g-mail from V. Sholi to A. Lai, September 20, 2010 [See Appendix]; interview of A, Lai, January 4, 2012,
% E-raail from A. Lai to J. Coughlan, September 20, 2011 [See Appendix}; interview of A, Lui, January 4, 2012;
interview of 1. Coughlan, December 29, 2011. It should be noted that according fo an article in Manitatimes.net,
published February 2, 2012, Rogelio Bangsil has recently besn transferred lo the PAGCOR international marketing
department after a probe that found the govermnment losing PHP 160 million in government sun caslnos to a Mr. Lit,
gee Appendix]

E-mail from A. Lai to Y. Sho]i, September 20, 2010 {See Appendix]; interview of A, Lai, January 4,2012,
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PAGCOR’s 100% government ownership and of Mr. Bangsil's position there, He
writes “Bangsil, the guest of Mr, Okada, is a top five (if not 3) officer,”

B September 22, 2010 (14:00): Wynn Macau sends 1 Rolls Royce and ] Elgrand to the
airport, along with Masato Araki, Special Assistant to Mr, Okada; and Kenichiro
Watanabe, another Universal assoclate, to meet arriving party, who arrived on
Philippine Airline Flight 352 from Manila, They return with Chairman Cristino L,
Naguiat, Rogelio Bangsil and Jeffrey Opinion at 14:45,” Only Mr, Bangsil fumnishes
his name upon registration. Ms. Lai and Wynn Macau VIP Services Manager
Beatrice Yeung thereafter checks PAGCOR website and identifies Chajrman
Naguiat’s name from his picture there.*® Ms. Yeung’s log and ongmng entries refer
to “[IIncognito (Mr. Naguiat, Cristino L.)."%!

" 8 Chainman Naguiat occuples Villa 81, the most expensive accommodation at Wynn
Resorts Macau (sbout 7,000 square feet in size, which then cost about US 6,000 per
day and Is mostly reserved for “high rollers™).

W Scptember 22, 2010: the Wynn Encore log book reflects “Incognito (Mr. Naguiat)
stayed in Villa 81 Master Bedroom 1,7%

M September 23, 2010 (10:00):. Mr. Araki advises Ms, Yeung that Chairman Nagulat
plans to have lunch with Miss Pansy Ho at MGM.®

& September 23, 2010 (14:04): Jay Schali sends an email fo Wynn Macau corporate
security to check Warldcheck, as a rush job, for Cristino L, Naguiat Jr., Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of PAGCORM

7 E-mail from J, Schafl to 1. Coughlan, September 22, 2010 [See Appendix]; Interview of J. Schall, January 3, 2012;
lntewiew of I, Coughlan, December 29, 2011,

Wynn Maeay Manager — Encore Logbook, September 22, 2010, {Ses Appendix]

® fnterviews of Beatrice Young, January 4, 2012 and Febroary 1, 2012; interviews of Angela Lai January 4, 2012
and Pebroary 2, 2012.
 Wyna Macau Manager - Enoote Logbook, September 22, 2010. {See Appendix}
" !bld. [See Appendix} During subsequtent visits, Chairman Naguiat was identifled ag “Nagumt," though he was
identified during his Initial visit as “incognite.” The negative inference to be drawn is an attempt to hide the
payment of extremely costly expenses by a corporation connected with 2 regulated entity, The fact that he had only
recently become chairman may have been a factor in his desire to keep his identity seovet.
 Miss Ho Is the daughter of Hong-Kong and Macau-based businessman Stanley Ho, Though Nevada gaming
regulators found Miss Ho to be a suitable busk\ess partner for MOM Mirage, see

httpffwww . dvid.comibusiness/45462797 himl, New Jersey regulators recommended that she be found unsuitable as
MGM Mirage's joint venture pariner in Macau. See hifp//www.newjerseynewsroom.com/stite/mpme-mirage-

g ’ f00zes- ~averatiantic.oity. endi
Email from Jay Schall to Peter Barnes of Wynn Macau Corporate Secutity, dated September 23, 2010, [See

Appendix] .
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